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Mace Finance Limited

Strategic report
Year ended 31 December 2021

The Mace Group is an international development, consultancy, construction and facilities management company founded on
exceptional peaple, a commitment to service excelience and a deep-rooted entrepreneurial spirit. The Mace Group comprises
Mace Finance Limited and its subsidiaries.

Overview headlines
In 2021 we delivered profitable performance. Key highlights of Mace Finance Limited ("the Company™) and its subsidiaries ("the
Group™) results are:

Group revenue of £1.9bn (2020: £1.7bn).

Profit before taxation of £38.3m (2020 restated: £16.7m}.

Consultancy revenue increased by 7.1% to £366m (2020: £342m).

International activities contributed £485m (2020: £483m) to Group revenue,

Construction contributed £1.5bn (76%) of revenue {2020: £1.2bn - 71%).

£382m (2020: £447m) of construction work was undertaken on schemes where Mace is employed under a construction
management contract. Mace has no contractual arrangement with the supply chain on these schemes. This amount
is not included in our Group revenue.

Net cash position of £127m (2020: £25m).

Cash balances net of overdrafts were £127m at the year-end (2020: £245m).

External borrowing decreased Lo £nil (2020: £216m) as the Group used proceeds from realised development schemes
and surplus aperational cash to deleverage.

Expenditure on research & development amounted to £48m (2020: £35m).

71% of revenue targeted for 2022 was secured by end 2021, and at May 2022 85% of revenue targeted for 2022 was
secured.

The Mace Foundation made donations of £320k (2020: £278Kk) to charitable causes in 2021.

The overall tax charge for 2021 is £7.6m (2020: £4.9m) which is an effective tax rate of 20% (2020 restated: 29%) of
profit on erdinary activities.

At the end of the year the average time taken far the Company to pay invaices was 29 days (2020: 30 days) and 94%
of invoices, including those in dispute, were paid within 60 days (2020: 92%).

The pursuit of a better way is at the heart of everything we do. We know that 1o achieve our ambitious targets we need to continue
to innovate with a focus on service excelience to deliver the highest quality services to our clients.

In Q1 2021, arising from the impact experienced from the COVID-18 pandemic to our markets and the services we offer, we
developed and launched a new strategy for the Group. This new strategy is a purpose led strategy "to redefine the boundaries of
ambition”. This new strateqy supersedes our 2022 Strategy and establishes new target from 2021 to 2026,

Qur new strategy builds on the Mace's existing strengths as a glebal, diverse and resilient business. Our previous 2022 strategy
provided a strang foundation for our growth and success over the last few years. COVID-19 and wider societal and economic
changes impacted our lives and businesses in many ways, and we felt it necessary ta accelerate the launch our new strategy
before 2022.

We are reperling in 2021 against our new 2026 strategic targets.

Underpinning our new strategy are three strategic priorities:

Pursue a sustainable world — Accelerate the built envircnment's response to the climate emergency;
Grow together — Engage, develop and inspire our people, partners and communities; and
Deliver distinetive value — Service exceilence, innavation and industry transformation.
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Key Performance Indicators

We have established new ambitious growth targets for the new 2026 Strategy, and our 2021 performance will be the first year to

measure against these new targets:

Pursue a sustainable world

Corporate carbon reduction
Client carbon reduction
Biodiversity net gain

2026 Target

10% annualty
1 million tonnes
500 hectares

2021

12,276 tonnes
35,165 tonnes
14 hectares

2020

13,884 tonnes

*

*

Grow together

Accident frequency rate (per 100,000 hours worked} 0.04 0.06 0.07
Reduce gender pay gap 10% annually 31.2% 34.7%
Reduce ethnicity pay gap 10% annually 24.2% 24.4%
Employee engagement scare** 85% 86% 86%
Value to society £700m £535.8m £468.5m
Deliver distinctive value

Goaod days at work™” 90 84 84
Client satisfaction score 85% 88% 87%
Profit growth {profit on ordinary activities before taxation)  20% annually 129% -13%
Research and development investment 3.5% of revenue 2.5% 2.0%

*Initiative started in 2021.
**The 2020 staff satisfaction survey was delayed due to the COVID-19 pandemic and performed in February 2021. The next
survey will be completed in September 2022.

The progress made in the year in regard to the target KPls is explored in more detail in the business review below.

Business Review

Mace Finance Limited's consolidated profit before lax on ardinary activities in 2021 was £38.3m (2020 restated: £16.7m). If pre-
tax profit attributable to non-controlling interests is excluded the profit befare tax amounted to £38.0m (2020 restated: £16.5m).
Since it was founded in 1990, Mace has made a profit in each and every year, 2021 being the 31st consecutive year of making
a profit. Group revenue was £1.93bn {2020: £1.73bn).

The Group comprises of four operating divisions, called Engines for Growth. These are Develop, Cansult, Construct and Operate.
These operating divisions are supported by Group & Commercial Services which provide Corporate Governance, Risk and
Assurance, Legal & Commercial Services, Finance, Information Technology, Marketing & Communications, Procurement and
Human Resource expertise.

Develog
Our Develop business manages and delivers regeneration and development projects. From mixed-use schemes' to town centre

regeneration, the Group has delivered several projects aver the last ten years and our current projects, including development
management projects, have a gress development value (GDV) of more than £1.6 billion. These schemes include:

Botley/Oxford: Mace holds a 50% JV interest in this mixed-use development project in West Oxford. The development comprises
two phases: phase 1 reached Practical Completion in 2020 and is now operational while Phase 2 is yet to commence construction.
Phase 1 comprises 261 student rooms let from September 2020, 20 build ta rent ('BTR’) apartments which were let from October
2020, a 123-bed hotel let to Premier Inn which opened in May 2021 and 15 commercial retail units. Phase 1 also includes a new
local community facilities including a library. Phase 2 will comprise 150 residential BTR apartments and 7 commercial retail units,
The Botley development is financed by £68m of external development debt, which is nan-recourse to Mace, and a £86m (2020:
£79m) shareholder loan from Mace. At the year end, following a RICS “red book” valuation of the development project, the
directors have provided a further £10m (2020: £15.5m provision) against the sharehclder loan and accrued interest.

8G1: SG1is a development agreement between Mace Development and Stevenage Borough Coungil for the regeneration of the
town centre. Outline planning was secured in 2020 on the entire scheme which will represent a £500 million GDV? providing 1,860
new homes, shops, restaurants, a health centre, library, primary schaol, sport, leisure and cultural facilities. The development will
be progressed in phases, with phase 1 achieving detailed planning consent in 2020. At the end 2021, no external debt was raised
or secured on this development.

" Mixed-use schemes are a type of urban develcpment that blends residential, commercial, cultural, institutional, or entertainment uses intc ane
space,
* GOV, being gross development value, being an estimate of the market value or the development ance it is complete.
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Greenwich Square: This development is reaching its conciusion, the Group have developed, over two phases, 686 new
residential homes, a new community buildings and retail/leisure amenities. Phase 1 completed in 2016 and phase 2 completed
in 2020. Phase 2 comprises 325 residential units of which 239 are private apariments and 86 are "aflordable” homes which have
been sold to L&Q. Only twelve apartments in phase 2 remained unsold by the year end, two of which remain unsold at the time
of signing. All external debt raised on the development scheme was repaid by 30 September 2020.

Cardiff & Exeter student accommodation: Mace developed a portfolio of 1,359 student roomas in the cities of Cardiff and Exeter
which it sold in February 2021 to a JV of Ares Fund management/Generation Estates for £157.5m. Simultaneous with the sales
to Ares/Generation, the external debt on this portfolio was transferred with the properties, releasing Mace from any future
ohligation under the external debt facilities.

Mace Develop were awarded student accommodation developer of the year 2021 for its developments at Cardiff & Exeter and
Botley/Qxford.

Consult

The Consult core services comprise project and programme delivery management, PMO services and cost consultaney and
commercial management alongside and a range of advisory services, including digita! and data, design and engineering, strategic
advisory, sustainability and net zero carbon solutions. Consult operates across five global hubs, in sectors ranging from large-
scale regeneration and infrastructure, to healthcare, corporate real estate, housing and fuxury hospitality, With a worlawide reach
spanning the UK and Europe, the Americas, the Middle East, Asia Pacific and Sub-Saharan Africa.

Our Consult business grew revenues by 7.1% to £366m (2020: £342m) and headcount grew from 2,616 in 2020 ta 3,496 in
2021.

Qur portfolio spans three core divisions: property and corporate real estate, infrastructure, and international markets. We leverage
the latest innovation, regional experlise and global best practice to continuously improve and advance infrastructure delivery,
advising on critica! publie services and works of cultural importance; driving growth in developing countries and delivering some
of the world's most technically complex and inspiring programmes of work. Our approach draws on decades of hands-on
experience in successfully delivering outcomes-focused projects across the public and private sector.

Within the UK, during 2021, our property business has coniinued to grow across both private and public sectors by securing
some key strategic wins within our defined secters for growth. We set our 2026 growth strategy during 2021 that sees us build
on our existing sectors but also focus growth, notably in healthcare, pharma and life sciences, data centres and global
infrastructure. As part of this we have established a clear focus in supporting our clients with the drive to Net Zero and have
secured commissions across most sectors during 2021.

Work includes delivery partner appointments with the Ministry of Justice, a technical advisar appointment to the Department of
Education and the completion of large-scale and innovative diagnostic facilities, the Rosalind Franklin Laboratory, as part of the
UK Government’s ongoing response to the COVID-18 pandemic. We were also named as a supplier on Crown Commercial
Service’s Construction Professiona! Services framework (RM8165) and Management Consultancy framework Three (RM6187).

Building on our strong UK infrastructure presence, we secured renewed framework exiensions with all Consultancy strategic
infrastructure clients during the period. This includes Natlonai Highways, Network Rail, National Grid, TfL and a commercial
delivery partner role with the UK’s Ministry of Defence. We also secured the commercial partner for Lower Thames Crossing with
JV partner, T&T, and secured new work across the Assaciated British Ports’ UK portfalio. We were successfully appointed as
project management partner by major transport operator, Abellio.

Within our International Consult business, we have grown and diversified our portfolio of sectors, services and geographies. In
August 2021 we acquired a controlling interest in Tenman (TPM) and created a new partnership known as "MaceTPM” and now
have operations in the Philippines, Singapore, Macau and Vietnam. TPM is fully infegrated within Mace’s fast-growing Mace
Consult business and its Asia Pacific hub.

Elsewhere, the Consult business was selected as delivery pariner alongside the UK Government with the Government of Peru
to support the construction of 75 new public schools in Peru. As the Official Program Delivery Management Provider for Expo
2020 Dubai, Mace (alongside JV pariner, Jacobs) completed the delivery of major infrastructure and public realm spaces, the
transformation of a 438-hectare site into the largest event ever held in the Arab world. The Expo 2020 Dubai site comprises of
over 192 pavilions, mixed-use facilities and state-of-the-art innovation and digital technologies. We also secured retail
commissions with major global corporate real estate clients in the US.

Mace’s consultancy business was awarded the 'Sacial Impact of the Year' for its work delivering The Nightingale Hospital at the
ExCel in London, ‘Mega Project of the Year for its work on Expo 2020 Dubai and ‘Global Project Controls Professional of the
Year awards. Mace's diversity networks across Consult continued to make exceptional prograss, driving cross-collaboration and
creating a safe environment for colleagues to speak up.

Construct
The Construct Engine provides services including contracting, construction management, and fit out and specialist services. The
largest quantity of our projects are located in ceniral London but we have operations spanning four European countries.



Mace Finance Limited

Strategic report (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021

Consfruct contributed £1.5bn of revenue in 2021 reflecting 76% of the Group's revenue (2020: £1.2bn - 71%). This reflects
growth in stralegic sectors including commercial offices and major projects. In addition to this, the Construct Cngine continued
with construction management projects throughout the year, the most significant of which being Battersea Power Station, and
the AstraZeneca global headquarters in Cambridge. Overall, the construction value of these construction management projects
was £382m (2020: £447m); this value is not included in our revenues.

Our portfalio spans six core divisions: Data centres & technology, major projects, commercial offices & residential, public sector,
aviation, and interiors. The scope of the Construct Engine also includes our innovative aff-site manufacturing business called
Mace Tech.

During the year a number of large projects were completed, these include One Crown Place, East Village NO8 and 1 Grosvenor
Square.

Over the year we have also progressed several icanic major projects including 40 Leadenhall. This 34-storey building is just
under 1 million square ft making it one of tha largest schemes to ever receive planning permission in the City of London. We have
successfully trialled new innovative MEP technology an this project, as well as using off-site manufacturing to improve productivity
and efficiency.

Paddington Square reached its highest construction point in 2021. This flagship 18-storey building will become London’s new
quarter for work, retail and dining with bright and flexible commercial workspaces, ‘The Exchange’ a 15,000 square ft occupier
club and terrace, as well as four floors of retail and London’s highest rooftop restaurant.

Qur data centre business had a particular focus in 2021 on the CLN 5/6 data centres in Clonee, Ireland for Meta and the AMS
13/14 in the Netherlands for Microsoft. Mace Interiors progressed some iconic new offices for some world leading brands,
including TikTok. Qur aviation business has started building again at Heathrow, with 13 projects committed over the next two
years.

We were successfully appointed to the P23 Framework in partnership with Willmott Dixan allowing us to bid for more projects in
the healthcare sectar diversifying the sectars we work in. We have also continued to win more work in the life sciences sector
with us successfully winning the L & G Campus in Oxford.

The Construct Engine cantinued to be recognised as a leading contractor winning a number of awards in 2021, including
Construction News Contractor of the Year for projects over £500m; and a RIBA London and National award for a project for the
London School of Economics.

Operate
The Operate division's core business offering is facilities management, overseeing a wide range of premises on behalf of clients,

including commercial offices, industrial units, warehousing, research facilities, government buildings, cultural landmarks, schools
and other education facilities, acting as either a managing agent or principal contractor. In support of this, along with delivering
operational support services the division provides strategic consultancy services around the workplace environment and
sustainability agenda.

The Operate business works across a number of sectors including financial services, oil and gas, education, retail,
pharmaceutical, professional services, manufacturing and production. Given the nature of the global frameworks these are not
concentrated within any one jurisdiction and are spread aver a number of blue-Chip clients.

During 2021 the revenue of our facilities management business was £110m (2020: £114m) with headcount decreasing to 830
(2020: 972). This reduction in revenue and head count reflects the impact COVID-19 continues to have on the business.

CcOoVviD-19

Despite COVID-18 continuing to affect the lives of citizens arcund the world, particularly through the mutation of new variants,
the impact on the Mace Group has remained largely limited in 2021 and so far in 2022. The Mace Group, throughout its operations
in all its Engines, has established strong resilience to the threats faced by the virus.

The business continued to operate risk management strategies during 2021 to limit adverse impact fram lockdowns experienced
in the K and elsewhere in the world, These risk management strategies will continue to be depleyed until the threat from COVID-
19 recedes.

War in Ukraine
The situation in Ukraine creates further uncertainty. Risk management of the threats posed by the conflict are actively being taken
by the Group, including the threats of:

« Higher inflation on staff costs and materials;

. Shortage of skilled labour; and

. Material shortages and Interruptions to global supply chains.

It is very likely that there will be delays in the winning of some future work by the Construct Engine and any impending materials
shortages and inflation could delay the completion of some projects which inturn could have an adverse impact on the profitability
of those projects.
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Other matters

Due to foreign exchange fluctuations the Group made a retranstation loss in equity of £2.3m in 2021 (2020 loss of £1.6m). The
overall tax charge for 2021 is £7.6m {2020: £4.9m) which is an effective tax rate of 20% (2020 restated. 29%) of profit on ordinary
activities. This effective tax rate is reconciled to the UK carporation tax rate of 19% in note 12.

The Mace Group supports the prompt payment of suppliers and subcontractors subject to receiving appropriate invoices for
undisputed amounts. The Company continues fo report payment performarice statistics under the Government's Duty to Report
scheme. Qur latest 2021 reporting under the scheme showed that the Campany's average time taken to pay invoices was 29
days and 94% of invoices, including those in dispute, were paid within 60 days.

By the end af 2021, our employee heéadcount had increased to 6,054 (2020: 5,386). This increase reflects the growth in revenue
and activity experienced in the Consult Engine.

Employee engagement scores remain high with the 2021 being 86%. We remain confident that our Engines for Growth plans and
actions to invest in and develop our people will enable us to continue the improvement path towards our new targets for 2026,

The Directors engages the organisation Route2 to calculate the Group’s Value to Society with reference to a Total Capital Impact
calculation. Our contribution to society was quantified as £535.8m in 2021, an increase af 14.4% on 2020.

In 2021 our RIDDOR reportable accident frequency rate marginally improved to 0.06 (0.07 2020) albeit there was a small increase
in the overall number of reportable incidents to 25 (22 in 2020). Our last time to injuries per 100,000 hours warked also marginally
reduced to 0.20 (0.24 in 2020). Taking into consideration the impacts and constraints of COVID-18 throughout 2021 where none
of the RIDDOR incidents related to workplace COVID-19 infections, this is a good result in an unusual year. Again in 2021 we
have avoided any life-threatening incidents but we are not complacent and the Group continues to seek continuous improvement
in our health and safety controls and practice.

Looking to the future
Qur pipeline for 2022 was already 71% secured by the end of 2021 (2021: 77%), with opportunities in both the UK and

International markets, with revenue for the Group budgeted to be £2.15bn for 2022. At the date of signing, forecasted revenue
for 2022 is expected 1o be lower than budget, whilst maintaining broadly the budgeted margin.

Cash flow and financing
The Group’s cash position at the end of December 2021, net of overdraft was £127m (2020: £245m).

The Group's external debt pasition, excluding cverdrafts and lease liabilities, at the end of December 2021 was £nil (2020:
£219m). There were no external debt facilities outstanding on Mace’s development projects and the Corporate Bond issued by
Mace Graup in 2017 was fully repaid by December 2021.

Cash inflows from Group operating activities, before changes in working capital, were £78.2m in the year (2020 restated: £88.3m).
The Group made £123m of net repayments in borrowings in the year {2020: £98m of net new borrowings).

Shareholders’ funds
Shareholders’ funds decreased from £37.1m to £29.3m. This movement arises from:
«  £30.7m from profit after tax for the year;
. (£3.4m) from dividends paid in the year;
e (£34.9m) from the redemption and cancelation of shares;
«  £1.7m from share based payment awards issued;
. {£0.07m) from the disposal of non-centrolling interest;
«  £0.6m from the acquisition of subsidiary;
. (£0.09m) from the remeasurement of the defined benefit obligation; and
. (£2.3m) of currency transiation differences to the exchange reserve in equity.
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Risks and Uncertainties

Our strategy is designed to reduce risk and build a sustainable and profitable business with refiable income streams and
increasing margins. Details of the financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group, together with its exposure ta
material financial risks, are set out in note 3 ta the financial statements. The Board, using analysis of the likelihood of risk occurring

and the business impact of such risk, has determined that the principal business risks, in no particular order, to be as follows:

expectations about the timing, cost, quality or
safety requirements of a project either because
of adverse bidding and contractual
arrangements, or not contralling the project ar
development effectively. During the past two
years this risk has been caaverbaled by he
impact of COVID-19 and Brexit on the Group’s
operations. The viability of our supply chain
and the supply, availability and cost of materials
are matters which are being managed in detail.

breach of contract claims and liquidated
damages from the client and |egal
claims from the supply chain. Loss of
market reputation leading to losing new
and repeat clients. Diversion of
resources (cash and people) te dealing
with legal proceedings rather than
building business.

The husiness continued to operate risk
management strategies during 2021 to
limit adverse impacts from COVID-18
lockdowns experienced in the UK and
elsewhere in the world. These risk
management strategies will continue to
be deployed until the threat from
COVID-19 recedes.

Cost inflation has made some Develop
and Construct schemes challenging,
and uncertainty has made growth
challenging for Operate which is sl
affected by COVID-15.

Delays are being experienced in the
time it takes far projects to go from
initial contract (pre-construction service
agreement) award through to starting
on site. The uncertain post Brexit
economic environment also heightens
the risks of delays in signing up new
work.

Principal risk | Potential business impact | Mitigation
1.Major project delivery failure
Not meeting the contractual, legal or client | Significant financial losses including, | Early identification of issues and proactive

management to resolve. Focus on selective
bidding achieving realistic programmes and
margins, mehilisation, desigh control, commercial
terms and contract management, supply chain
management, quality of delivery and service
excellence and sharing of best practice
(knowledge management including lessons
learnt). Since 2020, we have embedded a Service
Excellence and Quality process for all projects
based on gateway reviews, to identify issues far
resolution at the earliest possible juncture, which
we have continued to employ during the reporting
period. Effective engagement with
clients/employers has been essential to ensure
the business continues to mitigate the impact of
delays to the delivery of projects and cost
overruns due to effects from COVID-19 and
Brexit.

Risk management of the threats posed by
COVID-19 and Brexit on the Group's operations
are actively being taken by the Group, including
the threats of:

- Shortage of skilled labour through our
supply chain partners; and

- Material shortages and interruptions to
global supply chains, and

- Higher inflation on staff costs and our
supply chain where raw material and
energy prices have increased.

2. Major supplier failure

The collapse of one of our supply chain
partners that has a significant role in the
successful delivery of our projects. During the
past two years this risk has been exacerbated
by the impacts of COVID-19 and Brexit. Our
supply chain has additionally hagd to adapt to
the adverse cash flow impacts from the
implementation by UK HM Treasury in March
2021 of the Reverse Charge regime for VAT,

Project disruption, potential additional
costs through delivery delays, and
reputational damage. Current inflation
experienced in 2021 and H1 2022 on
supply chain materials will make the
impact af this risk higher.

Actively managing relationships with our supply
chain, ensuring appropriate levels of due
diligence and checks to their financial strength.
Ensuring good breadth of supply chain partners to
centrol valumes of work. Eary identification of
problems  and robust  knowledge  and
understanding of contract position. Enhanced
supply chain analysis and more regular internal
reparting of concems has been implemented
since March 2021, due to COVID-19, and
continues as Business as Usual in order to
identify and act upen potential concems with our
supply chain.

3. Health and safety issues

The occurence of major heallh and safety
incidents - including fatalities — on projects.

Project disruption, significant fines and
reputational damage. Potential custodial
sentences for senior employees. Impact
on mental health of empleyees who
witness incidents.

High standards of health, safety and wellbeing are
embedded in everything we do. it is a central part
of cur culture, and one of our four key values
is “Safety first — going home safe and well”.
Fostering a culture where health and safety
remains a priority, Focus on health and safety
training, the role of supervisors, best praciice,
knowledge sharing and working with our suppliers
to embed Mace standards. The implementation of
new procedures to tackle evolving risks on site.
Mental health training and support for employees.
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Principle risk

| Potential business impact

| Mitigation

4. Failure to win the right work

Inability to win work either by negotiation or by
competitive tender.

Reduced revenue and profit. Less work
generally could lead to poor siaff
utilisation, redundancies andfor staff
feavirtg. Failure to secure good quality
work  could lead to employee
demativation as well as delivery issues.

Long term business development planning.
Senior management review of bidding processes,
cost budgeting and programme estimation to
ensure Mace are realistically campetitive and that
Mace price complex projects and programmes for
the risk involved. Seeking to move into new
sectars andlar geographies to  expand
opportunities to win new work, Investment in
innovation and build upon mature relationships
ang genuine partnerships with our clients and
suppliers.

5. Retention and attraction of employee:

Significant challenges in both attracting and
recruiting the right people and retaining our
peaple to deliver projects for our clients or to
support Mace's comarate activity.

Inability to deliver on our promises o our
clients. lLass of skills, expertise or
corporate knowledge when employees
leave.

Competitive salaries and fair grading structures,
ncantivisation arrangemants and open promation
opportunities  together  with  a  firstclass
development and Ieaming programme for
employees. Development of an emplayee value
praposition. Increased focus an gender, ethnicity,
inclusion and diversity.

6.Market fluctuations including the effects of the materials inflation

Macroeconomic and industry sector changes
affect confidence and/or investment levels,
reducing the pipeline of available work and the
pausing or cancellation of new or current
assignments. Furthermore, cost inflation driven
by excess demand and shortages in the supply
of skilled labour and materials, and additionally
by the impact of the ecanomic sanctions an
Russia.

Reduced revenue and profits. Possible
reductions in staff headcount and other
costs. The impacts of COVID-19 have
heightened this risk as a result of
constraints i1 supply chain  and
inflationary pressures.

Diversification into new sectors, markets and
major programmes, together with the ability to
adjust the workforce level and costs if revenue
decreases. Innavate to became a contractar of
choice during a changing market. New contracts
will reflect latest supply chain inflation and
contracts going forward are likely to include
inflation protection for the Company. Active
management of our materials logistics and supply
chain management.

7. Cyber security incident or IT system failure plus data misusefloss

Major business disruption caused by a cyber
security incident, IT failure or breach of the data
protection/GDPR regime.

Major impact on the ability to effectively
work for days or even weeks. Disruption
to prejects or clients. Significant fines or
failure to comply with relevant
legisiation.

Move away from legacy systems to cloud
technology, ensuring appropriate patches and
revisions are in place together with an effective
cyher security and Mace-wide data protection
regime. Security screening for alt employees and
enhanced checks for thase operating in secure
client environments. Maintain  [S027001
Infarmation Management accreditation.

8. Environmental damage

Major environmental damage as a result of a
Mace project.

Significant financial penalties, combined
with reputational damage, which could
affect our future ability to win wark.

Responsible business strategy that includes best
practice environmental practices and monitoring.
The assurance of our projects to ensure they are
meeting Mace standards.

9. Regulatory or statutory non-compliance

Action taken against the business for failing to
put in place effective arrangements to mitigate
risk of breaches of legislation/regulation e.g.
Modern Slavery Act, Bribery Act, corparate
criminal offence or retrospective changes to
legislation/regulations €.g. Building Safety.

Custodial  sentences  for  senior
employees. Reputational  damage.
Being prohibited from hidding on certain
pieces of work. Significant financial
penalties to the business,

Compliance training for all employees on existing
and upcoming issues, rigorous policies and a
clear discipiinary process for breach of the Code
of Ethics of the business. Herizon scanning to
logk ahead for legislative and regulatory change,
Top-down commitment to a culture of ethical
behaviour demonstrated in promotion of, and
adherence to carporate compliance policies.

10. Major client failure

The fallure of one of our dlients that we have a
current project with.

Project(s) disruption, potential loss of
secured income, potential inability to
cash flow the supply chain on the
project.

Early identification and reporting of problems and
rabust knowledge and understanding of contract
position. Ensuring we have a diverse client
Portfalio.

11. Inadequate insurance, financial liquidity and funding

Inability to secure adequate insurance, raise
funding and meet operational liquidity needs.

Insurance coverage could impact the
type and quantity of business we are
able to undertake. Funding and liquidity
could impact the ability of the Group to
meet its commitments.

Thoreugh and prolonged procurement exercises
to abtain insurance coverage. Enhanced controls
iri the business should lead to lower levels of
daims. The procurement af new 3 year committed
liguidity facilites in January 2022 in order to
provide liquidity credit lines. Optimise the
accessibility of cash with the impiementation of a
new global cash management platfarm during
2022. The realisation of Mace's equity investment
held with the Botley joint venture.
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12. Business model disruption/inefficiency caused by a failure to innovate and investment in technology
Failure to keep ahead of our competitors in | Failure o win work and failure to be | Allow for the identification and development of

terms  of  innovaticn and  operational | competitive. innovative concepts and initiatives in order tc
effectiveness and failure t¢ meet the needs of remain operational efficient and competitive, in
the market, resulting in the business being line with the 2026 Business Strategy.
uncompetitive.

13. Fraud

A fraud by an employee, JV partner, supplieror | Financial misstatement of actuals and/or | Financial control, particulady segregation of
client which results in financial loss for the | of farecasts which result in a loss of | dutiesin being applied to key financial processes,

business. value andfor breach of lenders | including banking processes. Regular
covenants. management review of management accounts.

14. Poor internal governance or non-compliance
Poaor decision making or a tack of compliance | Failure to make sensible and timely | Gevernance structure includes delegations to
of covenants, rules, regulations, contract | decisions andfor faillure to be compliant. | committees and individual roles.

conditions and/or laws.

15. New pandemic
Major business disruption caused by a new | Major impact on cur ability to serve our | New operational ways of working, including social
pandemic affecting the ability of cur employees | clients, causing delay, and financial | distancing have been incorporated into our

to undertake their work for a period of time, exposure to contract losses and claims | operational practices. The use of digital tools
from clients and suppliers due to the | such as Zoom and Teams have proven to be
foreseeable nature of a pandemic. effective means to continue to collaborate and

communicate at work.

Post balance sheet events

Share transactions
After the year end, the following share based transactions have occurred:

. 50,000 Ordinary shares were purchased by the Company and cancelled;

. 50,000 Ordinary shares (part-paid) were allotted to an Executive;

. 600,000 Treasury shares were cancelled by the Company; and

. Restrictions were lifted on 100,000 Ordinary shares which in a previous period had been awarded to an Executive.

Procurement of new committed liquidity facilities
On 28 January 2022 Mace Finance Limited procured two new 3 year committed liquidity facilities. These faciliies are
Environmental Social and Governance {ESG) linked facilities and incentivise the Group to further reduce its use of carbon,
increase its use of renewable energy and improve its safety performance. The two facilities are:

+«  £10m unsecured revolving credit facility (RCF) from BBVA,; and

«  £50m unsecured Export Development Guarantee {(EDG) loan facility provided by JP Morgan and with the support

from the UK Export Finance.

Both facilities are guaranteed by the Company and the material subsidiaries of the Company.

Alignment of staff employment to Engine
We have wanted to align the employment of our people to the division they work for. During 2021, we ensured each Engine of
Growth (Division of Mace) has a top legal entity:

+  Mace Develop Limited;

- Mace Caonsult Limited;

. Mace Construct Limited;

+  Mace Operate Limited.

On 1 April 2022, reflecting the Engine that our people work for, we moved the employment of mare than 3,500 of our people from
the Company to the top company of their respective engines being either Mace Develop Limited, Mace Consult Limited or Mace
Construct Limited, all of which are subsidiaries of the Company. We have redeployed staff in Mace Develop Limited to Mace
Consult Limited and Mace Construct Limited.

Disposal of subsidiary
On 15 August 2022, the Group disposed of Mace Macro Technical Services LLC for consideration of £0.8m resulting in a gain

on disposal of £0.6m,

War in Ukraine

Mace has assessed whether the situation in the Ukraine will have an effect on the business and has specifically looked at the
risks and uncertainties facing the business, Given the nature of the business and its geographical location and custamer base,
the impact is not expected to be material or significant.

Appointment of interim Chief Financial Officer
Richard Bienfait, Mace's Chief Financial Officer, resigned in August 2022 and stepped down from his role with immediate effect.
Richard left Mace to pursue other opportunities.

A search for a permanent CFO is being undertaken.
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Post balance sheet events (continued)

Termination of construction project

in February 2022, a cantract for an overseas construction project was cancelled by the client through a termination for
convenience. This terminalion occurred in February 2022 and is a non-adjusting post balance sheet event under IAS10, The
termination has however resulted in the local entity, Mace International Construction (Belgiurm) BV, no lonhger being considered
a going concern under 1AS1 because it is no longer actively trading. This does above not have a material effect on the Group's
financial statements overall and does not therefore impact the going concern status of the Group overall. The range of potential
outcomes from the termination and ongoing negotiations is large and uncertain $o it is not currently possible to estimate them
accurately for disclosure here.

Section 172 Companies Act 2006
The directors have had regard to the matiers set out in section 172{1)}{a) to (F) when performing their duty under section 172 of
the Companies Act 2006.

Mace

The Directors have met formally as an Executive Board on a guarterly basis this past year and less formally at the Directors “Start
of the Week” meeting. The Directors are careful ta ensure that in their decision-making pracess they manage both the
expectations of the shareholders (the majority being both Directors and Shareholders in Mace Finance Limited) and the
expectations of other stakeholders.

To support this, our decision-making process is guided by our Governance Structure contained in the Corporate Governance
section of the report. Itis a transparent, informative and inclusive process with recommendations being made by the sub-Boards
through to the Main Executive Board.

The Group launched the new 2026 Business Strategy in early 2021. The strategy outlines our new drive to be a purpose-led
business and sets out exactly how it will help Mace emerge over the next five years as an even bolder, stronger, and more
resilient company. This new strategy reflects our new purpose to - redefine the boundaries of ambition - it shows the world that
we are hold, confident, and focused, ready to lead from the front and take on riew challenges - driving impravements and change
for people, economies, and societies.

The Board has focused their decision making on three key priorities:

Pursue a Sustainable World Grow Together
Accelerate the built environment's response to the climate Engage, develop and inspire our people, clients, partners
emergency and communities

Deliver Distinct Value
Service excellence, innovatian and industry transformation

Each of those priorities and associated targets have been agreed to ensure that we are meeting the needs of our stakeholders
and taking account of our how our activities impact them. This is reflected in our focus on being a responsible business, where
we measure our performance based on the wellbeing of our people, our impact an the environment and how effectively we
generaled social value far the communities and regions we work in.

These purpose and priorities were developed in partnership with Mace’s people through direct engagement and going forward
will provide a clear framework through which we engage with all of Mace's stakehalders — fram our people to our supply chain,
clients and beyond.

Stakeholder interests and key Board decisions

2021 was a successful year despite the ongoing impact of COVID-19 and other unique threats and opportunities. The Board
continues to see the importance of operating under a governance framework which does mare ta both better protect and enable
organisational effectiveness and decision making so that we avoid duplication of work, reduce cost, and all our people can
become an unstoppable force for goad. To this end an external consultant was engaged on a fulltime basis throughout 2021 to
review and advise on developing and improving the current programme. This resuited in a revised framework which was launched
in the iast quarter of 2021 and implemented from January 2022. The Board has effectively cansidered the impact of decisian-
making on key stakeholder groups in the daily management of the business and long-term strategic vision setting.

Our processes for decision making demonstrates our successful application of Section 172 Companies Act 2006. From the initial
assessments and the decision making by the Board in March 2021, and at subsequent points in the year, the Board directly took
decisions addressing the needs of various stakeholders.

In discharging its Section 172 duties, the Board has adopted a strategic approach to stakeholder engagement. While the Board
has overall responsibility for managing refationships with alt our stakeholders, it delegates some of the practical responsibilities
for engaging with stakehalders to the divisional CEQ's and their teams in order to provide a more hands on approach.
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Following are some examples of Stakeholder engagement undertaken by the Group:

Our engagement with Employees:

The results were:

Our ambition at Mace is to ensure that we are always in close dialogue with
our colleagues, and that our approach to internal communication is always
led by openness and transparency.

Mace continued its stance of being as transparent and open as possible with
our colleagues throughout 2021, This included:

- Embedding a number of new communication channels and tools

o Digital collaboration channels, including Teams and Yammer

o A regular drumbeat of wellbeing content to mitigate the impact of
remote working and the mental health challenges associated with
COVID-19

o Kegular video updates from the CEQ

o Quarterly all staff briefing sessions with Engine CEOs

o A series of more than 100 internal virtual events in different formats

- Carrying out an extensive process to embed Mace's new business
strategy, purpose and priorities.

- Direct/impacted people communications, managing the impact of
several decisions that were made during the year to directly impacted
calleagues.

- In 2021 we continued with a regular ‘pulse’ survey of our employees ta
measure their general engagement and wellbeing.

- Virtual mid-year and end of year communications sessions delivered
live acrass the globe to the majority of our people.

- Following the decision taken in Q4 2020 to award a limited number of
honuses for 2020 these were paid in March 2021 and in addition a
number of incremental salary awards were also made.

- The Board also recognised the competitive pressures in the work place
and in response placed considerable focus on recruitment and
retainment of staff throughout the year.

- Inthe UK, we introduced a new ‘best in practice’ personal coniract for
alt colleagues, which we embedded through a voluntary programme.
This included the abolition of Mace’s probation period and a number of
other changes.

The outcome of these engagement approaches
resulted in:

A congistently high level of colleague
engagement and satisfaction, with our 2021
colleague engagement and wellbeing survey
showing that 86% of our colleagues are
engaged.

Maintaining an exceptional standard of

operational resilience to the impact of
COVID-19 continued to have on our
husiness.

A successful transition to majority remote
working, with minimal impact on the
productivity and output of teams across the
business.

The acceptance of Mace's revised UK
personal contract by the vast majority of all
UK colleagues within a three-menth window,

Qur engagement with Customers:

The results were:

Mace works hard to ensure that we are consistently engaging with all of our
customers, both on an operational level and a corporate one; sharing best
practice and knowledge with our clients and always working to ensure that
our relationships are open and collaborative.

As with our people, we continued the initiatives taken during COVID-19 an
in particular enhancing our existing approach with our customers. This
included:

- Embedding a ‘collaboration firsl' approach to managing any contractual
risks and impacts associated with the continued difficult operational
environment, minimising any resulting contractual or legal chailenges.

- Delivery of a series of COVID-19 insight papers designed to engage
and support our customers and clients and help to shape their response
ta the pandemic.

- Regular customers surveys with our strategic clients to ensure that our
service delivery remained consistently exceptional across the year.

- The measurement of how our strategic and key clients and others are
accessing Mace's resources through our website.

The promation of effective customer relationship management (CRM)
across the arganisation, using digital tools and careful planning to
ensure that we're managing our client relationships successfully.

Continuing to deliver a high quality, safe and
responsible service to our clients across
each of Mace's four engines.

Reviews by the board of each customer
survey carried out across Mace ehcourages
the sharing of best practice and a prompt
address for any clear issues or concerns.

A genuinely collaborative and open approach
to managing the operational risks we
collectively faced throughout COVID-19,
ensuring that we were able to keep our
peaple, our supply chain and our clients safe
and well.

Qur client and customer base remained
consistently  engaged and  informed
throughout 2021, resulting in significant
repeat business orders.
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QOur engagement with the Supply Chain:

The results were:

As one of the world's largest and most diverse management and
construction companies, Mace aims to be a leader of best practice and a
champion in its industry.

A central facus point for the Mace Group, is providing supply chain solutions
and managing risk associated with the procurement of Contractors /
Consultants f Suppliers.

This included:

- Mace took a proactive leadership role in shaping the industry’s
response to COVID-19 through the UK's Construction Leadership
Council, including managing the significant impact of COVID-18 on
materials supply in the UK which continued throughout 2021.

- The infroduction of regular supply chain briefings delivered virtually to
Mace's strategic supply chain to ensure that they were informed and
engaged with our response 1o the market challenges they faced; and
had the opportunity to feedback to Mace about how we operate,

- Sharing alt information received from Build/UK/BEIS with the Supply
Chain,

- Procurement Director was personally available to assist with any issues
the supply chain had with regard to material availability and then wark
ta unblock the with the manufacturers.

- Adopting a ‘collaboration first' approach to managing any contractual
risks and impacts associated with 2021's difficuit operational
environment, minimising any resulting contractual or legal challenges.

- A steady drumbeat of breader supply chain engagement via email on a
wide array of issues, including the impact of Brexit changes and
materials challenges.

- Detailed support to our project teams to develop a comprehensive and
detailed understanding of how our supply chain was operating,
including labour levels, materials sources and productivity across our
sites {o manage any delivery challenges.

- Throughout the year there was a canstant drive to ¢ollect cash from
clients and manage down debtors and accrued incame, while ensuring
we centinued to pay promptly our suppliers.

A consistently high standard of delivery
across our supply chain of services directly
to Mace and to our clients.

A hugely resilient and effective response to
the challenges of COVID-19, ensuring that
Mace was able to keep our people and our
supply chain safe and then return to wark as
productively as possible.

- Supporting our partners through
numerous other challenges, including
changes in regulatiorn.

Better engagement and buy in from the
supply chain allawing us to work together to
deliver through the pandemic.

Assisted the supply chain navigate all
options on offered to them.

Provided the supply chain with complete
visibility and access to the Procurement
Director and the Procurement team.

Evidenced our commitment to our supply
chain particularly during COVID-19 and
supply chain issues.

Achieved a graat rapport and respect from
the supply chain through the assistance
provided and the solutions defivered.

Prompt payment helped support our supply
chain i a financially unstable period.

Our engagement with Financial Institutions:

The results were:

Transparency with investors is an important factor in our ongoing
relationships and we share on a regular basis our gperationa! and financial
performance as well as the threats and opportunities which could affect our
business, the transparency continued throughout 2021. This included:

- The CFO held individual and group engagement sessions with banks
and financial institutions, suréety providers, credit insurers, insurers, and
key clients when requested and these engagement sessions covered a
range of financially related matters including past and praspective
performance.

- The CFO on a six-monthly basis meets with these Stakeholders to
pravide a financial update.

- Adhering to bond covenant requirements,

- Presentation of annual budgels and strategic plans

The highly effective management of Mace's
financial resilience throughout 2021,
including responding to market changes
following the impact of COVID-19.

Financial stakeholders gained a much better
understanding  of the financial and
operational performance of the business.

covenant  compliance

Ongoing was

achieved.
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Our engagement with local communities

What were the results:

As contractors and consultants, the work we do has a dircet impact on
hundreds of thousands of people across the globe each year, and we are
committed to ensuring that we engage closely with those communities.

To ensure we are communicating effectively and supporting our local
communities we:

- Operate an established team of community engagement managers,
each of whom take responsibility for a number of different Mace
projects.

- Direct engagement and communication with local residents abaut
major disruption that might be caused by the construction works we
are delivering on behalf of our clients.

- Work closely with local community organizations and our clients to
identify opportunities to use local labour on our projects.

- Build a pipeline of young apprentices and graduates across our
business that are drawn from a diverse range of communities.

- Provide each Mace team member with a volunteering day each year,
and proactively identify opportunities for them to support good local
causes across the globe.

- Many of our projects also provide ad-hoc support and engagement
with their local communities, including school visits.

The suucessful maintenance of good
relationships with the communities around
our major projects; ensuring that we are
working effectively with them to minimize
disruption.

Effective mitigation of the risk of disruption to
our projects and programmes that could be
generated  through  local  community
campaigning or challenge.

Paositive feedback from clients who are
pleased with how we are engaging with the
local communities surrounding their projects.

Supporting the use of local labour on our
projects and site in the UK.

We were able to ensure that our net zero
carbon strategy and 2021-2026 Pursue a
Sustainable World business priority/KPls are
aligned with emerging policy/market changes
and are representative of industry-leading
commitments.

Our engagement with Government and Industry stakeholders.

What were the results:

As a responsible business and a leading private UK company, Mace is
committed to working with our peers and our government stakeholders to
imprave our entire industry.

To communicate and engage with our peers and government, we:

- Take an active role in trade associations and senior industry leadership
bodies such as the Construction Leadership Council and Build UK,

- Take an active rale in engaging with local, regional and national
Government, including warking directly on behalf of central
govemment departments and local autherities in the UK and beyond.

- Support and play a leadership role for non-governmental regional
business groups, such as the Northern Powerhouse Partnership,
l.ondon First and others.

- Take part in cross-sector warking groups and activity.

A detailed understanding of the issues and
threats facing our sector, peers, clients and
suppliers that was able to directly inform
board decision making.

The maintenance of effective relationships
with Government, regulatory bodies and
other key organisations thal enables us to
share knowledge and improve best practice
across our industry,

Maintaining a high-quality reputation
amangst our public sector partners that
ensures we are able to keep retaining and
winning new work and clients.

Effective horizon scanning through industry
graups of the issues and risks that are likely
to affect our business, and confidence that
those groups are working on our behalf to
ensure our interests are represented.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

P e (oA

Mark Reynol

Chief Executive Officer
22 September 2022
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The Group being subject to The Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018, has applied for year ended 31
December 2021, the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for Large Private Companies (the “Principles”) as an appropriate
framewark when making a disclosure about the Mace Group’s corporate governance arrangements.

Following the launch of the Group’s exciting growth plans in January 2021 and detailed in the 2026 business strategy the Mace
Executive Board ("MEB"), over the course of the year, placed considerable resource to further develop its corporate governance.
To this end work was undertaken to review the current corporate gevernance framework to check suitability against the 2026
plans and to identify any areas that could be further clarified or simplified as the business readied itself far 2022, An external
consultant was engaged on a fulltime basis to review and advise on developing and improving the current programme. The resuit
of this work was to achieve a govemnance framework which will ensure our gavernance programme continues to mature and
support our 2026 Business Stralegy. A focus of the MEB throughout 2022 will be on embedding the framework and ensuring we
have a well-tuned governance programime.

Purposea and leadership

Our Purpose: The new 2026 Business Strategy launched in 2021 outlines our ambitious plans for the next five years as - a
purpose-led business - that is committed to being diverse and inclusive, and 1o leaving a pasitive impact on people and
communities globally.

This new strategy reflects our new purpose 1o - redefine the boundaries of ambition - it shows the world that we are bald,
confident and focused, ready to lead from the front and take on new challenges - driving improvements and change for people,
economies and Societies.

The MEB recognises the key role Mace will play in helping the world adapt 1o the rapid and transformative changes happening
right now and understands how important our culture and the business engines are key 10 that rofe and the need for the engines
to operate under a governance framework which does more to both better protect (manage risk) and enahble organisational
effectiveness and decision making (driving value and margin through performance) so that we avaid duplication of work, reduce
cost, and all our people can become an unstoppable force for good.

v

Purpoze-led Our culture and Engines Market focus
priotities
Our values and behaviours define our
. CREATING A
cylture and our business e AND
RESILIENT WORLD
... Durvalves
SHAPING CITIES
oL ruirecE: e H .w-mn :mc
TO REGEFINE > H THHIVINY
THE BOUNDARIES H COMNKINITIES
OF AMB{TION
REALISING
CUR CHENTS
AMBITIONS BEVOND
DELVERY
Bur Engines are the focus for
our growth

Our values: safety first, client focus, create opportunity, integrity — permeate through everything we do. Together with our clear
vision and mission, our values guide our behaviours and foster a culture of innovaticn and service excellence. These have helped
us forge cooperative lang-term partnerships and relationships with clients and suppliers that are increasingly focused on great
mutual cutcomes rather than transaclional rewarding arrangements.

Being a Responsible Business continued to be a key focus area for the leadership in 2021 and the MEB’s commitment to this
permeates throughout the business.

In support, the MEB c¢ontinued its focus on the implementation of the Code of Ethics and the six-monthly certification requirement
whereby employees are required to confirm their adherence to the Code and underlying policies. In addition to this a new Code
of Conduct was roffed cut to our suppliersisubcontractors which clearly sets aut the behaviours expecled by Mace of all its
suppliers/subcontraciors in the conducting business. Safecall continued as our external whistleblowing service provider,

Qur behavioural framewark Behaviaurs for Success, which includes Act Inclusively which focuses an treating people with respect,
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in a fair and consistent manner was included in the employee appraisal programme and provided a framework for employees to
conduct a self-assessment and identify those areas which required further development. Gontinued focus was placed on the
developing and implementing of a culture which seeks to embrace diversity and incluston.

In 2021 Mace met the carbon reduction pathway target (to reduce corporate carbon emissions by 10% per year vs our 2020
baseline) and continues to offset any residual emissions through procurement of Gold Standard offsets with Carbon Footprint
Limited.

The Board is firmly committed to the principles of tax transparency and the implementation of measures globally to prevent the
facilitation of tax evasion. As part of our increased focus on governance, procedures and a programme of improvement to align
with the annual Senier Accounting Officer (SAQ) certification, a clean SAQ certificate was issued during the year. Mace has been
a Fair Tax Mark accredited business since November 2021. This is the gold standard of responsible tax conduct, demonstrating
aur ceammitment to responsible tax conduct and tax transparency.

As a global business operating within four distinct industry sectors: developments consultancy, construction, and facilities
management, our exposure to risk is mitigated as a result of the strong diversification of our portfolic. Qur Risk and Audit
Committee, has a delegated autharity of the MEB and provides assurance that the business is fulfilling its corporate governance
duties. Due the confinued impact of COVID-19 lockdowns and travel restrictions in 2021, our internal Compliance & Audit team
ran a restricted programme of internal audits. In total 71 internal audits were undertaken equating to 71 audit days. The External
management system certification ran across 7 1SO standards, 27 assessments undertaken across 17 Mace locations totalling 77
audit days.

To support the Board's target to achieve a workforce which reflects society we have a Diversity and Inclusion Steering Committee
(DISC) who are responsible for driving positive change. This is chaired by our Inclusion Manager and members of the committee
are drawn from acrass the business to ensure we consider a variety of perspectives.

Mace's continued to embed the Diversity and Inclusion Strategy setting targets around recruitment, a reduction in the gender pay
gap and other measures to drive forward this agenda at Mace. These targets were then reviewed and refreshed in the 2026
Business Strategy, with an ambitious target set to reduce our gender pay gap and ethnicity pay gap by 10% year on year to 2026.
Some improvements have been made in relation to the ethnicity pay gap and work continues to ensure we meet our 2026 targets
on gender and ethnicity pay gaps.

Purpose and leadership:
Continued response to COVID-19

The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic had some continued impact, primarily for the Operate engine. With an earlier than planned
launch of the 2026 Business Strategy in January 2021 the leadership set out its strategy to build on Mace's existing strengths
and ensure its resilient for the future. The Leadership continued throughout 2021 to respond quickly to the challenges faced and
have prioritised protecting the business and stakeholders.

War in Ukraine

The military conflict in the Ukraine resulted in variaus stakeholders seeking clarification of any potential risk for the Company in
respect of the countries involved and any supply chain risks. The business was able to identify and respond quickly following
the actions taken by the leadership firstly during COVID-19 to protect the supply chain and secondly throughout 2021 it had taken
the decision to liquidate a number of entities in Eastern Europe which includad Belarus.

Board composition

The Board comprises of nine statutory directors. Stephen Pycroft resigned from the role of Chairman on 31 December 2021. He
continues to hold the role of Statutory Director of Mace Finance Limited and attends the quarterly meetings of the MEB. Mark
Castle was appointed as a Director on 1 Aprif 2022. Richard Bienfait, Mace's Chief Financial Officer, resigned on 31 August 2022
and stepped down from his role with immediate effect.

The MEB comprises of the executive directors, the independent non-executive director and senior management. The MEB
together represent the knowledge, experience and expertise required ta run an organisation as large and diverse as the Mace
Group. Membership of the Board and the MEB s listed below.

Both the Board and MEB recognise there is still work to be done to improve the diversity of the Board and is committed to
increasing diversity amongst the senior leadership team which will also reflect the Company’s diversity and inclusion targets.
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Board

Mark Reynoids — Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
Jonathan Mark Helmes - Deputy Chairman

Richard Bienfait - Chief Financial Officer (resigned 31 August 2022)
Stephen Jeffery - Chief Technical Officer

Gareth Lewis - CEQ Construct

Jason Millett - CEQ Consult

Lee Penlington - Commercial Director

Mandy Willis - Director of Strategy

Mark Castle — Director {resigned 1 Aprit 2021)

Mark Castle — Non-Executive Director (appointed 1 April 2022)
Stephen Pycroft - Director

MEB
Mark Reynolds - Chairman

Michelle Barkess

Richard Bienfait (resigned 31 August 2022)
Amanda Baldwin

Jonathan Mark Holmes

Andrew Jackson

Stephen Jeffery

Gareth Lewis

Jason Millett

Carolyn Pate

Lee Penlington

Mandy Willis

Members of the MEB who are not statutory directors are: Micheile Barkess (Chief Information Officer), Amanda Baldwin (Chief
People Officer), Andrew Jackson {Chief Operating Executive) and Carolyn Pate (Company Secretary).

Director responsibilities
The MEB met quarterly in 2021 and in addition met less formally during the weekly operational meetings.

The Mace business comprises four aperating divisions called Engines for Growth. These are Develop, Consult, Construct and
Qperate, each has its own CEQO who (s responsitile for delivering the business plan for their respective division. £ach engine has
its own Beard chaired by the respective divisional CEQ or the Group CEQ. These sub-boards meet on a quarterly basis and sit
under the autharity of the MEB. These operating divisions are supported by Grotp & Commercial Services which provide
Corporate Governance, Risk and Assurance, Legal & Commercial Services, Finance, Information Technology, Marketing &
Communications, Procurement and Human Resource expertise.

During the past year the directors have sought to carry their duties as required under 5172 of the Companies Act 2006 (the Act)
as referred to in the Strategic Report.

Underpinning our new strategy are three strategic priorities:

In 2021 the focus of the Board was in embedding the new three strategic priorities which underpin the new2026 Business Strategy.
Focusing on these three priorities helped the Company better focus efforts, strategies and action pians to meet the plan.

For each priority, KPI's were agreed and progress measured at each quarterly meeting. The standing items on the main Board
agenda during the past year included health, safety & wellbeing, financial performance, operations update, opportunities & risk
report and respansible business.

Opportunity and risk

As part of the priority to achieve stable and sustainable growth the Board set a target to achieve a robust risk management
programme in 2021. The Risk and Audit Board has been set up to oversee the achievements of stable and sustainable growth;
the terms of reference are monitored by the MEB quarterly.

The Risk and Audit Board manitors and reviews the development and delivery of the Group Risk and Audit strategy, ensuring its
plans are aligned to and enable delivery of the 2026 Business Strategy and to mitigate the business’ principal risks, as identified
in the Strategic Report.

The Risk and Audit Board reports on a quarterly basis to the MEB to which it will refer recommendations for decisions which are
outside of its defegated authority.

Remuneration
Key objectives of the Board whilst operating within the principles of good governance are to:
+  Assess executive remuneration and reward packages for the individuai executive directors;
. Determine the remuneration of the Chair, the executive directors and the Group management team;
. Determine the total remuneration packages for these individuals including any compensation on termination of office;
«  Approve any and all annual benus arrangements and share awards, including the perfarmance targets that apply.

Executive remuneration is structured to drive both accountability and petformance, creating long-term value for all stakeholders.
In determining the remuneration, the performance of the business during the financial year is taken into consideration, together
with future strategy. Pay levels are commensurate with eternal pay levels.

Performance is continually under review and remuneration packages revised appropriately.
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Stakeholders

Mace's engagement with our internal and external stakeholders is at the heart of our success as a business, and during 2021 we
worked hard to ensure that we communicated openly and transparently with our stakeholders. Our objective is that as much of
our communication both inside and outside of the organisation is an open dialogue; that we're always authentic and that we are
open te new ideas and best practice from outside Mace.

By far our most important stakehalder group is our Mace colleagues, of whom we are extremely proud. The continuing impact of
COVID-19 where many people had to change how they worked and overcame huge challenges to ensure that Mace was able to
remain resiiient, it was maore important than ever that we engaged with our people in an open and transparent way.

Our internal communications strategy relies on a broad range of channels to engage directly with our colleagues, including our
intranet, regular events, emails, and direct engagement to create an open conversation across the organisation. We carry out
annual engagement and wellbeing surveys to measure engagement and run regular internal campaigns to promote information
about topics that are impaortant o our people, including sustainability, mental health and diversity and inclusion.

In order to help manage the impact of COVID-19 on how our people werk and their mental wellbeing and health, a number of
communication channels, including regular leadership videos and briefings, introduced new digital collaboration tools; all-
company briefings continued throughout the year.

Mace also supports a series of employee-run network groeups, including Pride at Mace, Women at Mace, the Ethnic Diversity
Inclusion Network, the Mace Military Netwark, Enabled at Mace and Parents at Mace. Throughout 2021, these groups played a
key role in working with Mace’s corporate team to engage with important groups of our colleagues; share information and best
practice and engaging on important policy and operational decision making.

Externally, our core stakeholder audiences are our clients, our strategic supply chain, insurers, bond providers, investors, industry
organisations, public sector bodies; including both local and national government, and the communities we wark in.

The demands of 2021 meant that we worked hard to ensure that our core stakeholder groups were kept informed and updated
about how we were responding 1o the challenges we face and how that would impact the work we do for or with them, We
communicate with those audiences through a wider variety of channels, both as part of our day-to-day delivery and wider
communications channels and campaigns. This includes promoting Mace’s work through media and social media, provide regular
updates to qur clients about our work and carry out regular customer surveys.

Of particular note is Mace's role in helping to lead and shape the wider industry’s response to key issues and challenges. Our
Group Chaiman and CEQ Mark Reynolds worked closely with key industry and Government stakeholders to ensure that
construction continued to be able to operate effectively and safely in the UK. Across the arganisation — from the legal team to the
procurement team and into the operational units of the business, many people helped to contribute to individual elements of this
response.

External reporting

fn addition te cur Annual Report we publish information regularly in the public domain. This includes our business payment
practices and performance under the Duty to Report requirements which are filed at Companies House. In addition, we produce
our Annual Business Review, which is published on our website, alongside our Annual Report. We published our third Gender
Pay Gap statistics in Aprit 2021. Mace Limited is required to publish payment practices and performance statistics twice a year
in accordance with Duty to Report.

External auditors
Fallowing the appointment by the Group of Mazars LLP as auditors on 4" May 2021, Mazars were appeinted to conduct the 2021
audit.

As a private company, the Group is not subject ta external restrictions in terms of nan-audit work provided by the external auditors,
but for good govemnance has chosen to implement its own palicy in relation to the level of their remuneration and the extent of
their non-audit services.
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Sub-Boards
The MEB sponsored throughout 2021 a series of sub-boards, which consist af the following:

g ey —

Maus Finance Limitad Board

Mace Execidive Board

Operating givisions: Engines for Growth

Health, Safety and Wellbeing Board

The Health, Safety and Wellbeing Board operates to monitor and review the development and delivery of the Group health, safety
and wellbeing strategy, ensuring its plans are aligned to and enable the business to deliver the 2026 Business Strategy.
Responsibilities include but are not limited to:

Reviewing and monitoring the Group health, safety and wellbeing strategy 1o ensure it is aligned to the delivery of the
2026 Businegs Strategy;

Developing and monitoring the scorecard of key measures as agreed with the MEB;

Setting the health, safety and wellbeing palicies for the Mace Group:

Provide direction and guidance to the HS&W team on changes to the strategy and plans to ensure delivery of
programmes and initiatives remain on track. Support the HS&W team in developing roll-out strategies that will gain
maximum traction across the business;

Evaluation of the budget and investment in the health, safety and wellbeing agenda, and

Champion the broad health, safety and wellbeing agenda within business units and across the wider Group, to achieve
a consistent approach to corporate challenges.

Grow Tagether Board (previgusly as “People and Talent Board™)
The Grow Together Board acts to ensure the delivery of the Group HR strategy. Responsibilities include but are not limited ta:

Reviewing and monitoring the Group HR sirategy to ensure it is aligned to the delivery of the 2026 Business Strategy,
Developing and monitoring a scarecard of key measures agreed with the MEB and reviewed on a quarterly basis;
Setting the HR Policies for the Mace Group;

Praviding direction and guidance to the HR team on changes to the HR strategy and plans to ensure delivery of
programmes and initiatives remain on track. Support the HR team in developing roll-out strategies that will gain
maximum traction across the business, and

Identify developments (from ather institutions and organisations) that could be considered best praclice, considering
and adapting these, as appropriate for possible introduction at Mace.

Innovation Board
The Innovation Board operates to monitor and review the development and delivery of the Group Innovation strategy, ensuring
its plans are aligned 1o and enable the business to deliver the 2026 Business Strategy. Responsibilities include but are not limited

to:
-

Setting the Ihnovation Palicies for the Mace Greup for approval by the MEB,

Provide direction and guidance to the Innovation team on changes to the Innovation strategy and plans to ensure
delivery of programmes and initiatives remain on track. Support the Innovation team in developing roll-out strategies
that wiil gain maximum traction across the business;

Identify developments (from other institutions and organisations) that could be considered best practice, considering
and adapting these, as appropriate for possible introduction at Mace, and

Champion the broad Innovation agenda within business units and across the wider Group, to achieve a consistent
approach te corporate challenges.
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Responsible Business Board
The Responsible Business Board was commissioned to lead the Group in the development and delivery of the Respaonsihle

Business Strategy. Responsibilities include but are not limited to:

Providing direction and guidance to the Responsible Business team on the Responsible Business stralegy and plans
to ensure delivery of programmes and initiatives remain on track;

|dentifying developments {from other institutions and organisations) that could be considered best practice, censidering
and adapting these;

Champicning the broad Responsible Business agenda within business units and across the wider Group, to achieve a
consistent approach to corporate challenges, and

Commissioning of warking groups, establishing appropriate objeclives in accardance with the 2026 Business Strategy
and monitoring progress for the duration of the working group.

Group and Commercial Services Board

The Group and Commercial Services Board operates to monitor and review the development and delivery of the Group and
Commercial Services strategy, ensuring its plans are aligned to and enable the business to deliver the 2026 Business Strategy.
Responsibilities include but are not limited to:

Setting the Group and Commercial Services Policies far the Mace Group for approval by the MEB;

Provide direction and guidance to the Group and Commercial Services teams an changes to the sitrategy and plans to
ensure defivery of programmes and initiatives remain on track. Support the Group and Commercial Services team in
developing roil-out strategies that will gain maximum traction across the business;

Identify developments (from other institutions and organisations) that could be considered best practice, considering
and adapting these, as appropriate for possible introduction at Mace;

Ewvaluation of the budget and investment in the Group and Commercial Services agenda, and

Champion the broad Group and Commercial Services agenda within business units and across the wider Group, to
achieve a consistent approach to corporate challenges.

Risk and Audit Board

The Risk and Audit Board acts to monitor and review the development and delivery of the Risk and Audit strategy. Respansibilities
include but are not limited to:

Monitoring a scorecard of key measures set by the MEE;

Setting the Risk and Audit Policies for the Mace Group under the authority of the MEB;

Supporting the Risk and Audit team in developing roll-out strategies that will gain maximum traction across the
business;

Commissioning of working groups, estahlishing apprapriate objectives in accordance with the 2026 Business Strategy
and monitoring progress for the duration of the working group, and

Pre-screening and making recommendations to the MEB regarding corparate proposals which fundamentally affect
future corporate strategy, culture, organisation, debt/capital raises and items of significant business risk.
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Directors' report
Year ended 31 December 2021

The Directors present their annual report on the affairs of the Group, together with audited financial statements and auditor's
report, fer the year ended 31 December 2021.

Principal activity

The Group is an international consultancy and construction group whose principal activities continue to be construction delivery,
project and programme management, cost consultancy and facilities management. In addition, the Group has made certain
investments in property development projects.

Results and dividends
The consolidated profit for the year before taxation amounted to £38.3m (2020: £16.7m). Mace Finance timited has paid
dividends of £3.4m (2020: £1.2m). Dividends were fully paid in the year and no further dividend is proposed for the year.

Strategic report
The Group is required by section 414A of the Companies Act 2006 to present a Sirategic report in the Annual Report. The

Strategic Report contains, where appropriate, an indication of the directors’ view on likely fulure developments in the business of
the Group.

Directors
The directors wha held office during the year were:

Richard Bienfait {resigned 31 August 2022)
Mark Castle {resigned 1 April 2021)
Jonathan Mark Holmes

Stephen Jeffery

Clare Lewis (resigned 4 May 2021)
Gareth Lewis

Jason Millett

Lee Penlington

Stephen Pycroft

Mark Reynolds

Mandy Willis

Paost year end, Mark Castle was appointed as Non-Executive Director on 1 April 2022,

Financial ingtruments
Further information regarding the Group’s financial instruments related policies and a consideration of its liquidity and other
financing risks are in note 3 1o the financial statements.

Energy and carbob emissions

Mace has been a member of the RE100 Climate Group since 2017 this commits Mace to pracure 100% power from renewable
sources by 2022. Through our Electricity Supply and New Cannections contract with Npower and Ecotricity we have procured
85% renewable or REGO backed electricity. Through our partnership with Ecotricity we have consumed as much ‘green’ gas as
possible (there is a limited amount and demand outstrips supply) and offsets the remaining COZ2e through — the foliowing projects:
*» Dagachu Hydropower praject, Bhutan, CDM ref 2746

= Valdivia Biomass to power project, Chite, CDM ref 1787

= Maharashtra Biomass to power project, India, CDM ref 4078

This statement of energy use and carbon emissions complies with the “Environmental Reporting Guidelines: Including
streamlined energy and carbon reporting guidance March 2019 (Updated Introduction and Chapters 1 and 2)". The statement
below covers energy use and assaciated greenhouse gas emissions relating to gas, electricity, diesel and business travel via
private vehicles, an intensity ratio and information relating to energy efficiency actions. The Scope for this report excludes
emissions from international and joint arrangements, included in the scope are emissions from Mace Group UK only operations.
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Current reporting year (January 2021 — December 2021)

Reporting Year {UK Operaticns only Excludes JA's} [ 2021 2020 Change | Units
Total energy use covering electricity, gas, diesel and transport 40,193,612 38,441,722 +5% kWh
Total emissicns generated through combustion of gas 1,032 384 +168% tCQO2e
Total emissions generated through use of purchased electricity 3,929 3,751 +5% tC02e
Total emissions generated through use of other fuels 3,396 3,925 -13% tCO2e
Total emigsions generated through business travel 1,191 1,664 -28% 1CO2e
Total gross emissions 9,548 9,724 -2% tCO2e
Per £m
Intensity ratio {total gross emissions) 4.94 582 -12% Revenue

Explanation of Energy Consumption

The figures above show an increase of 5% in energy use from 2020 to 2021, This increase is due to offices returning to normal
and people working under normal conditions, the Winchester Region maved inta a new larger office which uses gas as the primary
heating fuel.

. Gas: The 168% increase in gas consumption is due to increased use of offices and three large projects with decentralised
energy systems that were commissioned in 2021.

+  Electricity: The 5% increase in electricity use across offices and sites mostly due to projects working nermal hours and
offices reopening for staff. There were no forced shutdowns of construction projects in 2021 whereas we did suffer a
shutdawn in 2020.

+«  Other Fuels: The 13% decrease in consumption of other fuels is due to the phasing out of the use of diesel and diesel
generators on our construction sites.

«  Business Travel: The introduction of ‘Agile Working' and continued periods of Government guidance to work from home
has decreased business travel by 28% year an year.

As a result, year on year gross emissions have decreased by 2% and when compared with the intensity metric of ‘Revenue’
emissions have reduced hy 12% year on year.

Energy efficiency

In January 2020 Mace launched its Net Zero Strategy and a behaviour change initiative called 'Steps without Footprints’ The
report ‘Steps without Footprints one year on details the 2020 journey and future targets - Report: Steps Without Footprints - One
Year On | Mace (macegroup.com). in December 2021 Mace launched the ‘Environmental, Secial and Governance Report 2020
https:/Awww.macegroup. com/about-us/financial-performance/annual-reporis/environmental-social-and-governance-report-2020.
In the report Mace commits to Building a Better Future by:

«  Transforming our impact on society and planet: Evolving the way we do business to ensure that the way we operate is
sustainable, ethical and robustly governed. Qur ESG strategy links 1o Mace's strategic priorities, connecting every element
of what we do to our purpose.

«  Value2Society: Creating shared value sits at our heart, Supparting communities and generating opportunities to deliver
better outcomes for society. It's what we do because it's the right thing ta do. Over the fast few years, we have increased
aur Value2Saciety, but there is always more that we can do and our new target of £700m by 2026 will see us add advanced
value by bringing further benefits to those whom our prajects toeuch, now and in the future.

«  Carbon Emissions: Globally we have reduced our Scope 1, 2 and 3 carben emissions by 51%. We will continue secure
annual verification of aur net zero position with a target to reduce our corporate carbon footprint by 10% each year.

To become net zero Mace committed to significantly reduce carbon emissions associated with:
. Energy use —the electricity, gas and diesel we purchase.
. Embodied carbon — from manufacturing and transporting the materials used in the buildings we develep and own.
+  Business travel - our flights, trains, taxis, cars and hotel accommodation.
. Water and waste - the water we use and waste we send to landfill.

Having achieved Net Zero in both 2020 and 2021, Mace is committed 10 a Net Zero future, this involves the continued reduction
of energy use, business travel and an-site diesel. Mace recognises climate change is giobal issue and has committed ta reducing
its environmental impact and assisting its clients to reduce their impact on the environment and has committed 10 a 2026 target
to reduce 1m tonnes of client carbon.
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In 2021 Mace committed to

«  LED lighting on construction sites, in site offices and canteens.

. Lighting upgrades where necessary

. Reduction in business travel achieved thraugh availability of video conferencing and introduction of the Agile Working
Policy.

. Reducing on-site diesel for energy generation by using hybrid generation and securing early grid connections.

. Continuad use of Demand Logic in the head office building 1o optimise the building conditions and highlight areas of
energy wastage.

The following energy efficiency measures are under consideration for implementation during 2022.
s«  Continue to source energy efficient site accommeaodation.
Continue to update heating and controls in all offices, site accommodation canteens, and drying rooms.
Continue 1o reduce business travel by use of video conferencing and agile working.
Continue research and development of new methods of construction.
Continue to reduce embodied carbon
Investigate ways to reduce energy use and emissions from ICT.
Reduce waste and use of landfill.
Work with our supply chain to reduce emissions.
Implement ESOS Phase 2 findings where appropriate.

Methodology used in the calculation of disclosures

Methodology for the data in this report has followed the format of the Mace ESOS Reports and in compliance with Environmental
Reporting Guidelines: Including streamlined energy and carbon reporting guidance March 2019 (Updated Introduction and
Chapters 1 and 2).

Any estimations used for data use the Pro-rata calculation technique. This is used in the case where there are data gaps, as the
billing period cavers more than the reporting year and needs {o be quantified using a proportional method based on meter
readings. The consumption for a billing periad is broken down into a daily consumption and multiplied into monthly consumption
to caver the data gap.

Intensity ratio calculated using posted revenue for the 2021 year
»  Tonnes of CO2e per £m revenue

Directors’ indemnity insurance
The Company provides a directars’ and officers’ insurance policy which was in place during the year and remains in force at the
date of this report.

Going concern
The Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts,

At the end of 2021 and at the date that these financial statements were signed, the Group continues to comfortably meet the
covenant requirements of the Group's banking facilities.

The Directors have carried out an assessment on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern for the period of at least 12
months from the date of approval of the financial statements. The assessment has involved a review of forecasts based on the
Group's 2026 Business Strategy, which refiects the impact of the 12 months of trading preceding the balance sheet date. In
addition, the base case projections take into account unaudited actual results for the first four months of 2022 and updated ta the
latest management accounts available as of July 2022. Other significant post balance sheet events which are included in the
base case scenarios are included in the notes to the accounts. The directors have also considered the strength of the Group's
forward order book which amounted to £2.8bn at 31 December 2021.

The Directars have also considered the likelihood of the principal risks and consequent impact these might have on the Group
as well as mitigations that are in place or being planned to be in place which are detailed in the Strategic Repart.

The Directors have stress-tested the base case projections, which include cash and profit, against a range of scenarios identified
as being unfikely but plausible based on the Group’s risk assessment procedures, being;

. Delays in investment payback.

e  Elimination of a material proportion of 2022 and 2023 Construct revenues as clients delay/take longer to make
decisions.

A material cost increase for Construct from failure of a key sub-contractor including liquidated damages.
Inflationary increases in the cost of construction.

Delay in the receipt of revenue from key customers.

Delay of the repayment of the amounts owed on major Develop projects.
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In each of the severe but plausible downside scenarios modelled by the Directors, the Group continues to retain sufficient
headroom an liquidity. Through these dawnside scenarios, the Group is still expected to remain within its banking covenants
through the going concern assessment period.

Based an the above and having made appropriate enquiries, the directors consider it reasonable to assume that the Group and
the Company have adequate resources to continue for the foreseeable future and, far this reason, have continued to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Events after the reporting date
Details of significant events afier the reporting date can be found in the Strategic Report and in note 32,

Employees

The Directors recognise that employees are fundamental to the Group's success and are committed to the involvement and
development of employees at all levels. The directors wish ta ensure that Mace is a diverse and inclusive group that respects
employee’s protecled characleristics including race, religion, sexual arientation and any disabilities.

The Group gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the requirements of the job can
he adequately fulfilled by a disabled person. Where existing employees become disabled, it is the Group's policy wherever
practicable to provide continuing employment under normal terms and conditions and to provide training and career development
and promotion to disabled employees wherever appropriate.

Arrangements exist to keep all employees infarmed on matters of concern to them and infarmation on Group performance and
prospects is disseminated widely. The directors ensure that employees or their representatives are consulted on a regular basis
50 that the views of employees can be taken inta account in making decisions which are likely to affect their interests. Employees
are encouraged to be concerned with the performance and efficiency of the Group and various profit sharing and bonus schemes
operate to emphasise and reinforce this.

The Directors would like to thank all our employees far their hard work during the year.

Research and development

investment in research and development is the key to driving our industry forward, and in 2021 we invested £48m (2020: £35m)
which included development of our High-Rise Solution capability (seeking to further reduce time during construction by 25%,
vehicle movement by 40% and construction waste by 75%), development of new canstruction elements, temporary warks
processes, and making substantial improvements in mechanical and electrical services.

Disclosure of information to auditors

Each of the persons who is a director as at the date of this report confirms that:

e so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditer is unaware; and

» the director has taken all steps that they ought to have taken as a director o make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act 2006,

The financial statements are approved by the Board and signed by order of the Directors.
' e
/; L
; /z'{,
ZL/ 7

“~—

e .
. Carolyn Pate

Group Company Secretary
22 September 2022
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report, the Corporate Governance Report and the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have
elected to prepare the financial stalements in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and applicable law and have elected to prepare the parent Company financial statements
in accordance with UK accounting standards and applicable law, including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework. Under
company law directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of their profit or lass for that period.

In preparing these financial staterments, the Directors are required to:
« select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
« make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonabie and prudent;

« state whether the Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS in conformity with the requirements
of the Companies Act 2006;

state whether the Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and

« prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and Campany
will continue in business.

The Directors are respansible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and
Campany's transactions and disclose with reasanable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Comparny and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2008. They are also responsible for
safequarding the assets of the Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.

The Directors are respansible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company’'s
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of the financial statements may differ from
legistation in other jurisdictions.
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Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Mac¢e Finance Limited (the ‘Parent Company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’} for the year
ended 31 December 2021 which comprise the following:

«  (Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

«  Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

=  Company Statement of Financial Position

. Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

. Company Statement of Changes in Equity, and

« notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

The financial reperiing framewark that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable law and UK-
adopted international avouuniling standards.

The financial reporting framewark that has been applied in the preparation of the Parent Company financial statements is applicable law
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework” {United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice).

In our opinion:

+ the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31
December 2021 and of the Group’s profit far the year then ended;

« the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted internatienal accounting
standards;

. the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice; and

« the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs {UK)) and applicable law. Our respansibilities
under those standards are further described in the "Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation
of the financial statements is appropriate. Our audit procedures to evaluate the directors’ assessment of the Group's and the Parent
Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included but were not limited to:
+  Undertaking an initial assessment at the planning stage of the audit to identify events or conditions that may cast significant
daubt on the Group's and the Parent Company’s ability to continue as a gaing concern;
+  Obtaining an understanding of the relevant controls relating to the directors’ going concern assessment;
. Evaluating the directors' method to assess the Group's and the Parent Company’s ability to cantinue as a going concemn;
. Reviewing the directors’ going concern assessment, which incarporated severe but plausible scenarios;
« Evaluating the key assumptions used and judgements applied by the directors in forming their conclusions on going concern;
and
s« Reviewing the appropriateness of the directors’ disclosures in the financial statements.

Based on the work we have perfarmed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group's and the Parent Company's ability to continue as a going congern for a period
of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibiliies and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this
report.
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Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than the financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Qur responsibility is to read the other infarmation and, in deing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge abtained in the course of the audit, or atherwise appears to be materially misstated. If
we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to
a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to repart in this regard.
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

in our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
«  the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the financial staterments; and
. the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and their environment obtained in the course of
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in redation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to repart to you
if, in our opinion:

. adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for aur audit have not been

received from branches not visited by us; or

. the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; ar

. certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

s« we have not received all the information and explanations we require for aur audit.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained mare fully in the directors' respansibilities staterment set out on page 26, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the Parent Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concem and using the going concem basis of
acecounting unless the directors gither intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but 1o do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a matenial
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

The extent te which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

trregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of iregularities, including fraud.

Based on our understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and their industry, we considered that non-compliance with the
following laws and regulations might have a material effect on the financial statements: employment regulation, Bribery Act and Modem
Slavery Act, Health and Safety regulation, anti-maney laundering regulation, non-compliance with implementation of govermnment
support schemes relating to COVID-19, General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), Building Act and Regulations and Fire Safety
Act.
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To help us identify instances of non-compliance with these laws and regulations, and in identifying and assessing the risks of
material misstatement in respect to non-caompliance, our procedures included, but were not limited to:

- Inquiring of management and, where apprapriate, those charged with governance, as to whether the Group and the Farent
Company is in compliance with laws and regulations, and discussing their policies and procedures regarding compliance
with laws and regulations;

. Inspecting correspondence, if any, with relevant licensing or regulatory authorities;

«  Communicating identified laws and regulations to the engagement team and remaining alert to any indications of non-
compliance throughout our audit; and

. Considering the risk of acts by the Group and the Parent Company which were contrary to applicable laws and regulations,
including fraud.

We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct effect on the preparation of the financial statements, such as tax
legislation and the Companies Act 2006.

In addition, we evaluated the directors’ and management's incentives and opportunities far fraudulent manipulation of the financial
siatements, including the risk of management override of controls, and determined that the principal risks related to posting manual
joumnal entries to manipulate financial performance, management bias through judgements and assumptions in significant
accounting estimates, in particular in relation to revenue recognition (which we pinpointed to the completeness, accuracy and cui
offy and significant one-off or unusuai transactions.

Qur audit procedures in relation to fraud included but were not limited to:
e  Making enquiries of the directors and management on whether they had knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged
fraud;
«  Gaining an understanding of the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud;
« Discussing amongst the engagement team the risks of fraud; and
e  Addressing the risks of fraud through management override of controls by performing joumal entry testing.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection
of irregularities including fraud rests with management. As with any audit, there remained a risk of non-detection of irregularities, as
these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal controls.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Councif's
website at www.fre.org.ukfauditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

Use of the audit report

This report is made solely to the Parent Company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Parent Company's members those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitied by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Parent Company and the Parent Company’s members as a body for eur audit work,
far this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

William Neale Bussey (SeniorBtatutory Auditor) for and on behalf of Mazars LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor

30 Old Bailey

London

EC4M 7AU

22 September 2022



Mace Finance Limited

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Year ended 31 December 2021

Group revenue

Cost of sales

Restated

2021 2020

Note £000s £000s
4 1,933,047 1,730,512

4 1733338 _ (1,562,367)

Gross profit 4 199,682 148,145
Administrative expenses 4 (156,983) {125,223)
Other income 7 3,892 5,362
Fair value on financial assets measured at FVPL {inc. derivatives) 4 {2,052) 3,809
Operating profit before exceptional items 4 44,539 32,083
Exceptional items 11 {12,527) _{(17.080
Operating profit 4 32,012 15013
Share of profit of associates and joint ventures 18 2,999 5776
Profit/(loss) on disposal of a subsidiary 16 6,070 (13)
Profit on ordinary activities before interest 4 41,081 20,776
Finance incame 8 5,102 11,599
Finance cosis ] {7.911) {15,635)
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 4 38,272 16,740

Income tax expense

Profit from continuing operations

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the parent

Non-controlling interest

Other comprehensive income

ltems that will or may be classified to profit and loss:
Exchange differences on re-translation of foreign subsidiaries
Remeasurement of defired henefit obligation

Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year attributahble to:
Qwners of the parent

Non-cantrolling interest

The notes on pages 36 to 87 farm part of these financial statements.

12 {7,604) 4.911)

30,668 11,828
30,359 11,622

308 207
30,668 11,829
{2,311) {1,622)

(91) -
28,266 10,207
27,957 10,129

309 78

266 10207
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Mace Finance Limited

Consolidated statement of financial position

As at 31 December 2021

Restated Restated
31 December 31 December 31 December
2021 2020 2018
Note £000s £000s £000s
Nan-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 22,956 24,009 28,782
Intangible assets 14 166,228 149,703 145,861
Ceferred tax asset 12 8,121 8,021 4,486
Investments in joint ventures 18 134 2,676 3,072
Other investments 18 12,998 10,116 8,600
Trade and other receivables 19 1,199 1,798 1,900
212,840 196,323 192,701
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 19 466,844 378,374 392,129
Development loan to joint venture 20 60,352 63,602 57917
Development work in progress 20 12,543 182 588 239,550
Asset of a disposal group classified as held for sale 25 932 - -
Derivative assets - 748 -
Current tax assets 8,046 1,927 8,096
Restricted cash 237 - -
Cash at bank 166,731 258,714 202,281
715,685 885953 899,573
Current liahilities
Trade and cther payables 21 {716,135) (697.622) (628,893)
Provisions 22 {12,483) - {29,188)
Liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale 25 (776) - -
Financial liabilites 23 {2,320) - (1,544)
Current tax liabilities {13,261) (5,389) (8,390)
| ease liabilities & borrowings 24 {45,212) {118,204) (134,098)
{790,187) (821,215) (802,113)
Net currant (liabilities)/assets {74,502) 64,738 97,860
Total assets less current liabilities 138,338 261,061 280,561
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables - - {10,831)
Provisions 22 (83,663) (84,315) (6,134)
Financial liabilities 23 (6,416) - -
Lease liabilities & borrowings 24 (17,777) (139,529) (241,784)
Deferred tax liabilities 12 . {1,227) (159) -
Net assets 29,255 37,058 31,812
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 26 2 2 2
Share based payment 12,401 10,735 9,803
Own shares (21,957) (850) (1,228)
Accumulated reserves 36,938 25 483 21,430
Equity shareholders’ funds 27,384 35370 30,007
Non-controlling interests 1,871 1,688 1,805
29,265 37,658 31,812

These financial statements of Mace Finance Limited (company number 08057308) were approved by the directors, authorised for issue on 22

September 2022, an arw on their.behalf by~

il st
ark Reynolds

Chief Exe

The notes on pages 36 to 87 farm part of these financial statements.

' l’ éL kC(LJ
'Mandy Willis

Director of Strategy
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Mace Finance Limited

Company statement of financial position

As at 31 December 2021

Non-current assets
Deferred tax asset
Investments in subsidiaries
Trade and other receivables

Current assets

Trade and other receivables
Current tax assets

Cash at bank

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

Net assefs

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital
Share based payment

Own shares

Retained earnings

Equity sharehcolders’ funds/{deficit)

Note

12
18
19

18

21

26

31 December
2021

£000s

938
146,111
2,800

149,849

4,682
2,260
1,440
8,382

(117,769}

(109,387)

40,462

40,462

2
12,401
{17,449)
45,508

40,462

31 December
2020

£000s

35
141,604
2,800
144,439

5,993
1,798
819

8.610

(91,302)

(82,692)

61,747

61,747

2
10,735
(850)
51,860

61,747

A separate profit and loss account for the Company {(company number 48057 308) is not presented as permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act
2006. The profit after taxation of the Company was £10.3m (2020; £3.9m) and total comprehensive income was £10.3m (2020: £3.9m),

These financial statements were approved by the directors, authorised for issue on 22 September 2022 and are signed on their behalf by:

A g A

Mark Re
Chief Executive Officer

I ( (e
i i 1. {’\—» L
Mandy Willis
Director of Strategy

The notes on pages 36 to 87 form part of these financial statements.
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Mace Finance Limited

Consolidated statement of cash flows
Year ended 31 December 2021

Note Restated
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
£0600s £000s
Cash flows from operating activities 28 54,276 180,524
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets {7,005) (6,078)
Acquisition of subsidiaries 15 {6,001) (167)
Disposal of subsidiaries 16 8,816 -
Acquisition of investments 18 (2,882) -
Dividends from joint ventures 18 4,406 5,821
Proceeds from disposals of fixed asset - 1,081
Change in cash within assets held for sale 25 (254) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities {2,920) 657
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to company shareholders (3,375) (1,225)
Share redempticn {34,915) (4,500)
Increase in barrowings - 8,407
Repayment of borrowings and lease liabilities (126,610) (109,740)
Net cash movement from financing activities (164,900) (107,058)
Net (decrease)iincrease in cash (113,544) 74,123
Cash at bank and bank overdrafts at beginning of year 244,649 169,971
Effects of currency translation an ¢ash at bank and bank overdrafts {4,169) 558
Cash at bank and bank overdrafts at end of year 126,936 244 649
Cash at bank and bank overdrafts 2021 2020
£000s £000s
Cash at bank 166,731 258,714
Restricted cash 237 -
Bank overdrafts {40,032) {14,065)
126,936 244,649

The notes on pages 36 to 87 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Mace Finance Limited

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Year ended 31 December 2021

Foreign Share Non-
Exchange Share Own Based Retained Attributabte Controlling
Reserve Capital Shares Payments Earnings to Owners Interest Total
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Equity shareholders’ funds as at 31 December 2019 (1,917) 2 (1,228) 9,803 26,083 35,723 1,805 37,528
Restatement (note 31) - - - - (5,717) (5,717} - {5,717)
Equity shareholders’ funds as at 31 December 2019 (1.917) 2 (1,228) 5,803 23,346 30,006 1,805 31,811
(restated)
Profit after tax for the year (restated) - - - - 11,622 11,622 207 11,829
Retranslation loss (1,493) - - - - {1,493) (129) (1,622)
Total comprehensive income for the year (restated) (1.483) - - - 11,622 10,129 78 10,207
Acquisition of non-controlling interest - - - - - - (167) (167)
Dividends paid - - - - {1.187) (1,197) (28) {1,225)
Repurchase of shares - - - - (4,500) {4,500) - (4,500)
Cancellation of shares - - . - - - - .
Distribution of shares fram the employee benefit trust - - 378 - {378) - - -
Share based payment awards issued - - - 932 - 932 - 932
E:::;y;esdf;areholders’ funds as at 31 December 2020 (3,410 2 (850) 10,735 28,503 15,370 1,688 17,058
Prafit after tax Yor the year - - - - 30,358 30,359 309 36,668
Remeasurement of defined benefit scheme - - - - (91) {91) - (91)
Retranstation loss (2,273) - - - - {2,273) {38) {2,311)
Total comprehensive income for the year (2.273) - - - 30,268 27,995 271 28,266
Acquisition of subsidiary - - - - - - 624 624
Disposal of non-cantrolling interest - - - - - - 69) (69)
Dividends paid - - - - {2,732) {2,732) {643) (3,375)
Repurchase of shares ({note 28) - - {21,107) - {13,808} (34,915} - {34,915)
Cancellation of shares (note 26) - - - - - - - -
Amortisation of share based payment awards - - - 1,666 - 1,666 - 1.666
Equity shareholders’ funds as at 31 December 2021 (5,683) 2 {21,957) 12,401 42,621 27,384 1,871 29,255

The notes on pages 36 to 87 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Mace Finance Limited

Company statement of changes in equity
Year ended 31 December 2021

Share
Share Cwmn Based Retained  Attributable
Capital Shares Payments Earnings to Qwnersg Total
£000s £000s E£000s £000s
Equity sharehclders’ funds as at 31 December 2019 2 (1,228) 9,803 54,027 62,604 62,604
Profit after tax for the year - - - 3,908 3,808 J,SOSJ
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 3,908 3,908 3,908
Dividends paid - - - (1.197) (1,197} (1,197)
Repurchase of shares - - - {(4,500) (4,500} (4,500}
Cancellation cf shares - - - - - .
Distribution of shares fram the employee benefit trust - 378 - {378) - -
Share based payment awards issued - 932 - 932 932
Equity shareholders’ funds as at 31 December 2020 2 (850) 10,735 51,860 61,747 61,747
I Profit after tax for the year - - - 103,278 10,278 10.278
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 10,278 10,278 10,278
Dividends paid - - - (2,822) (2.822) {2,822}
Repurchase of shares - (16,599) - {13,808) {30,407) {30,407)
Cancellation of shares - - - - - -
Amortisation of share based payment awards - - 1,666 - 1,668 1,666
Equity shareholders’ funds as at 31 December 2021 2 (17,449} 12,401 45,508 40,462 40,462

The notes on pages 36 to 87 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Mace Finance Limited

Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2021

1. Accounting policies

General information

Mace Finance Limited (the “Company”} is a private limited company incoerporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The address of the
registered office is 155 Moorgate, London, EC2M 6XB. The principal activities of the Graup and the Company are detailed in the Directors’
Report.

The functional currency of the parent is pounds sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group
operates. Pounds sterling is also the presentation currency of the Company and Group. The amounts stated are denominated in thousands
(£'000).

Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets and liabilities (including derivative financiai instruments) at fair value through profit and lass. The Group has
consistently applied all accounting standards and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and IFRS IC, in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 20086, relevant to its operations and effective on 1 January 2021,

The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Act. The Company meets the definition of a qualifying
entity under Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 100 issued by the Financial Reporting Council. Accordingly, in the year ended 31 December
2021 the Company reported under FRS 101 as issued by the Financial Reporting Council, which daes not result in any chiange in the amounts
presented because the Company's accounting policies under FRS101 are consistent with those described in the Group's consolidated financial
statements under IFRS.

As penmitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard:

- the requirements of paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

- the reguirements of JAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows

- the requirements of paragraph 17 and 18A of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

- the requirements in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions entered into between two or more members of
a group, provided that any subsidiary which is a party 1o the transaction is wholly owned by such a member

- the requirements of the second sentence of paragraph 110 and paragraphs 113(a), 114, 115, 118, 119(a) to (¢),120 to 127 and 129 of IFRS
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

- the requirements of paragraphs 134(d)-134(f) and 135(c)-135(e) of IAS 36 Impairment of Assels

- the requirements of [AS 8 to disclose the details of standards issued but not yet effective and the likely impact

- the disclosure requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments, other than those required by law

- in addition to the application of FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of Section 408 of the Act and consequently its statement of
camprehensive income (including the profit and loss account) is not presented as part of these financial statements

- Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the consolidated financial statements.

Going concern
The Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Group’s 2021 financial statements.

The Directors have carried out an assessment on the Group's ability 1o continue as a going concem for the period of at least 12 months from
the date of approval of the financial statements. The assessment has involved a review of forecasts based on the Group's 2026 Business
Strategy, which reflects the impact of the 12 months of trading preceding the balance sheet dale. In addition, the base case projections take
into account unaudited results for the first four months of 2022 and updated to the latest management accounts available as of July 2022, Other
significant post balance sheet events which are included in the base case scenarios are inciuded in the notes ta the accounts. The directors
have also considered the strength of the Group's forward order baok which amourted to £2.8bn at 31 December 2021.

The Directars have also considered the likelihood of the principal risks and consequent impact these might have on the Group as well as
mitigations that are in place and detailed in the Directors' Report.

The Directors have stress-tested the base case projections, which include cash and profit, against a range of scenarios identified as being
unlikely but plausible based an the Group’s risk assessment procedures, being;

Delays in investment payback.

Elimination of a material proportion of 2022 and 2023 Construct revenues as clients delay/take longer to make decisions.
A material cost increase for Construct from failure of a key sub-contractor including liquidated damages.

Inflationary increases in the cost of construction.

Delay in the receipt of revenue from key customers.

Delay of the repayment of the amounts awed on major Develop projects.

In the severe but plausible downside scenarios modelled by the Directors, the Group continues te retain sufficient headroam on liquidity. Through
these downside scenarios, the Group s still expected to remain within its banking covenants through the going concern assessment period.
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Mace Finance Limited

Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2021

1. Accounting policies {continued)

Going concern (continued)

Based on the above and having made appropriate enquiries, the directors consider it reasonable to assume that the Group and the Company
have adequate resources ta continue for the foreseeable future and, for this reason, have continued to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements.

Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements incorporate the results of Mace Finance Limited, its subsidiary undertakings and the Group’s share of the
results of joint ventures and joint operations. Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control,

The power over relevant activities, exposure or right to variable returns from its involvement with an investee, and the ahility o influence
those returns, are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date
onh which control is transferred to the Group, until the date that control ceases,

The acquisition method of accounting is uscd to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost ot an acquisition is
measured at the fair value of the asseis transferred, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange.
Costs directly attributable to the acquisition are expensed to the income statement. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in the business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of
any non-controlling interest. The excess of cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses
are aiso eliminated but considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of acquired subsidiaries are changed
where necessary, to ensure consistency with policies adopted by the Group. All subsidiaries of the Group are included within the
consolidated financial statements and were exempt from the requirements of audit under section 479A of the Companies Act 2006,

Changes to accounting policies as a result of new standards issued and effective
Changes to accounting policies as a result of new standards issued and effective do not have a material impact on the consolidated financial

statements.

IFRIC Agenda Decision - Configuration or customisation costs in a cloud computing arrangement

During the year, the Group updated its policy on IAS 38 Intangible Assets following the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Commitiee’s {“IFRIC") interpretation on accounting for configuration or customisation costs in cloud computing or software as a service
{“SaaS"y arrangement. The interpretation resulted in a charge of £1,945 000 to administration expenses as an "other expense” in the period
ended 31 December 2021. As a result of the change in accounting palicy following the IFRIC’s agenda decision in relation to SaaS
arrangements, the prior period comparatives have been restated to derecognise previously capitalised Saa$S related costs as intangible
assets amounting ta £7,900,000. This amount has been recorded as prior year adjustments,

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

A number of new standards and amendments to existing standards have been published which are mandatory but are not effective for the
year ended 31 December 2021. The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these revised standards and interpretations will have a
significant impact on the figures included in the financial statements in the period of initial application.

Revenue and margin recognition

Revenue is measured under IFRS 15 at an amaunt that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services in the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other sales related tax. Revenue is recognised in the
period in which the performance obligations are satisfied. Margin is calculated by reference to total project revenue less costs incurred to
deliver the services. The different types of contract types are described below with reference to our operating engines:

Construct contracis

A significant percentage of the Group's revenue is derived from construction contracts. The majority of contracts are considered to contain
only one perfarmance obligation for the purposes of recognising revenue. While the scope of works may include a number of different
camponents, in the context of construction activities these are usually highly interrelated and produce a combined output for the customer.

Coentracts are typically satisfied over time. For fixed price construction contracts, progress is measured through a valuation of the works
undertaken by a professional quantity surveyor, including an assessment of any elements for which a price has not yet been agreed, such
as changes in scope. For cost reimbursable contracts, progress is measured based on the costs incurred to date as a proportion of the
estimated total cost and an assessment of the final contract price payable.

Variations to the original contract sum are not included in the estimated total contract price until the customer has agreed the revised scope
of work. Where the scope has been agreed but the carresponding change in price has not yet been agreed, only the amount that is
considered highly probable not to reverse in the future is included in the estimated total centract price. Where delays to the programme of
warks are anticipated and liquidated damages would be contractually due, the estimated total contract price is reduced accordingly. This is
only mitigated by expected extensions of time or commercial resolution being achieved where it is highly probable that this will not lead to
a significant reversal in the future.

In order to recognise the profit aver time, it is necessary to estimate the total costs of the contract. These estimates take account of any
uncertainties in the cost of work packages which have nat yet been let and materials which have nat yet been procured, the expected cost
of any acceleration of or delays to the programme or changes in the scope of works and the expected cost of any rectification works during
the defect’s liability period. Once the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, margin is recognised in the income
statement in line with the corresponding stage of completion. Where a contract is forecas! to be loss-making, the full loss is recognised
immediately in the income statement. Uninvoiced amounts relating to construction contracts are presented in the statement of financial
pasition as contract assets.
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Mace Finance Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021

1. Accounting policies (continuedj
Revenue and margin recognition (continued)

Consuif contracts

Consult contracts include those for project and programme management, cost consultancy and advisory services. Contracts can have
multiple performance obligations depending on the nature of the services being provided. These can be clearly distinguished as they are
typically separately identifiable deliverables or services with a fee specifically attributable to them. Almost all consultancy projects are
deemed to be delivered over time, in accordance with the benefits being transferred to the client over time, unless there is a distinct
deliverable, and the fee is contingent on the delivery of the finished product.

The most common type of cantract for consultancy services are time and materials. Satisfaction of the performance obligations are measured
using the input method, whereby they are based on direct labour hours, time elapsed or resources consumed, and therefore revenue is
recagnised over tima as the services are delivered with reference to these inputs. These types of contracts are often service agreements
with call offs in the forms of task orders which act as a variation or extension to the original agreement. Depending on the specifics of the
call offs, they may be treated as one performance obligation ar they may be treated as separate, and revenue is therefore recognised
accordingly. Where there is mare than one performance obligation, contract costs are recorded separately in order to calculate the expscted
margin attributable to each.

Some consultancy contracts are fixed fee or fixed hourly rate. Satisfaction of the performance obligations are measured using outputs such
as scope deliverables or conditional milestones reached and therefore revenue is recognised over time as the services are delivered with
reference to the extent to which these outputs or conditions are being completed or met.

Variable consideration is included in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
will not be required when the uncertainties determining the level of variable cansideration are subsequently resolved.

If contracts contain an element of risk and reward, an estimate of the risk is included in the cantract cost price as soon as it's deemed
probable, while anticipated reward and performance bonuses are only recognised at the point that they are agreed by the customer.

Operate contracts
Operate contracts include fees for facilities management, helpdesk and consultancy services. Due to the diversity of services defivered, the
division uses different types of contracts to suit the different delivery and pricing arrangements.

Fixed price, cost plus and guaranteed maximum price contracts may be used and are all typically accounted for as a single performance
obligation. Even when a contract includes an array of different service lines, they are considered to form a single performance aobligation,
matching the intent of the contract.

For fixed price contracts, the Group typically receives payments from the customer based on a cantractual schedule of value that reflects
the timing, performance of service delivery and achievement of key performance indicators {(KPI's). Cost plus contracts will include
contractual entittement to bill clients based on costs incurred plus an agreed mark up or at an agreed charge out rate. Guaranteed maximum
price contracts will also be billed based on a cost-plus basis but capped at the agreed contractual price. In the event that a guaranteed
maximum price contract reaches the capped amount, this is the maximum amount of revenue that can be recognised, unless increased
following change control. During the duration of these contracts these are subject to change, following an agreed change control pracess,
where such changes shall alter the price up or down. In all instances, revenue is recognised over time in accordance with the contract and
un-invoiced amounts are presented as accrued income.

Develop contracts

The Develop engine delivers development management as a service and development of real estate assets. Contracts for development
management services are typically treated as having one performance cbligalion but may be priced based on fime and malerials, a fixed
fee or a variable fee based on total project cost. Revenue is calculated on the same basis as the consult contracts detailed above,
Develop contracts may include perfarmance obligations delivered at a point in time, in which case revenue is recognised at the point,
otherwise they wil! be treated as being delivered over time in accordance with typical ongoing service type contracts.

Revenue deriving from the sale of land or propetty is recognised when control has been passed ta the buyer the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured and it is probable that the economic benefits assaciated with the transaction will flow ta the Group. Sale of goods revenue
is recagnised at legat completion i respect of the total praceeds of building and development. Revenue is measured at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for the property, net of discounts and VAT. Cost of sales is
also recognised at legal completion, when the goods are sold, and until then the costs are recorded within Development WIP on the balance
sheet.

Income from leases where a member of the Mace Group is a lessor is covered in the accounting policy for leases.

Contract costs

Costs to obtain a contract are expensed unless they are incremental, i.e. they would not have been incurred if the contract had not been
obtained, and the contract is expected 1o be sufficiently profitable for them to be recovered. Costs to fulfil a contract are expensed unless
they relate to an identified contract, generate or enhance resources that will be used 1o satisfy the obligations under the cantract in future
years and the contract is expected to be sufficiently profitable for them to be recavered. Where costs are capitalised, they are amortised
over the shorter of the period for which revenue and profit can be forecast with reasonable certainty and the duration of the contract except
where the contract becomes loss making. If the contract becomes loss making, all capitalised costs related to that contract are immediately
expensed.,

Where work has been carried aut, but applications have not been applied for or certified, the value of the work is recognised as a cantract
asset until the right payment becomes unconditicnal. This differs to classification as contract receivables which relate to accrued income for
work performed where the right to payment is uncenditional,
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Mace Finance Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued}
Year ended 31 December 2021

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Government grants

Govemnment grants are accounted far in accordance with IAS 20 Government Grants and recagnised when there is reasonable
assurance that the conditions will be met, Grants are recorded in ather income and matched to cost other than where expenditure has
already been incurred, in which case they are recorded in the profit and loss immediatefy. Where government grants are repaid to
clients, this is recorded as a reduction in revenue. Where government loans have not yet been approved as grants, these are reported
as a loan balance within loans and borrowings on the balance sheet, No government grants have been received in relation to assets.

Other income/ expense

Other income/ expense, as disclosed on the face of the Consolidated statement af comprehensive incoeme, are items that due to their
material and/or non-recurring nature have been classified separately to draw them to the attention of the readers of the financial
statements and facilitates comparisan with prior periods to assess trends in financial performance more readily. The Group applies
judgement in identifying the significant nonrecurring items of income and expense that are recognised as other income/expense.

Divisional information

IFRS 8 requires an entity whose debt or equity securities are publicly traded to disclose information ta enable users of its financial
statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the different business activities in which it engages and the different economic
environments in which it operates, Although Mace is not required to report segmendal information, divisional information has been
included in these financial statements to provide more detail on the financial results of the main operating divisions or engines.
Operating divisions are reported in @ manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Board. The Executive Board is
responsible for allacating resources and assessing performance of the operating divisions.

Disaggregation of revenue:

Material differences in risk between the different revenue streams have been captured by the Group's aperating divisions as this best
depicts how the nature, timing and amount of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. Therefore, the Group has
presented disaggregation in line with the divisional analysis as shown in nate 4.

Assets and liabilities held for sale

Assets and liabilities are classified as held for sale if it is highly probable that they will be realised through sale rather than continued
use. These assets or disposal groups are recognised at the lower of their carrying amounts or fair values less costs to sell. Any
impairment loss of a disposal group is firstly attributed to goodwill and then to the remaining assets and liabilities on a proportional
basis, with the exception that no loss is attributed to financial assets, deferred tax assets, assets in connection with emplayee benefits
ar investment property that continues to be measured based on the Group’s other aceounting policies. Impairment losses on the first-
time classification as held for sale and any subsequent impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets held for sale and property, plant and equipment are no longer amaortised or depreciated and any investments
recognised using the equity method are no longer equity accounted.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a part of the Group that has either been sold or has been categorised as held far sale, and which:

- represents a major line of business or a geograghical area of operations,

- is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate, major line of business or geographical area of operations, or

- is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resaie.

If an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as well as the data
relating to it for the comparative year is adjusted so that it was as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the
comparative year.

Goodwill and other intangible assets
Goadwill represents the future economic benefits arising from assets acquired in a business combination that are not individually
identified and separately recognised. Goodwill is carried at cost less acoumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill is not amartised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
te each of the Group's cash generating units (CGU) expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. CGUSs Lo which the
goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be
impaired. If the recoverable amount or future econamic benefits from the CGU is less than the camying amount of the unit, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the
unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period. Cn disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit
or loss on disposal.

Software is recognised as an intangible asset. It is recognised al cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful life and amorlisation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on prospective basis.
The estimated useful lives for the Group's finite life intangible assets are 3, 5 or 10 years depending on the expected useful economic
life of the software. Amortisation is recognised in administrative expenses. Amortisation of intangible assets commences once the
asset is in the condition and location to be used as intended by management. Assets under construction, such as the assets associated
with the implementation of the company's ERP system are not amortised.

Property, plant and equipment

Praperty, plant and equipment are stated at cost tess accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment loss. Depreciation of
tangible fixed assets commences once the asset is in the candition and location ta be used as intended by management. Assets under
construction, such as assets associated with the implementation of the company's ERP sysiem are not depreciated.
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Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of a tangible asset less its estimated residual value over the estimated useful
economic life of that asset on the following basis:

Right of use assets Over the period of the lease, ta the break clause assumption

Leasehaold improvements Qver the period of the lease on a straight-line basis, to the first break clause
Plant, moter vehicles and equipment 10% 1o 20% per annum on a straight-line basis

Computer equipment 33% per annum on a straight-line basis

Freehold property 5% per annum on a straight-line basis

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a praospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is de-recognised upon disposal or when no future economic henefits are expected to arise
from the cantinued use of the asset. The gain or lass arising on the disposal ar scrappage of an asset is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of property, plant & equipment and intangible assets excluding goodwill

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assels are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable, or where there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in a previous period
either no longer exists or has decreased. When a review for impairmeni is conducted, the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash
generating unit is determined as the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use,

The value in use estimate is calculated using discounted cash fiows and reviews in conjunction with the camrying amounts of tangible
and intangible assets. Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUSs, or they are allocated te the smallest group of CGUs for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is tested for impairment
at least annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may beé impaired.

Leases

Where the Company is a lessee, a right-of-use asset and lease liability are recognised at the outset of the lease. The lease liability is
initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date based on the Group’s expectations of the
likelihood of lease extension or break options being exercised. The lease liability is subsequently adjusted to reflect imputed interest,
payments made to the lessor and any lease modifications. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the
amount of the lease liability, any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received, any
initial direct costs incurred hy the Group and an estimate of any costs that are expected to be incurred at the end of the lease to
dismantle or restore the asset. The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated in accordance with the Group's accounting policy
on property, plant and equipment. The right-of-use asset is also reviewed for impairment. The amount charged to the income statement
comprises the depreciation of the right-of-use asset and the imputed interest on the lease liability. Where a lease is for a term of less
than 12 months or the lease is of a low value, the lease ¢ost is recorded as an expense in the income statement when the cost is
incurred.

Where the Company is a lessor, rental income from operating leases is recagnised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Lease income is recognised in revenue where it is part of the core operations of the business, otherwise it is recognised in other
income,

Retirement benefit costs

The Group contributes to the personal pension plans of certain employees on a defined contribution basis, The assets of these
schemes are held in independently administered funds. The pension cost charged in the financial statements represents the
contributions payable in the year. Differences between contributions payable in the year and contributions actually paid are shown as
either prepayments ar accruals in the statement of financial position.

Post-employment benefits

In some areas where Mace operates, there is a legal requirement to pay an end of service benefit to employees at the end of their
employment, where they have completed at least one year of employment. The abligation is accounted for as a definad benefit post-
employment benefit with the expected liability accrued over the term of employment, Remeasurements, cemprising of actuarial gains
and losses, are recognised immediately in the statement of financial paosition with a corresponding debit or credit ta retained earnings
through other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods.

Equity compensation plans

Executive directors and senior management have been granted share options under the Group share option scheme for equity in the
ultimate parent company, Mace Finance Limiled. They have also been granted shares on both restricted and unrestricted terms in
return for service. At the grant date, the fair value of the gptions or the shares is measured and recognised aver the period until the
options vest or the shares become unrestricted as an employment expense, with a corresponding increase in equity. The amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted ta reflect the actual number of share options that vest.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

Equity compensation plans {continued)

I he total amaunt to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options or the shares granted;

(a) including any market performance conditions;

{b} excluding the impact of any non-market performance vesting conditions, such as profitability levels, sales growth targets and
continuing setvice; and

(c) including the impact of any non-vesting canditions, such as any savings requirements.

Non-market performance vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest. The
total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting canditions are to be
satisfied. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based
on meeting non-market performance vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit
or loss, with a comresponding adjustment to equlity.

The shares awarded and the shares subject to options have already been issued and are held hy an Employee Benefit Trust. When
the optians are exercised, the ullimate parent company requests the EBT to award the shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transactions costs are retained by the EBT.

The financial statements of the EBT have been consolidated into the Group financial statements of the ultimate parent company,
Mace Finance Limited.

Taxation

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. The current tax payable is based on laxable profit
far the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reparted in the statement of comprehensive income because it exciudes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates prevailing in the year.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the
statement of financial pasition liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences;
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is prabable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill ar fram the initial recognition {other than in a business combination) of cther assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and asselts reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, al the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying ameunt of its assets and liabilities, Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively. When current tax or deferred lax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Development work in progress

Develapment work in progress is held in relation to Develop contracts. Development work in progress is initially stated at cost and
then held as the lower of this initial amount and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct
labour and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing work in progress to its present value. Cost also includes interest
incurred on external borrawings funding the projects, where these are qualifying assets under the IAS 23 requirements for
capitalisation of borrowing costs. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion to
be incurred.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group's statement of financial position when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The principal financial assets and liabilities of the Group are as follows:

a) Financial assets at amortised cost

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at their transaction price and are subsequently measured at amortised cost less
any allowance for expected credit losses. Interest recognised on overdue frade receivables is recognised as other income, within
operating profit.

Impairment of financiaf assets:

The Group recognises lifetime expected credit losses for trade receivables, contract assets and loans to joint ventures. The expected
credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general econamic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as
anticipated future trading conditions at the reporting date.

b} Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with a maturity of three months or less at inception. Bank
overdrafts are presented as current liabilities to the extent that there is no right of offset with cash balances.
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Financial instruments (continued}

¢) investments

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost less any provision for impairment. Any contingent consideration is recognised
as an accrual at the acquisition date and is measured at the present value of the expected settlement using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money. The increase in the accrual due to the passage of time is
recognised as an interest expense. Any change to the value of contingent consideration identified within 12 months from the acquisition
date is reflected in the original cost of the investment, if it is a measurement adjustment in terms of IFRS 3. Subsequent changes to
the value of contingent consideration are reflected in the statement of comprehensive income.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. This is usually where the Group has a shareholding of more than 50%
but there can be other aspects of the arrangement that can give rise ta control. Even though the Group holds 48% of the share capital
of Macra Qatar LLC, the investment is classified as a subsidiary since 3 of the 5 directors of the subsidiary are appointed by the Group
and Mace are responsible for appointing the general manager who has a wide range of duties ta control the operations of the
Company. 60% of the subsidiary's profits are distributable to the Group.

Where the Company or its subsidiaries has significant influence over an entity, normally being more than 20% and less than 50%,
then that investment is classified as an assaciate and is equity accounted for. Jaint arrangements in legal entities are classified as
joint ventures and are equity accounted for. An equity investment is initially recorded at cost and is subsequently adjusted to reflect
the share of the net profit or loss.

Where the joint arrangement is not structured through a separate vehicle these are classified as joint operations. This applies to most
of the unincarporated joint arrangements in nate 33 ather than Dubai Expa 2020, which is structured through a separate vehicle so is
treated as a joint venture and amounts are recognised in relation to interest in the joint operation. This includes recognising assets
and liabitities based on its share of any assets and liabilities held jointly, recagnising revenue from the sale of its share of the output
of the joint operation and share of any expenses incurred jointly.

The Company assesses investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
an investment may have suffered animpairment loss. If any such indication exists, the Company makes an estimate of the recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Value in use represents the discounted
net present value of expected future cash flows. If the recoverable amount is less than the value of the investment, the investment is
considered to be impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount, and an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the
statement of comprehensive income of the Company.

d) Other investments
This category includes an investment in Finsbury Tower that is an equity investment carried in the statement of financial position at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as part of operating profit.

e} Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are not interest baaring and are stated initially at fair value and subseqguently held at amortised cost.

1) Other borrowings
Interest bearing borrowings are recorded at fair value (which is typically equivalent to the proceeds received) net of direct issue costs
and subsequently measured at amortised cast. Finance charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct
issue costs, are accounted for at amorised cost and on an accruals basis in the statement of comprehensive income using the
effective interest method. Interest is added to the carrying value of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period
in which they arise.

q) Financial liabifities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity are classified according to the substance of the financial instrument’s contractual obligations rather than
the financial instrument's legal form. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group
after deducting all of its liabilities.

The Company has guaranteed the liabilities of certain subsidiaries inciuded within note 34.

h) Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received net of direct issue costs.

i} Darivative financiafl instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Group's statement of financial position when the Group becomes party to the
contractual provision of the instrument. The Group uses derivative financia! instruments to manage its exposure to foreign exchange
risks. In accordance with its treasury palicy, the Group daes not hald ar issue derivative financial instruments for trading purpases. As
the Group has nat adopted hedge accounting, fair value of derivative contracts are recognised as fair value through profit and loss.

J) Operating cycle

The statement of financial pasition classifies the Group and Company’s assets liabilities as either current or non-current. In respect of
the Group/Company's construction business, contract related balances are typically classified as current when management expect
these to be settled within its normal operating cycle. Management have determined that the normal operating cycle for the construction
business is 37 months, being the typical length of a construction contract.
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Foreign currencies

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rates in effect when they take place. Resuiting foreign
currency denominated assets and liabilties are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the reporting date. Exchange differences
arising from foreign currency transactions are reflected in the income statement.

The assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiary undertakings are translated at the rale of exchange ruling at the reporting date.
Trading profits or losses are translated at average rates prevailing during the accounting peried. Differences on exchange arising from
the retranslation of net investments in overseas subsidiary undertakings at the year-end rates are recognised in other comprehensive
income. All other transtation differences are reflected in the income statement,

Provisions

Provisions for insurance liabilities retained in the Group's captive insurance arrangements, legal claims, defects and warranties and
other onerous commitments are recognised at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the Group's liability. Provisions
are recognised when: i} the Group has a present legal or consiructive obligation as a result of a past event; ii) it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and iii) the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations arising from past events, whose existence will only be confirmed by future uncertain
evenis that are not wholly within the Group's control, or present obligations where it is not probable that an outflow of resources will
be required, or the amount of the obligation cannot be reliably measured. If the outflow of economic resources is not considered
remote, contingent liabilities are disclosed but not recognised in the financial statements.

Contingent assets
Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from past events, and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or
nan-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not whally in the control of the entity.

It is probable that these amounts will be recognised in future periods when the uncertainty over their recoverability has been removed.
The amounts of such claims are disclosed as contingent assets but not recognised in the financial statements. Insurance claims are
recognised under [AS 37 when the economic benefit arising from the claims is virtually certain.

Dividends

Equity dividends are recognised when they become legally payable. Interim equity dividends are recognised when paid. Final equity
dividends are recognised when approved by the shareholders at an annual general meeting. Dividends on shares recognised as
liahilities are recognised as expenses and classified within interest payable.

Use of non-GAAP measures

In the reporting of financiat information, the Group uses certain measures that are not required under IFRS, the Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (‘GAAP') under which the Group reports, The Group believes that operating profit before exceptional items
provides additional useful information on underlying trends to the users of the financial statements. This non-GAAP measure is used
by the Group for internal performance analysis. The term ‘exceptional items’ and "operating prafit before exceptienal items' are not a
defined term under IFRS and may therefore not be comparable with similarly titled measures reported by other companies. They are
not intended to be a substitute for, or superior to, GAAP measures. The separate reporting of non-recuiring exceptional items, which
are presented as exceptional within their relevant income statement category, helps provide an indicafion of the Group’s underlying
business performance. The principal items which are included as exceptional items are non-trading. items included in operating profit
such as profits and losses on the disposal, closure or impairment of subsidiaries, joint ventures, assaciates, joint operations and
investments which do not form part of the Group's operating aclivities. The term "operating profit before exceptional items’ refers to
the relevant measure being reported for continuing operations excluding exceptional items.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and
assumptions that affects the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent
assets and {iabilities. Estimates and judgements are continually made and based on historic experience and other factors, including
expeciations of future events that are believed to be reasonable in the circumstances. As the use of estimates is inherent in financial
reporting, actual results could differ from these estimates. The Directors believe the following to be key areas of estimation and

judgement.
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2. Significant accounting estimates and judgements and key sources of uncertainty

Sources of estimation uncertainty:

a)

b)

c)

d)

Estimates of cost to complete and contract provisions

To determine the margin that the Group is able to recognise on its construction contracts in the reporting period, the Group has
to allocate total costs of the construction contracts between the proportion compieting in the period and the proportion to complete
in & future period. The assessment of the of total cost to be incurred and the final contract value requires a degree of estimation.

The estimation of final contract value includes assessments of the recovery of variations which have yet to be agreed with the
client, but which meet the criteria set out in the Group’s accounting palicies and are in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. The consideration recognised is the amount which is highly probable not to result in a significant
reversal in future. At the reporting date, unagreed variations accounted for 0.15% (2020: 0.05%) of total contract revenue.

The largest component of the cost to complete are the agreed subcontract sums; the stage of completion of which are assessed
and verified as part of the contract process. These amounts have a low level of estimation uncertainty and typically make up the
bulk of tha cost to complete, However, the cost to complete may also include provisional sums and provisions for cost, both of
which require estimation and judgement in order to establish the appropriate amount to recognise.

Provisional sums arise whan no subcontract has been entered into at the contract date and so estimates of the likely cost are
required for the purposes of establishing cost to complete, until such time that subcontracts are entered into and the uitimate cost
can be determined. Generally provisional sums are purposely a minor component of the overall contract vahie, due to the inherent
risk of entering into contracts without having certainty of the cutturn cost.

Contract provisions are made in accordance with 1AS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and are
measured at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle abligations present at the reporting date. Contract provisions
may include estimates of remediation works that could be required where defecls are present or where insurance claims have
been made. The assessment of this cost is based on best estimates made by experienced senior management, on an individual
contract basis and with reference to relevant contract provisions and insurance excess premiums. Where the cast cannot be
refiably measured, and the likelihood of incurring the cost only considered possible rather than probable, estimated amounts are
disclosed as contingent liabilities, more details of which are disclosed in nate 22,

Recoveries of these amounts from insurers or third parties are treated as a deduction of cost rather than revenue and are only
recognised when recovery is deemed to be virtually certain. Management mitigates the degree of uncertainty by ensuring
estimates of recovery are produced by suitably qualified individuals and are subject to thoraugh review by senior management.
Insurance recoveries that are considered probably recoverable but not virtually certain are only disclosed as contingent assets.
Details of contingent assets recagnised in the year in relation to insurance matters are disclosed in note 22,

Valuation of development work in progress and loan to joint venture

The key estimates in determining the net realisable value of land and work in progress are:
. an estimation of costs to complete; and

. an estimation of the remaining revenues.

These assessments include a degree of uncertainty, but reliance is placed on third party valuations as the best estimate of the
market value at the balance sheet date. These valuations are compared against the carrying amount of the asset. Where carrying
amount is lower than the net realisable value, write-downs of land and work in progress may be necessary. The same estimations
extend ta the carrying amount of the [oan to joint venture as the repayment of loan is dependent on the valuation of its development
work in progress. The balance of work in progress assets and loan to joint venture at the balance sheet date were £12.5m and
£60.4m (2020 restated: £182.6m and £63.8m).

Goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the Cash Generating Units to which the
goodwill has been allocated. The value requires an estimate to be made of the timing and amount of fulure cash flows expected
to arise from the CGU and the appiication of a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the net present value. Cash flow forecasts
for the next five years are based on the Group’s budgets and forecasts. Other key inputs in assessing each CGU are revenue
growth, operating margin and discount rate, The assumptions are set out in note 14 together with an assessment of the impact of
reasonably possibie sensitivities.

Fair value of investments

The investment in Finsbury Toweris vatued at fair value using a discounted cash flow approach, the inputs of which are determined
using forecasts where management judgement is applied in relation to assumptions on the timing for completion and exiting the
investment, as well as the rental yields used for determining the value of the return on investment. A £3.5m undiscounted return
on investment assumed is based on the expected rate of return and assuming realisation of the investment in 2022, factoring in
the potential for delays with a project of this scale. A change in the assumptions with 5% lower exit yield could increase the retum
up to a further £1.8m. A 5% increase in the exit yield assumption would reduce the return by £1.7m. Earlier completion or further
delays to completion would alsc impact the value of the investment. The movements on investments in the year, including fair
value adjustments, are presented in the investment note 18.

Judgements made in applying accounting policies:

e

Exceptional items

Exceptional items are reported separately in order to calculate adjusted results, as the Group believes these adjusted measures
provide additional useful information on continuing performance and trends. Judgement is required in determining whether an
itern should be classified as an exceptianal item ar included within adjusted results. The definition of exceptional items is outlined
in note 1.
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Significant accounting estimates and judgements and key sources of uncertainty {continued)

Cortingenl liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions are made using the directors' best judgements and estimates of known legal claims, investigations and legal actions
relating to the Group which are considered more likely than not to result in an outflow of economic benefit. If the directors consider
that a claim, invesligation or action relating to the Group is unlikely to succeed, no provision is made. If the Directors cannot make
a reliable estimate of a potential, material obligation, no provision is made but details of the claim are disclosed as contingent
liabilities. At 31 December 2021 the Mace Limited Company and Group had no contingent liabilities in relation to claims (2020:
£nil).

The Group discloses contingent assets in relation to claims against third-parties for the reimbursement of costs on construction
contracts. As at 31 December 2021, there were 6 ongoing matters that are disclosed as contingent assets (2020: 5). Under IAS
37 these amounts may only be recognised when the economic benefit arising from the ¢laims is virtually certain.

Assels and liabilities held for sale and applying the definition of a disposal group

The held for sale assets and liabilities held at the year-end relate to an investment in subsidiary that is not a major fine of business
or geographical area of operations for the Group and was not acquired exclusively with the view to resale. It is therefore not
classified as a discontinued operation.

At the end of the prior year there was the intention by management to dispose of the entities that owned the assets in relation to
the Cardiff and Exeter student accommodation development. The purpose of the transaction was to dispose of the development
work in progress assets that these entities hold, along with the operations in relation to these developments. This is part of the
normal course of business of the Group, sa it was not considered appropriate to separate these out in the income statement and
cash flow as discontinued, nor to separate the assets and liabilities as held for sale on the balance sheet. The main item on the
balance sheet was the development work in progress assets and it was doubtful whether it would be helpful to users for such
items to be removed from inventories. The Cardiff and Exeter project was just one project within the develop operations of the
Group, s0 this was not a disposal a separate major line of business.
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3. Financial risk management

General
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its contracts with clients and suppliers and its use of financial instruments:

a) Interest rate risk

by  Credit risk

¢) Revenue liquidity risks

d) Foreign currency and exchange rate risk

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management framewark. The
Baard has established a Group Assurance function which is responsible for developing and monitoring the Group's risk management
strategy and policies. The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks ta minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial perfarmance.

The Group and Company operate within financial risk policies and procedures approved by the Board. It is, and has been throughout
the year, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken. The Board pravides written pringiples for
overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit
risk, use of derivative financial instruments and nan-derivative financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity. The Group's
and Company's financial instruments principally comprise bank borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables,
and foreign exchange forward contracts that arise directly from its operations and its acquisitions.

a) Interest rate risk
During the year the Group has repaid the corporate bond and disposed of its investment in the special purpose vehicles that held the
assets and the senior debt facility of a portfolio of purpose-built student accommodation (PBSA) rooms in Cardiff and Exeter.

There was no external debt hefd at the balance sheet date. On 28 January 2022 Mace Finance Limited procured two new 3 year
committed liquidity facilities. These facilities are ESG-linked facilities. These two facilities are:
«  £10m unsecured revolving credit facility {(RCF) frem BBVA, and
«  £50m unsecured Export Development Guarantee (EDG) toan facility provided by JP Morgan and with the support from the
UK Export Finance.
Both facilities are guaranteed by the Company and the material subsidiaries of the Company.

The interest rate basis for both liquidity facilities is SONIA plus a margin, and therefore the interest rate is variable. There is a
commitment fee payable on undrawn but committed amounts of between 35% and 40% of the margin charged. The interest rate
margin chargeable is between 2.0% and 2.25%. The margin will vary depending an the carbon reduction, increased use of
renewable energy and safety performance of the Group, measured by the three KP| measures which are embedded in the facility
documents; the variability being up to plus or minus 5 basis points.

b) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables and other current assets with the exception of cash and cash
equivalents, which are predominantly held with Barclays plc, in respect of which, the credit risk arising fram these assets is considered
low, The maximum exposure 1o credit risk at the reporting date is the book value of each class of receivable listed in note 20.

The directors do not consider the Group to have any significant concentration of risk in respect of trade receivables, contract assets
or contract receivables at the balance sheet date. The diversified operating model of the Group is intended to safeguard the business
from risk and consequently receivables are spread across a wide range of clients, geographies and sectors.

The amount of trade receivables presented in the consolidated balance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful receivables, estimated
by management based on past default experience and their assessment of the current and future economic enviranment. Management
will provide for specific trade receivables if they become aware of factors which may indicate credit risk. Management also review the
aged trade receivables analysis at the end of each reporting period and assess the balances for impairment using the following
provision matrix:

Age of debt UK trade receivables provision Qverseas trade receivables provision
0-80 days overdue 0% 0%

60-90 days overdue 10% 0%

90-120 days overdue 25% 10%

120-180 days overdue 50% 25%

181-270 days overdue 75% 50%

271-365 days overdue 100% 75%

Qver 365 days overdue 100% 100%

The Group policy réquires provisions to be booked in line with the matrix, but exceptions will be made where specific agreement for
late or alternate repayment is in place, or if management believe that the credit risk associated with the counterparty is low due ta
other known circumstances. Overseas debt is subject to an adjusted scale, to account for the differing cultural conditions faced when
operating internationally. The provisioning determined by the matrix may aiso be adjusted for known or anticipated future everts. At
the end of the year, the provisioning matrix was unadjusted for future events as the directors believe that the strong trading
performance of the Group during the COVID-18 pandemic and the improving sftuation indicated a return to normalized trading
conditions in the period in which the receivables fall due. Accordingly, provisions for expected credit losses booked in line with the
matrix and adjusted for known or anticipated factors amounted to £4.3m (2020; £3.1m) in respect of total overdue trade receivables
of £47.9m (2020; £24.1m). The ageing of the debt is included in note 19,
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Due to the nature of the Group's operations, some contfracts entitle clients to hold retentions in respect of projects in progress or
completed projects. Retentions held by clients at 31 December 2021 were £104m (2020: £81m). The Group manages the collection
of retentions throughout the duration of a project and during its post completion project monitoring procedures to ensure that potential
issues that could lead to the non-payment of retentions are identified and addressed promptly. At the reporting date £41m of retentions
held by clients were due in mare than one year under the terms aof the respective contracts. Unlike trade receivables, the ageing of
these balances is not an indicator of impairment and hence recoverability has been assessed based on the individual characteristics
of the contract counterparty and the nature of the project, as well as the current and future anticipated trading conditions. Accordingly,
the directors believe that no significant credit provision is required on these balances.

The directors always estimate the loss allowance on trade receivables, contract assets and contract receivables at an amount equal
to lifetime expected credit losses.

Credit risk also arises for the Company by virtue of the receivables due from related parties, being cther Group companies. The
assessment of credit risk in regard to these receivables is performed on a regular basis, specifically with reference to the future viahility
of the entity’s ability to repay the amounts owed. In the event that the entity is unlikely to generate sufficient cash to repay the amount
awed, the Company will impair ar write off the amount in the reporting period. Credit risk in regard to related parties is managed
carefully as part of the Group’s wider capital risk management policy.

Of the amounts owed by related parties, the receivable owed by the Botley joint venture attracts the highest concentration of credit
risk, due to the size of the investment. At the balance sheet date, the Group was owed £85.8m {2020: £79.1m) by the Botley group of
companies, which represented shareholder loans and accrued and interest. Following a RICS “red book” valuation, the directors have
provided £25.5m (2020: £15.5m) against the loans and interest.

At the reparting date, there were no trade and other receivables which have had renegotiated terms that would otherwise have been
past due.

c) Liquidity risk

The Group seeks to manage liquidity risk to ensure sufficient liquidity is available to meet the requirements of the business and to
invest cash assets safely and profitably. The Board reviews regularly available cash to ensure there are sufficient resources for working
capital requirements. The following table summarises the maturities of the Group's undiscounted financial liabilities at the reporting
date, based on contractual payment dates.

31 December 2021

£000s
Less 1to 5 Moare Total
than 1 years than 5

year years
Trade and other payables 86,594 - - 86,594
Contract liabilities: purchase retentions 43,754 38,757 - 82,511
Bank overdrafts 40,032 - - 40,032
Lease liabilities 5,180 21,051 1,446 27,677
Derivative financial assets:
Derivative contracts — payments 25,803 1,636 - ’ 27,439
Derivative contracts — receipts {24,363) (1,565) - (25,928)
Total 177,000 59,879 1,446 238,325

31 December 2020
£000s
Less 1to 5 More Total
than 1 years than §

year years
Trade and other payables 139,214 - - 136,214
Contract liabilities: purchase 51,380 25,977 1 77,338
retentions
Bank overdrafts 14,484 - - 14,484
Amounts awed to directors 6,500 - - 6,500
Directors’ loans 2,893 - - 2,893
Limited recourse finance 94,321 - - 94,321
Corporate band (including accrued 2,597 120,000 - 122,697
interest)
Lease liabilities 4 983 18,659 6,406 30,028
Derivative financial assefs:
Derivative contracts — payments 32,349 27,437 - 59,786
Derivative contracts — receipts (32,682} (27,852) - (60,534)
Total 315,999 164,221 5,407 486,627
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d) Foreign currency and exchange rate risks

Due to our geographical spread we are exposed to changes in national economic conditions, exchange rate fluctuations and local
trading restrictions. However, we employ local people and suppliers and have established local aperating companies in each of our
global hubs so that exposure to exchange rate changes is limited and knowledge of the local business envirenment is strengthened.

The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. Aten per
cent strengthening of sterling against the following currencies at 31 December 2021 would have decreased equity and profit or loss
by the following amounts:

2021 2020

£000s £000s
Profit or loss Equity Profit or Equity

loss

Qatari Rial (52) {1,172) (61) (1,258)
United Arab Emirates Dirham (210) (982) 348 {682)
Peruvian Nuevo Sol (558) (722) (107} {165)
Euro (745) (694) {478} (422
Danish Krone (96) (677) (496) 821)
United States Dollar (353) (593) (326) {3.255)
Indian Rupee {16) {307) {(10) {351

A ten percent weakening of sterling against these currencies would have an opposite effect. A common analysis basis has been
applied for both 2021 and 2020. This analysis assumes that all other variables, particularly interest rates, remain unchanged. The
sensitivity is regarded as being representative of the position throughout the year.

At 31 December 2021, the Group held EUR 136.1m, DKK 94.2m, USD 9.4m, CHF 7.9m and AED 16.8m and some smaller foreign
currency balances in cash at bank. A ten per cent strengthening of steding against these currencies at 31 December 2021 would have
resulted in logses of £10.4m, £1.0m, £0.6m, £0.5m, £0.3m respectively.

Capital management

The Group’s policy is to maintain and develop a strong and flexible capital base in order to maintain investar and creditor confidence.
Similar policies apply also to individual business divisions so as to minimise demands for routine trading activities on finance obtained
at Group level. This is seen as important for the sustenance of future developments in the business and the maintenance of flexibility
of capital management strategies. The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, equity and debt. At 31
December 2021 the Group had no external debt (2020: £216.3m).

The Group is funded by ordinary shares, retained profits, and external borrowing. There were no external borrowings held at the end
of the year. After the year end the Group entered into two new banking facilities and details of this are included in the post balance
sheet event note 32. During the year the corporate band was repaid and the debt facility for the development project for the purpose-
built student accommadation in Cardiff and Exeter transferred cut of the Group with the sale of the entity that held the loan, as part of
the disposal of the development. The Group and Company's objeclives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The capital requirements of the Group's divisions differ, with property
development typically requiring equity and debt, consultancy and facilities management typically requiring working capital, and
construction typically being cash generative. The economic cycle of each business is different. The new liquidity facilities are subject
to covenants over inlerest cover and gearing, both of which were comfortably met at the signing date.

The Group manages its capital taking these differing requirements into account.

Fair values

The investment in Finsbury Tower (note 18: other investments), represents an investment in 8.1% of the ordinary shares which have
na voting rights. As there is no control or significant influence in this investment it is classified as an equity investment under IFRS 9
and held at fair value.

The valuation as at 31 December 2021 is based on a level 3 hierarchy, given there is no observable inputs for the asset in 2021, The
valuation was based on a discounted cash flow approach, referencing an estimated yield from the investment {o the Group which is
expected to be what a similar market participant would achieve from the investment.

The investment has been reviewed and revalued at the year end there is no difference between carrying value and fair vatue at 31
December 2021. There is no difference between the book value and fair value of other financial assets and liabilities due to the short-
term nature of these instruments.

Cantingent consideration was recognised in 2021 in relation to the acquisition of the Tenman subsidiaries. More detail on the
acquisition can be found in note 15.

The vatuation at acquisition (6 August 2021) was based on a leve! 3 hierarchy, given there is no chservable inputs for the liability. The
contingent consideration is based on meeting revenue and EBITDA targets, so the valuation was hased on a discounted cash flow
approach, referencing the expected performance for years 2021-2026.

The expected contingent consideration was reviewed and revalued at the year end based on latest forecasts and a reduction in the
financial liability of £207k was recognised through fair value through profit and loss.

Interest is charged on the financial liability. The closing balance is disclosed in the financial liabilities note 23.
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Financial assts/(liabilities) ~ derivative financial assets/{liabilities)

The fair value of forex options, forward contracts and interest rate caps are given below, These derivatives are measured at fair value
and the value is calculated as the present value of estimated cash flows based on observable yield curves correspanding to level 2

as defined in iIFRS 13.

2021 2020
£000s £000s
Forex forward contracts: Group & Company {1,511) 748

As the Group has not adopted hedge accounting, fair value of derivative contracts are recognised as fair value through profit and loss.

A fair value loss of £2.3m (2020: £2.3m gain) was recognised in the year in relation to derivatives.

Categorisation of financial instruments and fair value of other financial assets and liabilities

2021 2020
£000s £000s
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value 12,998 10,116
Financial assets at amortised cost 520,892 373,959
Cash and cash equivalents 166,731 258,714
Financial liabilities
Borrowings measured at amortised cost 40,032 244,708
Current financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 606,343 559,860

Prepayments and accrued income are excluded from loans and receivables. Statutory liabilities, deferred income and payments on

account are excluded from financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. There is no difference between the book value and fair

value of other financial assets and liahilities.

Assels and liabilities classified as held for sale are excluded from the analysis above.
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4. Divisional analysis

Revenue

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

Continuing operations:
UK & Europe

Middle East North Africa
Asia

Sub-Saharan Africa
America

Intercompany trading
Total revenue

General

2021 2020
£000s £000s
1,885,861 1,652,030
95,654 88,017
16,539 11,069
9,169 5,943
41,539 31,453
(115,745) (58,000)
1,933,017 1,730,512

For management purpeses the Graup is arganised into four operational divisions and Group and Commercial Services, which includes
corporate overheads and support as shown in the table below. These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports information
to the Board. Limited secondary infarmation is presented for the operating divisions of consultancy and other services, primarily for

risk management purposes.

The Board assesses the performance of the divisions based on management accounts which reflect the allocation of cross charges,
interest, depreciation and amortisation. The adjustments exclude the effects, if any, of nan-recurring expenditure from the operating
divisions such as restructuring costs, legal expenses and goodwill impairments resulting from any isolated, non-recurring event.

2021

Group revenue

Costs recharged to clients

Total Group revenue

Cast of sales

Gross profit

Administrative expenses

Other income

Fair value on financial assets measured at FVPL
Qperating profit before exceptional items
Exceptional items

Operating profit

Share of cperating profit of JVs

Profit on disposal of a subsidiary

Profit on ordinary activities before interest
Net finance costs receivable/{payable)

Profit befare tax from continuing operations

Group &

Commercial
Construct Consult Operate Develop Services Total
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £040s
1,469,355 366,351 110,162 36,332 246 1,882,448
- - (49,428) - - (49,429)
1,469,355 368,351 60,733 36,332 248 1,933,017
(1,356,274)  (288,809) (51,418) (34,820 (2,016)  {1,733,335)
113,081 75,542 9,317 1,512 {(1,770) 199,682
{55,825) {44 872) (7,549} {3,601) (45,136) (156,883)
981 2,301 1 - 808 3,892
(2,052) - - - - (2,052}
56,185 34,971 1,769 (2,089) (46,297} 44,539
- - - (9,983) (2,544) (12,527}
56,185 34,971 1,769 {12,072) (48,841) 32,012
- 3,002 - (3) - 2,999
- - 102 5968 - 6,070
56,185 37,973 1,871 (6,107) {48,341) 41,081
{80) {560} {67) 343 (2,445) (2,809)
56,105 37,413 1,804 {5,764) {51,286) 38,272
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Group &
Commercial
Construct Consult Operate Develop Services Total
2020 {restated) £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Group revenue 1,232,379 341,975 113,565 98,416 (357) 1,785,978
Casts recharged to clients - - {55,466) - - {55 ,466)
Total Group revenue 1,232,379 341,975 58,099 98,416 {357) 1,730,542
Cost of sales (1,168,380} (268,676) {51,085) (93,737) 511 (1,582,367)
Gross profit 62,999 73,299 7,014 4,679 184 148,145
Administrative expenses (32,836) (51,549) (7,656) 4,291 {37,473) (125,223)
Other income 2,091 2,467 236 4 564 5,362
Fair value an financial assets measured at FVPL 2,292 - - - 1,517 3,808
Operating profit before exceptional items 34,546 24,217 {406) 8,974 (35,238} 32,093
Exceptional items - - - {15,492) {1,589) (17,080)
Operating profit 34,546 24,247 {4086) (6,518) {36,826) 15,013
Share of operating profit of JVs - 5,685 - 91 - 5776
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary - (13) - - - (13)
Profit on ordinary activities before interest 34,546 29,889 (406) (6,427) (36,3826) 20,778
Net finance costs receivahle/(payable) (68) (315) {130) (1,612} {1.811) (4.036)
Profit before tax 34,478 29,574 (536} (8,039) (38,737) 16,740
A further analysis of the Group’s Construct revenue is as follows:
2021 2020
Continuing operations: £000s £000s
Fixed Price & Cost Reimbursement 1,389,327 1,153,319
Construction Management 80,028 79,060
Total revenue 1,469,355 1,232,379

Inter-divisions sales are carried out at open market rates. Income from three major clients in relation ta construction projects amaounted to 23%

(2020: 25%) of total Group revenue during 2021.
Key balance sheet items by division:

2021 balance sheet

Group

Construct Consult Operate Develop Services Total

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Goodwill 52,240 77,672 3,940 7,240 - 141,092
Development WP & loan 1o joint venture - - - 72,895 - 72,895
Contract assets 104,817 - - - - 104,817
Contract receivables 59,377 45,977 11,141 - 105 116,600
Contract liabilities (159,242) (29,072) (6,183) (1,240) {90) (195,827)
Assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale - - 932 . - 932
Liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale - - (776) - - {(776)
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2020 balance sheet

Construct Consult Qperate Develop Total

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Goodwill 52,240 §7,784 4,036 7,240 131,300
Development WIP & loan to joint venture - - - 245577 245,577
Contract assets 89,686 - - - 89,686
Contract receivables 27,642 24,234 0,048 253 61,977
Contract liabilities (189.303) (19,552) (6.659) {3,109) (218,623)
External borrowings - (1,962) - (214,321) (216,283)

5. Revenue

At the end of the period there was revenue still to be recagnised on construction projects where performance abligations were unsatisfied due
to the nature of the long-term contracts, where revenue is recognised over time.

The time bands below present the likely consideration value of secured cantracts but may be subject 1o future modifications that impact the
amount and/or timing of revenue recognition.

Aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to construction contracts that are partially or fully unsatisfied at the year-end:

2021 2020

£000s £000s

Due in less than one year 1,061,650 1,212,340

Due in one to five years 769,997 890,923

Total revenue 1,861,647 2,103,263

6. Operating profit & EBITDA
Restated
2021 2020
The operating profit is stated after charging: £000s £000s
Depreciation of owned assets 3,160 3,555
Depreciation of right of use assets 3,230 3,075
Impairment of fixed assets 6 -
{Loss)/profit on disposal of fixed assets - (100)
Amortisation of intangible assets 2,409 405
Research and developmerit casts 48,000 34,551
Share based payments (1,666) {932}
Emplayee benefit expense 523,400 398,430
Short term lease rentals:

LLand and buildings 521 2,306
Motar vehicles 146 39
Profit on ordinary activities before interest* 51,383 20,776
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and eguipment 6,396 6,630
Amortisation of intangible assets 2,409 405
EBITDA 60,188 27,811

*The Group use profit before interest and tax as the basis for calculating EBITDA. Including profit/loss from joint ventures and associates is
considerad appropriate given the Group has a number of jaint ventures as part of its operations.
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During the year the Gruup (including its overseas subsidianes) obtained the following services from the Company's auditors and

its associates:

2021 2020
£000s £000s

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the parent
Company and consolidated accounts 760 462
UK 110 88
Qverseas 130 150
1,000 700

Other fees:
Tax services - -
Other services - -
1,000 700
7. Otherincome
Group

2021 2020
£000s £000s
Government grants 2,123 4,908
Property income 229 194
Insurance income 246 -
Interest from overdue receivables 703 -
Royalty income - 259
Other income 591 -
3,892 5,362

During 2020 Mace received government grants to support the business with the impact of COVID-19. The main grant being £4.8m for the UK
Government Job Retention Scheme. £1.1m of this was repaid to clients because it related to employees whose salary cost is recharged to

clients. There were also similar COVID-19 support grants from other international governments.

There were some further amounts received for government grants in 2021 but the majority of Group government grants for 2021 relates to
forgiveness of a US Government loan. USD 2.7m US Government foan was received in 2020 to support business needs during the period of
the pandemic. The US government loan was recorded in short term loans and barrowings as at 31 December 2020. An application was
submitted in 2021 to grant forgiveness of the loan and this was approved an 14 June 2021. This was recognised in other income in 2621 to

caver payroll expenses thal were incurred over the period of 24 weeks from the grant date, as required in the conditions of the loan.

There are no unfulfilled conditions and contingencies in relation to the government grants and they were recognised in other income to match

the cost of salaries far employees.
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8. Interest

2021 2020

£000s £000s

Bank and other interest receivable 119 110

Interest receivable from joint venture 4,983 11,489

Tatal interest receivable 5102 11,599

Bond and other interest payable {5,853} (13,953)

Interest charge on financial liabilities {276) -

Interest on post-employment benefit obligation (167) -

Interest expense for lease arrangements {1,615) (1,682}
Total interest payable {7,911) {15,635)

Interest i3 charged on intercompany loans at a rate-based interest levels in the market, at the time the loan is taken out.

9. Directors’ remuneration

The total amount of directors’ remuneration in respect of their qualifying services are as below:

2020
2021 (Restated)
£000s £000s
Remuneration for managernent services (including benefits) 6,387 §,114
Performance related remuneration 1,098 1,362
Pension contributions 16 30
7,501 7.506
Pension contributions were made in respect of 3 directors (2020: 3).

Directors’ remuneration includes the following amounts in respect of the highest paid director of Mace Finance Limited:
2021 2020
£000s £000s
Remuneration for management services (including benefits) 886 674
Share based payments 1,502 932
2,388 1,606

The Directors are considered to be the only key management personnel.
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10, Staff costs and numbers

Staff costs were as follows:
Aggregate gross wages and salaries
Employer's social security costs
Other pension costs

Average monthly number of persons employead by the Group during the year:

Corporate suppart services
Project delivery staff

The total number of direct employees as at the reporiing date was:

11. Exceptional items

Pravision on lpan to joint venture
Software expense (nhote 31)

Exceptional loss

2021 2020
£000s £000s
456,308 346,513
37,497 30,343
29,830 24,444
523,635 401,300
EER 353
5,315 5,024
5,626 5377
6,054 5,396
Restated

2021 2020
£000s £000s
{9,983) {15,492)
{2,544) (1,588)
{12,527} {17,080)
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Restated
2021 2020
{a) Analysis of Group charge in year £000s £000s
Current tax
UK corporation tax at 19.00% (2020: 12.00%) - 729
Group refief payment {115) {5)
Adjustments in respect of previous periods (1,022) 469
(1,137 1,193
Foreign tax 8,225 7,301
Adjustments in respect of previous periods 672 (114)
Total current tax expense 7,760 8,380
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 1,157 (2,5886)
Impact of deferred tax rate movements on opening asset/liability (1,732) {423)
Adjustments in respect of previous periods 419 {461)
Total deferred tax expense {156) (3,469)
Total tax (note 12(b)) 7,604 4,911

{b) Factors affecting Group tax charge for year
The tax assessed for the period is higher than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (19.00%). The differences are explained

below:

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 38,272 16,740
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK

of 19.00% (2020: 18.00%) 7,272 3,181
Effects of:

Expenses/(income) not deductible/(taxable) for tax purpases 2,340 437
Non-taxable dividend income - 19
Non-taxable profit on disposal of investments {2,538) -
Group income - 48
Temporary differences not recognised in deferred tax 927 (65)
Group relief surrendered/{(claimed) (118) -
Increase in tax losses not recognised in deferred tax 20 130
Non-taxable foreign branch income 1) ()]
Different rates of tax on overseas earnings 1,383 2,360
Research and development expenditure charge/(credits) 32 (615)
Impact of deferred tax rate movements {1,785) (435)
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous years — UK taxation (603) 175
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous years - overseas taxation 672 (281)
Current tax charge for the year (note 12(a)) 7,604 4,911

Changes in tax rates

In the UK Budget on 3 March 2021, the Chancellor announced the intention to increase the UK corporate tax rate from the current rate of
19% ta 25%, effective fram 1 April 2023. As this change had been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, the impact of this change
has been reflected in the deferred tax assels and liabilities of the UK Group where the timing differences are expected to reverse after 1
April 2023,
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12. Tax on profit on ordinary activities {continued)

Group

Deferred tax assets

At 1 January 2020
{Charged)/credited to:
- Prafit and loss
- Equity
At 31 December 2020
(Charged)/credited to:
- Prafit and Ioss
- Equity
At 31 December 2021

Fixed asset

Short-term

temporary temporary Losses carried
differences differences forward Total
£000s £000s £000s £000s
1,253 2,205 1,028 4,486
177 2,938 513 3,628
(8) - (85) (83)
1,422 5,143 1,456 8,021
(106) (1.490) 1,820 224
- (69) (59) (124)
1,316 3,584 3,221 8,121

Deferred tax reported in equity relate to foreign exchange movements on deferred tax held in subsidiaries whose functional currency is not
the Group presentational currency {GBP). This movement is included in the retranslation gainfloss reported in the consolidated statement of

changes in equity.

Group

Deferred tax liabilities

At 1 January 2020
Charged/ {credited) to:

- Profit and loss
At 31 December 2020
Charged/ (credited) to:

- Profit and loss
Acqguisition of subsidiary
companies

At 31 December 2021

Company

Deferred tax assets

At 1 January 2020
(Charged)/credited to:

- Profit and loss
At 31 December 2020
(Charged)/credited to:

- Profit and loss
At 31 December 2021

Fixed asset Short-term
temporary temporary Losses carried
differences differences forward Total
£000s £000s £000s £000s
- 159 - 159
- 159 - 159
- 68 - 68
1,000 - - 1,000
1,000 227 - 1,227
Fixed asset Short-term
temporary temporary Losses carried
differences differences forward Total
£000s £000s £000s £000s
- 35 - 35
- 35 - 35
- 443 460 903
- 478 460 938
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13. Property, plant and equipment

Group

Cost

At 1 January 2020

Exchange differences

Additions

Reclassification

Disposals

At 31 December 2020

Exchange differences

Acquisition of subsidiary companies
Additions

Reclassification as asset held for sale
Reclassification

Disposals

At 31 December 2021

Depreciation and impairment

At 1 January 2020

Exchange differences

Charge for the year

Disposals

At 31 December 2020

Exchange differences

Charge for the year

Acquisition of subsidiary campanies
Reclassification as asset held for sale
Reclassification

Disposals

At 31 December 2021

Net book value

At 31 December 2021
At 31 December 2020
At 31 December 2019

Property Computer Plant, motor

Freehold  right of use Leasehold equipment & vehicles &
property assets improvements IT systems equipment Total
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
2,325 32,015 12,136 14,233 1,805 62,514
(98) (119) (16) (134) (29) (396)
- 976 - 1,752 79 2,807
- - - (72) 72 -
(973) - (331) {3,088) (305) {4,697)
1,254 32,872 11,789 12,691 1,622 60,228
12 (486) (7) (17) (16) (74)
- - - 53 43 96
- 3,098 718 2,182 85 6,063
- - (3) (28) (35) (69)
- - 110 - {110} -
- {3,625) (305) (4,852) (27) {8.809)
1,266 32,299 12,302 10,029 1,542 57,439
393 16,731 5,009 10,167 1,432 33,732
(19) (48) {28) (331) 1) {427)
50 3,075 77 2,625 100 6,630
- - (331) (3,087) (298) (3,716)
424 19,758 5421 9,374 1,242 36,219
4 (35) 1 (6} (14) {50)
48 3,230 783 2,212 17 6,380
- - - 20 22 42
- - 3 (27 (34) (84)
- - 107 - (107) -
- (2.876) (303) (4,849) (26) (8,054)
476 20,077 6,006 6,723 1,200 34,483
790 12,222 6,296 3,306 342 22,956
830 13,114 6,368 3,317 380 24,009
1,932 15,284 7127 4,066 373 28,782

The Group had capital commitments of £0.9m at 31 December 2021 (2020: £0.5m).

The Company did not own any property, plant and equipment,
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14. Intangible assets

Computer Assets Goodwill  Customer Brand Total

Group Software unfler relationships
construction
£000s £000s £000s £000s £600s £000s

Cost
At 1 January 2020 4,932 14,756 133,411 - - 183,099
Adjustment {note 31) - {4,344) - - - (4,344)
At 1 January 2020 (restated) 4,932 10,412 133,411 - - 148,755
Transfer 96 (96) - - - -
Additions (restated) 23 4,224 - - - 4,247
At 31 December 2020 {restated) 5,051 14,540 133,411 - - 153,002
Additions 2,397 1,642 - - - 4,039
Acquisition of subsidiaries - - 9,888 4,800 300 14,988
Reclassification 14,540 (14,540) - . - -
Reclassification to asset held for sale (note 25) - - (96) - - (96)
At 31 December 2021 21,988 1,642 143,203 4,800 300 171,933
Amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2020 1,022 - 2,111 - - 3,133
Adjustment {note 31) (239) - - - - (239)
At 1 January 2020 {restated) 783 - 2,111 - - 2,894
Charge for the year (restated) 405 - - - - 405
At 31 December 2020 {restated) 1,188 - 2,111 - - 3,299
Charge for the year 2,167 - - 200 42 2,409
At 31 December 2021 3,355 - 2,111 200 42 5,708
Net baok value
At 31 December 2021 18,633 1,642 141,092 4,600 258 166,225
At 31 December 2020 (restated) 3,863 14,540 131,300 - - 149,703
At 31 December 2019 (restated) 4,149 10,412 131,300 - - 145,861

The balance of assets under construction at the start of 2021 consisted of the costs associated with the rollout of Oracle Fusion across the
husiness as part of a new ERP system implementation. A significant proportion of the business went live with the ERP system on 1 January
2021 so the assets under construction were transferred to computer sofiware, and amortisation started from this date. The balance in assets
under construction at the end of the year relates to other software not yet in use at 31 December 2021.

The addition to goodwill relates to the acquisition in relation to the MaceTpm partnership. More details are included in the acquisition note 15.
Goodwill in relation to Mace Macro Technical Services LLC was reclassified to assets held for sale in the year. More information is included
in the held far sale note 25.

The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the CGUs as follows:

2021 2020
£000s £000s
Construct 52,240 52,240
Consult 77,672 67,784
Develop 7,240 7.240
Operate 3,940 4,036
141,092 131,300

The recoverable amount of each CGU has been determined by estimating its value in use by reference to the present value of forecast
revenue and the residual profits. The forecasts were prepared for commercial purposes and rely on specific assumptions and projections on
a CGU by CGU basis, using management's detailed knowledge and expectations of the outcome of each CGU. The projections were primarily
prepared using historic performance indicators, secured order book values and a comparison of the secured order boek to historic trends.
Fallowing a strategic review of the business in early 2021, the forecasts have been prepared on the basis of a five year strategy from 2022 to
2026 and subsequently the 2022 forecast is updated to align with the Group's budget. Terminal value is calculated based on the latest 2028
forecast with an assumed 2% grawth rate.

The forecasts are discounted using CGU specific post-tax rates that reflect the current market assessment of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the CGLU. The post-tax discount rate used as the starting point is based on the estimated weighted average cost of capital,
which has then been adjusted for a number of factors to determine the discount rate, including the risk-free rate in the UK and the inherent
risk of the forecast income streams included in the Group's cash flow projections. The analysis has been done primarily on the goodwill
attributed to each of the CGUs but also incorporates other intangible and tangible assets
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14. Intangible assets {(continued)
Construct CGU: A discount rate of 10,5% has been applied to the Construct CGU.
Consult CGU: A discount rate of 10.25% has been applied to the Consult CGU.
Develop CGU: A discount rate of 7.5% has been applied to the Develop CGLU.
Operate CGU: A discount rate of 10.5% has been applied to the Operate CGU.
Analysis at both Mace Limited and Mace Finance Limited using the 2026 Business Strategy forecasts does not indicate any need
for impairmant based on the goodwill carrying values as at 31 December 2021. Therefore, the Directors consider that na
impairment or further adjustment of the goodwill, other intangibles or tangible asset carrying value is necessary.
The Company did not own any intangible assets.
15. Acquisitions
On 6 August 2021, Mace announced a new strategic parinership in South East Asia, known as 'MaceTpm’ being a partnership
between Mace and Tenman Tpm. |n forming this partnership, Mace Consultancy {(Asia Pacific) Ltd, a subsidiary of Mace Limited,
acquired a 100% ownership of two Tenman Tpm entities based in Hang Keng and a Tenman Tpm entity based in the Philippines
for a £14.7m consideration, £1.8m of this was contingent consideration at acquisition and £5.4m was deferred consideration at
the year end. Goodwill of £9.9m was recognised on acquisition of the business. This partnership will be fully integrated within
Mace's Consult Engine and part of the Asia Pacific global hub, with operations in the Philippines, Singapore, Macau and Vietnam.
Goodwill represents the expected synergies from the strategic fit of the acquisition and the value of the expertise in the workfarce.
2021
Cash outflow in relation to the acquisition is presented below: £'000
Acquisition cost (14,695)
Less deferred and contingent consideration 7,157
Cash acquired 1,823
Transaclion costs 286
Net cash outflow from acquisition of subsidiaries (6,001)
Amounts recognised as at the acquisition date far each major class of assets and liabilities assumed: £'000
Non-current assels 5,153
Current assets 3,057
Cash & cash equivalents 1,823
Current liabilities {3,602)
Non-current liabilities {1,000)
Net assets acquired 5,431
Acquired receivables: Trade debtors Prepayments Other debtors Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Gross contractual amounts receivable 3813 105 164 4,082
Best estimate at the acquisition date of the contractual
cash flows not expected to be collected {1,025} - - (1,025)
Fair value of receivables 2,788 105 164 3,057
Revenue and profit or logs of the acquiree since the acquisition date included in the consolidated statement 2021
of comprehensive income for the year ending 31 December 2021: £'000
Revenue 3,233
Net profit 4438
Revenue and profit or loss of the combined entity for the current reporting period as though the acquisition
date for all business combinations that accurred during the year had been as of the beginning of the period
to 31 December 2021: £000
Revenue 8,808
Net profit 1,677
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16.

Disposal

On 22 February 2021, the Group disposed of its 100% interest in the entities in relation to the Cardiff and Exeter development,
within the Develop business, for gross consideration of £12.6m. These entities have not been classified as a discontinued
operations as they do not represent a major operation or geographical area of operations far the Group. Disposing of entities
was the structure of the arrangement to dispose of the campleted development assets that entities held.

On 16 December 2021, the Group disposed of its 65% interest in the Owners Association Management Business, within the
Operate Business, for a gross consideration of £0.3m. This entity has not been classified as discontinued operations as it does
not represent a major operation or geographical area of operations for the Group.

The gain on disposal is analysed as follows:
Proceeds

Net asset disposed (see below)
Transaction costs

Gain on disposal

Income tax expense on gain on disposal

The current year net cash flow effect of the disposal is
analysed as follows:

Proceeds

Less proceeds receivable

Less intercompany balances settled
Cash disposed

Transaction costs

Adjusted for transaction costs payable

Net disposal proceeds received

The major classes of assefs and liabilities disposed are
as follows:

Development work in progress
Trade and other receivables
Cash

Trade and ¢ther payables
Short term borrowings
Nan-controlling interest

Net assets disposed

Cardiff & Exeter

Mace Macro

Student Owners Total
Accommodation* Assaociation
Management Co-:

£000s £000s £000s
12,619 281 12,900
(5,451) (139) {5,590)
(1,200 (40) {1,240)
5,968 102 6,070
£000s £000s £000s
12,619 281 12,900
- (136) {136)

- (31) {31)
(2,657) (41) {2,698)
(1,200) (40) {1,240)
- 21 21

8,762 54 8,816
£000s £000s £000s
145,978 - 145,978
3,170 246 3,416
2,657 41 2,698
(52,032) {73) {52,105}
(94,322) - {94,322)
- (75) {75)
5451 139 5,590

* The legal entities disposed of as part of the Cardiff and Exeter student accommodation disposal included the following:

Graduation Exeter and Cardiff {Jersey) Limited
Graduation Exeter Retail Management Limited
Graduation Cardiff Retail Management Limited
Graduation Cardiff Management Limited
Graduation Exeter Management Limited

Mace Developments (Cardiff) Limited

Mace Developments (Exeter) Limited
Graduation Exeter (Phase 2) Limited
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17.  Joint arrangements

The Group has investments in a number of joint arrangements that are classified as joint ventures or joint operations, depending on the
nature of the investment, as described in the accounting policies note 1.

Joint ventures

The following represents the fotal results of joint ventures in which Mace has a parl share:

Dubai Expo 2020 Botley Mace Engenharia E Other joint Total
Servicos Ltda ventures and joint
operations

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Non-current assets - - - - 70 15 3 67 101 82
Current assets 2,636 3,238 133,920 146,822 4,136 5,755 2,474 2,097 143,166 157,912
Cash and cash equivalents 107 5,970 3,322 2,564 3,607 1,658 339 759 7,375 10,849
Current liabilities (1,601) (5,241) (88,823) (82,015 (6,726) (6,192) {2,403) {1,511)  (99,553) (94,959)
Non-current liabilities - - (69,848) (68,181) - - (2) (45) (69,850} (68,226)
Total 1,142 3,967  (21,429) (810) 1,087 1,134 439 1,367 {18,761} 5,658
Revenue 18,919 34,648 3,581 606 3,226 - 10,455 12,366 36,181 47,620
Expenses {12,350}  (23,267) (1,283) (243) {2,781) (224)  (10,280)  (11,931) (26,694) (35665)
Depreciation & amortisation - - - - - - {4) (6) 4) &)
Interest expense - - {6,945) {972) - - {1} - (6,946) (972)
Income tax - - - - - - (21) {2) {21) (2)
Profit/(loss) for the year 6,569 11,381 {4,647) (609) 445 {224 149 427 2,516 10,975

Dubai Expo 2020 is & joint venture within the Consult operations formed for the exclusive purpose of acting as Programme Management
Consultant to provide programme delivery management services for the Expo 2020 event, operating in Dubai. This was postponed due to
COVID-19, and consequently ran from October 2021 to March 2022. Mace has joint control with a 49% profit share and net asset agreement.
The arrangement is created as a separate vehicle so classified as a joint venture with the equity method of accounting applied.

Botley includes the Develop foint ventures Botley Developments (Holdings) Limited which owns BDC Phase 2 Ltd and The Baotley
Development Company Limited. These are separate legal entities, so the arrangement is classified as a joint venture of which Mace Ltd has
50% joint control with another party and has equal vating rights. The equity method of accounting has been applied.

The purpose of the Botley Development (Holdings) Limited is to undertake the development of the site in Oxford. The JV operates from the
UK and is an entity registered in England and Wales. The Botley Development Company Limited has raised its own development debt finance,
which has security over the assets. Botley Development (Holdings) Limited has raised shareholder debt finance from Mace Finance Limited.

Mace Engenharia E Servicos Ltda is a company incorporated under Angolan law with a registered office in Luanda. It has two shareholders,
Mace - Consultoria e Gestdo de Projectos e Construgéo, Lda which holds a 47% share, and Engiservices Engenharia e Servigos Lda, which
holds a 53% share. This company embodies an exclusive parinership agreement between the parties to provide professional engineering
services under the Mace brand in Angola. It is part of the Consuit operations of Mace. Under the Shareholders’ Agreement there is joint controf
and alt forms of decision making require unanimous agreement between the shareholders. The arrangement is classified as a joint venture,
and the equity method of accounting has been applied.

Joint operations

Mace Dragados JV is an unincorporated joint operation within the Consult aperations formed for the exclusive purpase of contracting with
the client for the HS2 project in the UK. Mace Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, has joint control, afong with Dragados SA,
and recognises a 50% share of income and expenses in the consolidated income statement and 50% share of assets and liabilities in the
balance sheet. Both parties in the arrangement are jointly and severally liable under the HS2 contract.

Jaint arrangements are listed in note 33.
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18. Investments Joint ventures & Other Total
associates investments

Group £000s £000s £000s
Cost less provisions
At 31 December 2020 2,676 10,116 12,792
Exchange differences 72 - 72
Additians - 2,882 2,882
Share of post-acquisition profit after tax 2,999 - 2,999
Dividends received (4,408) - {4,406)
At 31 December 2021 1,341 12,998 14,339

Additions to other investments relates to additional contributions by City Fringe in the investment in Finsbury Tower. The equity was
raised in proportion to the existing equity subscription, so the Mace share in the investment remained at 8.1%.

Company Subsidiaries
£000s

Cost less provisions

At 31 December 2020 141,604

Additions 4,507

At 31 December 2021 146,111

The emplaoyee benefit trust is consolidated into the accounts of Mace Finance Limited and made an investment in a newly
incarporated entity, Clove Investments Holdings Limited in the year, The addition in 2021 relates to this investment.
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19.

Trade and other receivabies

Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Employee benefit trust loan
Prepayments

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables

Contract assets

Contract raceivables

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings
Amounts owed by joint ventures and assaciates
Loans to directors

Loan receivable

Loan interest receivable

Cash collateral

Other debtors

Other taxation and social security receivables

Prepayments

Group Company
Restated

2021 2020 2021 2020
£000s £000s £000s £000s
- - 2,800 2,800
1,199 1,798 - .
1,199 1,798 2,800 2,800
167,119 151,287 - -
104,817 86,686 - -
116,600 61977 - -
- - 2,274 3.231
1,726 3,154 - -
1,496 1,990 1,496 1,969
1,250 900 - -
314 41 - -
1,975 - - -
54,224 46,129 777 793
7,005 12,875 135 -
10,318 10,335 - -
466,844 378,374 4,682 5,893

Retentions will be collected in the normal operating cycle of the Group and are therefare shown in current receivables. £41.2m (2020:

£40.5m) of the retention receivable is due in mare than ane year,

The reason for the increase in contract assets from 2020 to 2021 is due to an increase in sales retentions across construction
projects. The value of the sales retention depends on the stage of the project at the balance sheet date and the size of the project.

Other tax and social security was previously presented as par of the current tax asset on the balance sheet but has been reclassified
to trade and other receivables in 2021, including the 2020 comparative.

Debtors past and overdue

Trade receivables not past due

Trade receivables past due 1-30 days
Trade receivables past due 31-60 days
Trade receivables past due over 60 days
Gross trade receivables

Less provision for expected credit losses

Trade debtors

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£000s £000s £000s £000s
124,606 130,241 - -
19,087 12,327 - .
19,437 5,803 - -
8,311 5,987 - -
171,441 154,358 - -
{4,322)  (3,071) - -
167,119 151,287 - -
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20, Development work in progress and loan to joint venture
Restated
2021 2020
£000s £000s
Work in progress 6,058 4,042
Finished goods 6,485 178,546
Development work in progress 12,543 182,588
Loan to joint venture 85,827 79,094
Provision on loan 1o joint venture (25,475) {15,492)
Development lcan to joint venture 60,352 63,602

Work in progress on development schemes includes £0.6m of capitalised interest during the year (2020: £9.2m). £30.4m work in
progress was expensed as cost of sales in the periad (2020 restated: £87.6m). Some of the wark in progress was disposed of as
part of the sale of the entities that owned the Cardiff and Exeter development. Mare details included in the disposal note 16.

21, Trade and other payables

Group Company

ma el Rl
£000s £000s £000s £000s

Amounts fatling due within one year:
Trade payables 85,160 139,214 - -
Contract liabilities 195,827 218,623 - -
Other creditors 29,011 4,401 40 3
Amounts due to subsidiaries - - 115,739 89,962
Amounts due to joint ventures and associates 124 115 - -
Amounts owed to directors - 6,500 - -
Aceruals for land acquisition - 10,831 - -
Accruals 303,550 234 177 1,738 58
Other taxation and social security payables 92,726 77,917 252 1,279
Post-employment benefi liability 9,737 5,844 - -
716,135 697,622 117,769 91,302

Contract liabilities includes deferred income and amounts payable on construction contracts.
Retentions will be paid in the normal operating cycle of the Group and are therefore shown in current payables.

Deferred consideration relates to the acquisition of Tenman Tpm subsidiaries. This was paid in January 2022. More details on the
acquisition can be found in the acquisition note 15.

£127m of Graup revenue recognised in the period (2020: £109m) was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the
year.

Group contract liabilities have increased as a result of more income being deferred in 2021 in relation to large construction projects
which are in early stages. Advance payments on these projects are deferred and the income will be recognised when further costs
are incurred,

Other tax and social security was previously presented as part of the current tax liability an the balance sheet but has been reclassified
to trade and other payables in 2021, including the 2020 comparative.
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21, Trade and othar payables (continued)

Reconciliation of post-amplayment benefit obligation: Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£000 £000 £000 £000
Post-emplayment benefit obligation at 1 January 2021 5,844 3,827 - -
Reclassification 3,341 - - -
Change in assumptions 921 1,752 - -
Service cost 1,718 1,964 - -
Interest cost 197 - - -
Liability utilised (2,463) (1.485) - -
Actuarial loss 91 -
Exchange difference 88 (214 - -
Post-employment benefit obligation at 31 December 2021 9,737 5,844 - -

*The reclassification balance in 2021 represents gratuity provisions in other entities in the Group, that were previously recognised
within accruals.

Post-employment benefit obligation remeasurement:

Liability gain due to changes in assumptions (412) - - -
Liability experience loss arising during the year 503 - - -
Total actuarial loss recognised in other comprehensive a1 B R i}
income
Exchange difference 88 (214) - -
Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income in . _
the year 176 (214)
Post-employment benefit obligation future cash flows:
Expected benefits paid by the plan for the next financial year {1,391) (2.463) - -
Consult:
Amount, timing and uncertainty of post-employment
benefit obligation future cash flows:
Sensitivity 1 - discount rate plus 0.5% - % difference in post- 4.5% 4.9% . }
employment benefit obligation : ’
Sensitivity 2 - discount rate minus 0.5% - % difference in 4.9% 5 39 . R
post-employment benefit obligation ' :
Sensitivity 3 - salary growth rate plus 0.5% - % difference in o 5

e 5.2% 5.6% - -
post-employment benefit obligation
Sensitivity 4 - salary growth rate minus 0.5% - % difference in 4.8% -5.39% ; )
post-employment benefit obligation : :
Post-employment benefit obligation assumptions:
Discount rate 2.59% 2.18% - -
Rate of compensation increase 3.00% 3.00% - -
Plan duration (years) 1012 10.68 - -
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21.

Trade and other payables {continued)

Operate:

Amount, timing and uncertainty of post-employment
benefit obligation future cash flows:

Sensitivity 1 - discount rate plus 0.5% - % difference in post-
employment benefit obligation

Sensitivity 2 - discount rate minus ©.5% - % difference in
post-employment benefit obligation

Sensitivity 3 - salary growth rate plus 0.5% - % difterence in
post-employment benefit obligation

Sensitivity 4 - salary growth rate minus 0.5% - % difference in
post-employment benefit obligation

Post-employment benefit obligation assumptions:
Discount rate

Rate of compensation increase

Plan duration (years)

Group
2021 2020
£000 £000
-4.5% -4.8%
4.9% 5.2%
5.0% 5.4%
-4.6% -5.0%
2.81% 2.45%
3.00% 3.00%
10.21 10.71

Company
2021 2020
£0600 £000

The assumplions used differ between Consult and Operate as they are based on the staff profile in these businesses and locations where
the benefit is paid. The duration of the plan liabilities relates to the weighted average timing at which the End of Service Benefit payments
are expected ta occur. This is a result of the actuarial projections and depends on the profile of the membership data, mainly age, salary

and service, and on the assumption, basis adopted, mainly the normal retirement age and turnover rates.

22, Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions
Provisions primarily include fand overage payment and construction insurance liabilities. The construclian insurance liabilities are principally
legal claims and costs, where provision is made for the directors’ best estimate of known legal claims, investigations and legal actions in
progress.

Group
£000s

Company
£000s

At 31 December 2020

Restatement (note 31)

78,181
6,134

At 31 Decembar 2020 (Restated)
Unused amaunts reversed
Utilised provisions

Additional provisions

84,315
{3,313)
(9,712)
24,856

At 31 December 2021

96,146

It is anticipated that amounts provided for will be utilised as follows:

Due within one year
Due after one year

Group

2021
£000s

Restated
2020
£000s

2021
£000s

Company

2020
£000s

12,483
83,663

84,315

96,146

84,315

In relation to the amounts included in provisions, £34.1m (2020: £29.3m) of expected reimbursement is included within other debtors in note

18.
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22. Pravisions, contingent liabilities and cantingent assets (continued)

Contingent liabilities

The Company is party to a Group liability arrangement with its principal bankers providing a right of set-off of all Group balances. Whilst certain
Group companies have overdrawn balances, at 31 December 2021 there was no net Group indebtedness to its bankers and therefore the
directors consider no contingency arises.

In addition to bonds for construction projects we also have a number of bonds for a variety of other purposes such as project management
assignments internationally and guarantees.

Provisions are made using the directors’ best judgements and estimates of known legal claims, investigations and legal actions relating to the
Group which are considered more likely than not to result in an outflow of economic benefit. If the directors consider that a claim, investigation
or action relating to the Group is unlikely to succeed, no provision is made. If the Directors cannot make a reliable estimate of a potential,
material obligation, ho provision is made but details of the claim are disclosed as contingent liabilities. At 31 December 2021 the Mace Finance
Lirnited Company and Group had no contingent liabilities in refation to claims {2020: £nil).

Contingent assets

The Group had contingent assets of £15.4m (2020: £15.7m) in relation to claims against third-parties for the reimbursement of costs on
canstruction contracts relating to 6 ongoing matters (2020: 5).

Under IAS 37 these amounts may only be recognised when the economic benefit arising from the claims is virtually certain. it is probable that
these amounts will be recognised in future periods when the uncertainty over their recoverability has been remaved.

23. Financial liabilities

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£000s £000s £000s £000s
Amounts dua within one year:
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign currency exchange contracts 1,511 - - -
Acquisition forward hiability 602 _ _ _
Acquisition contingent liability 117 _ ) R
2,320 - - -
Amounts due after more than one year:
Acquisition farward liability 4,808 _ _ _
Acquisition contingent liability 1,518 _ _ _
6,418 - - -
24. Lease liabilities & borrowings
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£000s £000s £000s £000s
Due within one year:
Bank overdraft 40,032 14,065 - -
Lease liabilities 5,180 4.953 _ :
Bank loan for development projects . 94,321 . ,
Government loan _ 1,962 _ -
Directors’ loans (note 29) N 2,893 _ _
45,212 118,204 - -
Due within two to five years:
Lease liabilities 17,777 19,529 _ _
Corporate bond - 120,000 - -
17,777 139,529 - -

See the section on capital risk management in the financial risk nate for further details of the corporate bond and external borrowings.
Interest is charged on these borrowings at between 6-8%.
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25,

26,

Assets and liabilities held for sale

Mace Macro Technical Services LLC entity is a subsidiary of the Group that was reclassified to held for sale on 15 June 2021, with

the expectation that this would be sold within 12 months.

The held for sale assets and liabilities held at the year end relate to an investment in subsidiary that is nat a major line of business or
geographical area of operations for the Group and was not acquired exclusively with the view to resale. It is therefore not classified

as a discontinued operation.

Assets of a disposal group classified as held for
sale:

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Trade and other receivables
Current tax assets

Cash at bank

Liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for
sale;

Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities

Statement of comprehensive income:
Mace Macro Technical Services LLC

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit
Administrative expenses

Operating profit

Finance costs

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Income tax

Profit

On 15 August 2022, the Group disposed of Mace Macro Technical Services LLC for consideration of £0.8m resulting in a gain on

disposal of £0.6m.

Share capital and reserves

Group and Campany:

Allotted, cafled up and fully paid
Ordinary shares at 0.01p each
Ordinary A shares at 0.01p each

At 31 December 2020 and 2021

The A QOrdinary shares have no vating rights. If approved in writing by holders of not less than 80% of the Ordinary shares, a dividend

may be paid on the 'A' Ordinary shares.

The following transactions took place during the year:

700,000 Ordinary shares were purchased and cancelled for a cost of £13,808m.

2021 2020
£000s £000s
1 -

96 -
578 -

3 -

254 -
932 -
2021 2020
£000s £000s
(631) -
{145) -
(776) -
2021 2020
£000s £000s
3,675 4,049
{3,099) (3,454)
576 585
{(90) {174)
486 421
7 (4)
479 417
479 417

2021 2020
Number of Ordinary Number of Ordinary
shares shares value shares shares value
£000s £000s
8,800,000 1 9,500,000 1
6,840,000 1 9,960,000 1
15,640,000 2 19,460,000 2

3,120,000 Ordinary A shares were purchased and cancelled for a cost of £312.
600,000 Ordinary shares were purchased for £13.524m and transferred to freasury shares.

The impact of the repurchase and cancellation of shares on equity balances is presenied in the statement of changes in equity.

Cancellation of shares was at nominal value.

Details of post year end share transactions are included in note 32.
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26.

27.

Share capital and reserves (continued)

Reserves:

The foreign exchange reserve holds gains and lasses on the re-translation of subsidiaries denominated foreign currencies.

Retained earnings movement relates to the profit and loss result of the year as weli as distribution of dividends.

Own shares held by the Employee Benefit Trust are deducted from equity and the shares are held at histarical cost until they are sold.
Equity settled share based payment transactions are recorded in the share based payment reserve.

Share based payments

As part of the arrangements constituting the MBQO of January 2014, 1,850,000 ordinary shares were issuved at par to an Employee
Benefit Trust controlled by the Company. The purpose of the issue was to enable the Group to incentivise directors and eligible
employees by granting them shares or options over the shares. At 31 December 2021, 1,465,889 {2020: 1,465 889) shares had been
granted. Share based payment charges arising from share options, restricted share issues and unrestricted share issues relating to
directors of the Company have been charged to the statement of comprehensive income and disclosed within directors’ remuneration
in note 9.

Share Option Scheme

The Group's share option scheme was created in 2014 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible
employees. Under the scheme, the board of directors of the Company may grant opticns over shares in the Company held by the EBT
ta eligible employees of the Group, including directors. In November 2014 options were issued over 170,187 shares to seven individuals.
Mo consideratian was payable on the grant of an option, Options may be exercised once certain conditions have been met.

The right to exercise expires on the 10th anniversary of the date of the grant of the option. A further 40,000 options were granted in
2017 to 2 individuals. The fair value of the options granted was calculated using the Black Schales Model and included the fallowing
inputs:

2017 2014
Exercise price £0.78 £1.07
Expected volatility 29.05% 50.96%
Option life 5 years 5 years
Expected dividends 3.47% 8.89%
Risk free interest rate 0.57% 1.32%

The fair value was recognised over the vesting period which was estimated as 5 years. The charge in 2021 amounted to £76,977 (2020:
£83,975). The prior year charge has been recognised in the current year. Since these options were granted to employees of Mace
Limited, the amount was recharged as an employment cost to Mace Limited.

Unrestricted shares

In 2020, 100,000 shares owned by the EBT were awarded unconditionally to an individual for £nil consideration. The shares were
valued at £6 per share based an market conditions at the time of issue. The award of these shares was accounted for as a share based
payment in the year in 2020 and, as there were no conditions, the whaole value was charged to the prafit and loss at the date of grant.
This charge, amounting to £600,000 was included in administrative expenses and as the award was made to a director, have been
included in director's remuneration in note 9.

Restricted shares

In November 2014, the Company issued 434,813 restricted shares ta 5 individuals for nil consideration. The restrictions denoted that,
until certain conditions were met, the shares could not be voted or receive a dividend and would only participate in surpius assets on a
sale with approval of the directors. The right to receive unrestricted shares expires on the tenth anniversary of the grant date of the
shares. The fair value of the shares issued was determined using the same data as the options granted under the CSOP scheme dealt
with above and amounted to £1.44 per share. The fair value was recognised over the period frem the grant to the lifting date of the
restrictions which was estimated as 5 years.

In January 2019, the ultimate company unconditionally removed restrictions on 143,925 of the shares issued in November 2014, As a
resuit, the share based payment charge was accelerated. A further charge was recognised in profit and loss, calculated as the increase
in fair value arising from the removal in restriction. This amounted to a further £0.36 per share and was whally recognised in the 2019.
The tatal charge in respect of all restricted share charges amounted to £109,961 which was included in administrative expenses. Qf the
original 2014 award, $6,963 still had restrictions at the end of 2020 and 2021.

In August 2020 and December 2020, two further tranches of restricted shares were issued for £nil consideration, valued at £6 and £18
per share respectively based on other arm's length transactions performed closest to the dates of issue. The shares are subject to the
same restrictions on voting rights and dividends and subject to performance conditions relating to Group financial performance. Unlike
the previous restricted awards, these awards will be accounted for at their full value at the point of issue and over the performance
condition vesting period, a portion of which fell in the current year. A charge of £1,501,989 (2020: £332,386) has been included in
agministrative expenses and as the awards were made to a director, have been included in direcior's remuneration in note 9.

Details of post year end employee benefit trust transactions are included in note 32.
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28. Notes to the cash flow statement

Group reconciliation of operating activities to operating cash flows

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before finance costs

Adjustments for:

Profit on disposal of fixed assetls

Profit on lease amendments

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

Acquisition costs

({Profit)loss on disposal of investments

Share of net profits of jeint ventures
Revaluation to fair value

Movement on provisions

Income from government grants

Share based payments

Other non-cash movements

Foreign exchange - retransiation

Cash flows before changes in warking capital

Working capital changes:

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Decrease in work in progress

Increase in trade payables

Government grants and loan
{Increase)/decrease in working capital

Income taxes paid
Net finance costs
Net cash inflows from operating activities

Reconciliation of changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Opening financing liabilities at 1 January
Repayment of borrowings

New borrawings

Lease payments

Interest charge on leases

Net financing cash flow

Exchange differences on leases

Disposal of subsidiaries

Fargiveness of government loan

Lease additions

Lease disposals

Capitalised interest

Fair value movement on derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
Financing liabilities at 31 December

Restated
2021 2020
£000s £000s
41,081 20,776
6 - (100)
(273) -
13 6,395 6,630
14 2,409 405
15 295 -
16 (6,070) 13
18 (2,599) (5,776)
207 (1,517
34,165 74,897
6 (2,100) (3,695)
1,666 932
(354) -
4,164 {4,236)
78,173 88,329
(88,674} 8,404
24,421 66,141
57,718 42,600
144 3,695
(6,391} 120,840
(5,840} (3,452)
{11,666} (25,193}
54,276 180,524
2021 2020
£000s £000s
242,920 345 116
(123,044) (106,273
- 8,407
(5.181) (5,149)
8 1,615 1,682
116,310 (101,333
(12) (81)
(94,322) -
{1,862) -
3,085 1,044
(1,021) -
151 466
2,259 (2,292)
24,468 242,920
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28.

29.

Notes 10 the cash flow statement

Liabilities represented hy:

Directors’ loans
Government loan
Bank borrowings and corporate bond

Lease liabilities
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments: Foreign currency
exchange contracts

Financing liabilities at 31 Decembar

Net cash reconciliation

Short term lease liabilities and borrowings
Long term lease liabilities and borrowings
Less: lease liabilities

Cash at bank

Net cash

Related party transactions

Group

Transactions between the Group and its joint ventures:

Trading transactions
Sales
Purchases

Non-trading transactions
Dividends received
Interest receivable

24
24
24
24

24
24

Balances between the Group and its joint ventures can be found in notes 19-21.

2021 2020
£000 £'000
- 2,893
- 1,962
- 214,322
22,957 24,491
1,511 (748)
24,468 242,920
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
(45,212) (118,204)
(17.777) (139,529)
22,957 24 491
166,731 258,714
126 699 25,472
2021 2020
£000s £000s
9,656 13,012
(126) (92)
4,406 5,821
4,983 5,494

During the prior year, a company owned by Mark Reynolds, purchased three apariments from Mace Developments (Greenwich)

Limited for £1,135,000 in aggregate.

Loans from directors

At 31 December 2020, the Group had borrowings of £2,892 503 from Jonathan Mark Holmes and Mark Reynolds, these borrowings
were paid in full during the year. These laans were shart term and are at commercial rates for develapment funding purposes.

At 31 December 2020 there was an amount of £6,500,000 owed to director recorded as part of trade and other payables. This relates

to the amount owed in respect of repayment of the loan 1o Jonathan Mark Holmes which was paid in 2021.

Loans to directors

Directors overdrawn loan accounts included in receivables (note 19} are loans owing from directors which are repayable on exercise
of their share options. S455 tax has been provided in respect of these director overdrawn loans, These loans are not interest hearing.
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30. Leases

The Group holds property leases for offices in the UK and Internationally. The most significant property lease is for the Group’s head office in
Maoargate, London. The Group also has short term leases for motor vehicles.

The Group acted as a lessor in the pericd and received rental income for student accommaodation and a retail unit.

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£000s £000s £000s £000s
Income in relation to leasing 1,474 4413 - -
Maturity of lease receivables:
Lease receivables to the date of disposal are detailed below:
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£000s £000s £000s £000s
Due within 1 year 187 1,420 - -
Due within 2-5 years 664 664 - -
Due in more than § years 7 180 - -
Total 858 2,264 - -
Cash flows in relation to leases:
Cash inflow in relation to leases where Mace is the lessor 1.474 4.333 R B
Cash outflows in relation to leases where Mace is the lessee {5,217} (5,073) - -
Net cash outflow (3,743) (740) - _

The principal element of the lease payment is included in financing activities and the interest component is included in operating activities, in the
cash flow statement.

Other disclosures:

Analysis of the right-of-use assets on the balance sheet is included in the property, plant & equipment note 13.

Analysis of the lease liabilities an the balance sheet is included in the lease liabilities and borrowings note 24 and the related interest charge in
the interest note 8.

The maturity analysis of the lease liabilities is presented in the financial risk management note 3.

In addition to the closing lease liabitity at the year end, the Group also has commitments for leases that are short term. The expense incurred in
relation to these leases is disclosed in the operating profit note 6.

Commitments and future cash outflows in relation to lease expenses are expected to be in line with the annual expense disclosed for the year
ending 31 December 2021, as reported in the operating profit and EBITDA note 6.
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31. Prior year and reclassification adjustments

A. Software as a Service change in accounting policy
During the year, the Group updated the accounting policy on Intangible assets following the IFRIC interpretation on accounting for configuration
of customisation costs in cloud computing or software as a service arrangement (SaaS), under 1AS 38. Under the new policy some of the
items that were previcusly capitalised on balance sheet and amortised, would instead be recognised as an expense in the profit and loss. The
prior period comparatives have been restated in line with the new policy.

B. Provision for overage land payment
The Develop business identified an adjustment of £6.13m relating to overage land payment in a development contract where there is an
ahligation for the Group to pay overage in relation to the land element on completion of the scheme. The current obligation had been
underprovided and needs 10 be recognised as cost of sales based on the units sold and therefare this has been recarded as prior year
adjustment.

* Presentation of tax balances on statement of financial position

During the year, the Group updated the accounting policy on presentation of tax balances related to other taxes and social security costs.
Under the new policy, current tax asset and current tax liabiiity represents corporation tax balances, while other taxes and social security is
disclesed within trade and other receivables and trade and other payables balance. The prior period comparatives have been restated in line
with the new palicy.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

As
Previously

Reported Restated
31 December Effect of Effect of 31 December
2020 Adjustment A Adjustment B 2020
£000s £000s £000s £000s
Group revenue 1,730,512 - - 1,730,512
Cost of sales (1,580,833) - (1,534) (1,682,367)
Gross profit 149,679 - (1,534) 148,145
Administrative expenses {125,337) 114 - {125,223)
Other income 5,362 - - 5,362
E@;ti:l;i.%netr"lir\::zs:ll)assels measured at 3,809 _ ) 3.809
Operating profit before exceptional items 33,513 114 {1,534) 32,093
Exceptional items (15,492) (1,588) - {17,080)
Operating profit 18,021 (1,474) (1,5634) 15,013
Share of profit of associates and joint ventures 5,776 - - 5,776
Loss on dispasal of a subsidiary {13) - - (13)
Profit on ordinary activities before interest 23,784 (1,474) (1,534) 20,778
Finance income 11,599 - - 11,599
Finance costs {15,635) - - (15,635)
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 19,748 (1,474) {1,534) 16,740
Income tax expense (4,911) - - (4.911)
Praofit from continuing operations 14,837 (1,474) {1,534) 11,829

Profit for the year attributable for
Owners of the parent 14,630 (1,474) {1,534) 11,622
Nan-controlling interest 207 - - 207
14,837 (1,474) {1,534) 11,829
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31. Prior year and reclassification adjustments (continued)

Consolidated statement of financial position

As
Previously
Reported Effect of Effect of Restated
31 December Adjustment Adjustment Tax 31 December
2020 A B Presentation 2020
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 24,009 - - - 24,009
Intangible assets 155,305 (5,602) - - 149,703
Deferred tax asset 8,021 - - - 8,021
Investments in joint ventures 2,676 - - - 2,676
Other investments 10,116 - - - 10,116
Trade and other receivables - 1,798 - - 1,798
200,127 {3,604) - - 196,323
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 364,893 600 - 12,876 378,374
Development loan to joint venture 63,602 - - - 63,602
Development work in progress 181,975 - 613 - 182,588
Derivative assets 748 - - - 748
Current tax assets 14,803 - - (12,878) 1,927
Cash at bank 258,714 - - - 258,714
884,740 600 613 - 885,953
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables (619,705) - - (77,917) (697,622)
Current tax liabilities {83,808) - - 77,917 (5,389)
Lease liabilities & borrowings (118,204) - - - (118,204)
(821,215) - - - (821,215)
Net current assets 63,525 600 613 - 64,738
Total assets less current liabilities 263,852 (3,204) 613 - 261,061
Non-current liabilities
Provisions {78,181) - (6,134) - (84,315)
Lease liabilities & borrowings (138,529) - - - (139,529)
Deferred tax liabilities (159) - - - {159)
Net assets 45,783 (3,204) (5,521) - 37,058
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 2 - - - 2
Share based payment 10,735 - - - 10,735
Own shares (850) - - - (850)
Accumulated reserves 34,208 (3,204) (5,521) - 25,483
Equity shareholders’ funds 44,905 (3,204) (5,521) - 35,370
Non-controlling interests 1,688 - - - 1,688
45,783 (3.204) (5,521) - 37.058
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31. Prior year and reclassification adjustments (continued)

Consolidated statement of cash flows

As Raported Restated
Year Ended Effact of Year Ended
31 December Adjustment 31 Dacember
2020 A 2020
£000s £000s £000s
Cash flows from operating activities 182,135 (1,611) 180,524
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (7,689) 1,611 (6,078)
Acquisition of subsidiaries {167) - (167)
Disposal of subsidiaries - - -
Acquisition of investments - - -
Dividends from joint ventures and associates 5,821 - 5,821
Proceeds from disposals of fixed asset 1,081 - 1,081
Change in cash within assets held for sale - - -
Net cash used in investing activities {954) - 657
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to Company shareholders {1,225) - (1,225)
Share redemption {4,500) - (4,500)
Increase in borrowings 8,407 - 8,407
Repayment of borrowings and lease liabilities {109,740) - (109,740)
Net cash movement from financing
activities (107.058) - (107,058}
Net increase in cash 74,123 - 74,123
Cash at bank and bank overdrafts at beginning
of year 169,971 - 169,971
Effects of currency translation on cash at bank
and bank overdrafts 555 - 555
Cash at bank and bank overdrafts at end of
year 244.649 - 244,649
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31. Prior year and reclassification adjustments (continued)

Consolidated statement of financial position

As
Previously
Reported Effect of Effect of Restated
31 December Adjustment Adjustment Tax 31 December
2019 A B Presentation 2019
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 28,782 - - - 28,782
Intangible assets 149,966 {4,105) - - 145,861
Deferred tax asset 4,486 - - - 4,486
Investments in joint ventures 3,072 - - - 3,072
Other investments 8,600 - - - 8,600
Trade and other receivables - 1,800 - - 1,800
201,808 {2,205) - - 192,701
Current assots
Trade and other receivables 393,412 475 - (1,758) 392,129
Develepment loan to joint venture 57,917 - - - 57,917
Development work in progress 237,403 - 2,147 - 239,550
Current tax assets 6,338 - - 1,758 8,096
Cash at bank 202,281 - - - 202,281
897,351 475 2147 - 899,573
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables (595,161) - - (33,733) {628,893)
Provisions (29,188) - - - (29,188)
Financial liabilities {1,544) - - - (1,544)
Current tax liabilities (42,123) - - 33,733 (8,390)
Lease liabilities & borrowings (134,098) - - - {134.,098)
(802,113) - - - {802,113)
Net current assets 95,238 475 2,147 - 97,860
Total assets less current liabilities 260,144 (1,730) 2,147 - 290,561
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables (10,831) - - - (10.831)
Provisions - - {6,134) - (6,134)
Lease liabilities & borrowings (241,784) - - - (241,784)
Net assets 37,529 {1,730) {3,987) - 31,812
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 2 - - - 2
Share based payment 9,803 - - - 9,803
Own shares (1,228) - - - (1,228)
Accumulated reserves 27,147 {1,730) {3,987) - 21,430
Equity shareholders® funds 35,724 {1,730) (3,987) - 30,007
Non-contralling interests 1,805 - - - 1,805
37,529 {1,730} (3,987) - 31,812
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32. Post balance sheet events

Share transactions
After the year end, the following share based transactions have occurred:

Ordinary shares;

. On 14 March 2022 Mace Finance Limited undertook a share-buy of 50,000 ordinary shares from the EBT of £0.0001 each for an agreed
consideration. The shares were subsequently cancelled.

. On 14 March 2022 Mace Finance Limited made an allotment of 50,000 ordinary shares of £0.0001 each for an agreed consideration to
a Director as part of its incentive programme.

«  On 18 May 2022 Mace Finance Limited undertook a disposal of 600,000 treasury shares of £0.0001 each following the share buy back
which accurred on 25 January 2021.

«  On 5 April 2022 having met the performance criteria under a Restricted Share Award 100,000 ordinary shares of £0.0001 each were
awarded from the EBT to a Director. These were accounted for as a share based payment.

. On 31 August 2022 having met the performance criteria under a Restricted Share Award 100,000 ordinary shares of £0.0001 each were
awarded from the EBT to a Director. These were accounted for as a share based payment.

e On 31 August 2022 Mace Finance Limited approved the transfer of 300,000 ordinary shares of £0.0001 each from a current Shareholder
on his exit from the business to the remaining Shareholders. The shares were allocated pro-rata. Mace Finance Limited will facilitate
payment by taking receipt of the consideration from the individual Shareholders and making one payment to the exiting Sharehalder.

Ordinary A Shares:

. On 15 August 2022 Mace Finance Limited carried out an exercise ta tidy up the shareholdings for Mace Finance Limited resulting in the
share buyback and cancelation of all Ordinary-A shares classed as non-equity with no voting rights. The shares were acquired at par
which resulted in an accumulated cost to the Company of £684.00. The shares were subsequently cancelled.

The issued Ordinary share capital as at 31 December 2021 was 8,800,000 ordinary shares and at the date of these statements is 8,200,600
Ordinary shares.

Procurement of new committed liquidity facilities
The ultimate parent company, Mace Finance Limited, entered into new banking arrangements in January 2022. Details are included in the
financial risk management note 3.

Alignment of staff employment to Engine
We have wanted to align the employment of our people to the division they work for. During 2021, we ensured each Engine of Growth
(Division of Mace)} has a top legal entity:

» Mace Develop Limited,

- Mace Consult Limited;

. Mace Construct Limited,

+  Mace Operate Limited.

On 1 April 2022, reflecting the Engine that our people work far, we moved the employment of mare than 3,500 of our people from the Company
to one of the four top legal entities for the Engines.

Disposal of subsidiary
Details of the disposal of Mace Macro Technical Services LLC are included in the held for sale note 25,

Chief Financial Officer resignation
Richard Bienfait, Mace's Chief Financial Officer, resigned in August 2022 and stepped down from his role with immediate effect. Richard left
Mace to pursue other opportunities. A search for a permanent CFO is being undertaken.

War in Ukraine

Mace has assessed whether the situation in the Ukraine will have an effect on the business and has specifically loaked at the risks and
uncertainties facing the business. Given the nature of the business and its geographical location and customer base, the impact is not
expected to be material or significant.

Termination of construction project

In February 2022 a contract for an overseas construction project was cancelled by the client through a termination for convenience. This
termination occurred in February 2022 and is a hon-adjusting paost balance sheet event under IAS10. The termination has however resulted
in the local entity, Mace International Construction (Belgium) BV, no longer being considered a going concern under IAS1 because it is no
longer actively trading. This does above not have a material effect on the Group’s financial statements overall and does not therefore impact
the going concern status of the Group overall. The range of potential outcomes from the termination and ongoing negotiations is large and
uncertain so it is not currently possible to estimate them accurately for disclosure here.
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33.

List of joint ventures, joint operations and associate undertakings

The following is a list of joint ventures and associate entities of Group.

Develop
Company Country of Tax Residency Voting Nature of business
registration/ rights
incorporation
8DC Phase 2 Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 50 Develop
Botley Dewvelopments (Holdings) Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 50 Develop
Botley DevManCeo Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 50 Develop
Commercial Road Development Management Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 50 Develop
Mace Develop Latimer {Stevenage) LLP* United Kingdom United Kingdom 50 Develop
Mace Develop Latimer (Stevenage) Plot A LLP* United Kingdom United Kingdom 50 Develop
Mace Develop Latimer (Stevenage) Plot K LLP* United Kingdom United Kingdom 50 Develop
Mace Develop Latimer Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 50 Develop
MPD Trinity LLP* United Kingdem United Kingdem 33 Develop
The Botley Development Company Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdam 50 Develop
West Way Academic Residential 1 Limited* United Kingdam United Kingdom 50 Develop
West Way Academic Rasidential 2 Limited* Unitad Kingdom United Kingdom 50 Develop
Westway Estate Management Limited* United Kingdam United Kingdom 50 Develop
Construct
Company Country of Tax Residency Voting Nature of business
registration/ rights
incorporation
New Burlingten Develapments Limited United Kingdom United Kingdom 50 Construct
Consult
Company Country of Tax Residency Voting Nature of business
registration/ rights
incorporation
Mace Engenharia E Servicos Ltda Angola Angota 47 Consult
MMQSMace Consultancy (Pty) Limited South Africa South Africa 49 Consult
MMQS Mace {Pty) Limited Scuth Africa South Africa 48 Consult
CLM Delivery Partner Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 25 Cansult
MWUJV Limited United Kingdom United Kingdom 80 Consuit
After the year end the fallawing arrangement has been entered into:
Company Country of Tax Residency Voting Nature of business
registration/ rights
incorporation
Mace - Jacobs Consortium Greece Greece 50 Consult
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33. List of joint ventures, joint operations and associate undertakings

The following is a list of other joint arrangements that the Group participate.

Consult

Unincorporated joint arrangement

Participation share

Nature of arrangement

a0y
HS2 Euston 50% Consult
DOubai Expa 2020 45% Consult
Paragon 50% Consult
Schiphol Airport (Pier Airside) 55% Consult
TEL Integrator 50% Consult
Highways England PDP 33% Consult
0,
Peru G2G 45% Consult
Northem Estate (Programme, Project and Cost 50%
Management Services to the Corporate Officers of the Coansult
House of Commans and the House of Lords)
n . 0,
Bicentenary Education G2G 50% Cansult
HS2 Curzon Street 50% Consutt
Hellinikon 50% Consult
Ontario Go Expansion 33% Consult

Canstruct

Unincorporated joint arrangement

Participation share

Nature of arrangement

Sumner Street — Landsec

50%

Construct

* Companies are registered at head office address in the UK: 155 Mocrgate, Landan, EG2M 6XB
** The legal ownership of this entity is 5%

Rk

*kxx

The legal ownership of this entity is 70%
Clave Investments Holdings Limited is an indirect investment of the Company. |t is a direct investment of the Mace Finance Limited Employee

Benefit Trust.
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34. List of subsidiary undertakings.

The following is a list of the direct and indirect subsidiary entities of the Group.

Develop
Gountry of registration/ Tax Residency Voting Nature of business
Company incorporation rights
Bethnal Green Regeneration Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 51 Develop
Graduation Student Living Limited* United Kingdam United Kingdom 100 Develop
Greenwich Square Commercial Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Develop
Greenwich Square Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Develop
Mace Develop Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Develop
Mace Developments (Greenwich) Limited” United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Develop
Mace Develepments (Stevenage) Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Develop
Mace Developments Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Develop
Mace Estate Solutions Limited” United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Develap
Construct
Country of registration/ Tax Residency Voting Nature of business
Company incorporation rights
Mace Intemational Construction {Belgium) BY Belgium Belgium 100 Canstruct
Avenue Marnix 23, fifth floor
1000 Brussels
Belgium
Mace Technology Denmark ApS Denmark Denmark 100 Construct
Harbour House
Sundkrogsgade 21
2100 Copenhagen
Denmark
Mace Technology (Ireland) Limited Ireland Ireland 100 Construct
Sth Floor, Beaux Lane House
Lower Mercer Street
Cublin 2, Ireland
Mace Management Services B.V. Nethedands Netherands 100 Construct
Zuidplein 116
Tower H, Level 14, 1077XV
Amsterdam
Netherands
Come Construction Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Dermant
Come Graup Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Holding company
Como Homes Limited* United Kingdem United Kingdam 100 Dormant
Mace Business Schoel Limited* (clesed 15.02.2022) United Kingdom United Kingdam 100 Canstruct
Mace Construct Limited* United Kingdem United Kingdom 100 Construct
Mace Construct Specialist Services Limited United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Construct
Mace Construction {International) Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Construct
Mace Facades Limited” United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Construct
Mace Interiors Graup Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Construct
Mace Living Limiteg* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Construct
Mace MEP Services Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Construct
Mace Plus Academies Limited” United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Construct
Mace Plus Group Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdem 100 Construct
Mace Plus Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Canstruct
Mace Tech Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Construct

* Companies are registered at head office address in the UK: 155 Moorgate, London, EC2M 6XB

** The legal ownership of this entity is 65%
*** The legal ownership of this entity is 70%

**** Clove Investments Holdings Limited is an indirect investment of the Company. It is a direct investment of the Mace Finance Limited Employee

Henefit Trust.
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34. List of subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Consult

Company

Country of registration/
incorporation

Tax Residency

T Vating
rights

Nature of business

Mace Australia Proprietary Limited
514 02' Level 14, 68 Pitt Street,
Sydney NSwW 2000

Australia

Australia

Australia

100

Consult and Qperate

Mace Consultancy {Canada) Limited
cfo ARC Information Services Inc
3-84 Castlebury Crescent

Toronto, Ontario M2H 1W8

Canada

Canada

Canada

Consult

Mace Zagreb d.o.c.
Petrinjska 42 a
Zagreb 10000
Croatia

Croatia

Croatia

100

Consult

Callomin Property Solutions Limited
59-61 Acropalis Avenue

3 floor, Flat 301

Nicosia 2012

Cyprus

Cyprus

Cyprus

100

Consult

Mace Holdings Limited
58-61 Acropalis Avenue
3 flaor, Flat 301
Nicosia 2012

Cyprus

Cyprus

Cyprus

100

Consult - Holding company

Mace Intemational Limited
59-61 Acropolis Avenue
Sawvides Court 3™ flaor
Nicosia 2012

Cyprus

Cyprus

Dubai

100

Consult

Mace Eqgypt for Project Management L.L.C.
10 Al-Obour Buildings

Salah Salem Road

10" Floor, Apartment 1

Cairo

Egypt

Egypt

Egypt

100

Consult

Mace Projets Sarl

27 Piace de la Madeleine
75008 Paris

France

France

France

100

Consult

Mace GmbH
Hamburger Allee 45
60486 Frankfurt

Germany

Germany

Gemany

100

Consult

Mace Management Service Limited
Kwakkranya Street

Accra 1359

Ghana

Ghana

Ghana

100

Consult

Mace Limited

Room 24, Unit B, 6/F
HungMou Industrial Building
62 Hung To Road

Kwun Tang

Hong Kong

Hang Kang

Hong Kang

100

Caonsult and Operate

Tencore Limited

Unit 507, 5/F Chinachem Plaza
77 Mody Road

Tsim Sha Tsui East

Hong Kong

Hong Keng

Hang Kang

]730

Consult

Tenman (HK) Limited

Unit 507, 5/F Chinachem Plaza
77 Mody Road

Tsim Sha Tsui East

Hong Kang

Hong Kong

Hong Kang

&0

Consult

Mace Praoject & Cost Management Private Limited
01A171 & 01A172 Platina Tower, MG Road

Near Sikandarpur Metre Station, Sector 28
Gurgaaon

Haryana

122002

India

India

India

100

Caonsult

Mace Consultancy {Ireland) Limited
Sth Floar

Beaux Lane House

Lower Mercer Street

Dublin

Ireland

Ireland

Ireland

100

Censult
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34, List of subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Consult

Company

Country of registration/
incorporation

Tax Residency

Voting
rights

Nature of businass

Mace Consultancy {Jersey) Limited
44 Esplanade, St Helier
Jersey JE4 QWG

Jersey

Jersey

100

Consuit

Mace Management Services LLP
78, Baitursynuly Street
Apartment 38, Almalinskiy District
050022 Almaty

Kazakhstan

Kazakhstan

Kazakhstan

100

Dormant

Mace Management Services Limited

The Westwood, gth Floor

Vale Close off Ring Road Westlands Nairobi
Kenya

Kenya

Kenya

100

Consult

Mace YMR Limited Liability Partnership
4th Floor, East Wing

Lion Place, Nairoki

Kenya

Kenya

Kenya

81

Consult

Mace timitada

Alameda Dr. Caros d'Assumpcao, no. 263 ,China Civil
Plaza

6o. andarM e N

Macau

Macau

Macau

100

Consult

MaceYMR Ltd

clo Mateo Limited, 11th floar, Tower 1
Nexteracom Building

Ebene Cybercity

Mauritius

Mauritius

Mauritius

61

Consult

Mace Management Services, SARL
106, Rue Abderrahman Sehraoui
Casabtanca, 20070

Morocco

Morocco

Morocco

100

Consult

Utremace B.V.

Zuidplein 118, Tower H, Level 14
1077XV Amsterdam

Netherdands

Netherlands

Netherlands

Demant

Mace Management Services Limited
24B Amodu Tijani Close, Victeria Island,
Lagos State, Nigeria

Nigeria

Nigeria

100

Consult

Mace Intemational LLC **
PO Box 686

Muscat Governatarate
Mutrah, Ruwi

112 Oman

Oman

Oman

65

Consult

Mace Consult Pakistan (Private) Limited
4th Floor, Central Hotel Building

Civil Lines

Mereweather Road

Karachi

Pakistan

Pakistan

Pakistan

100

Consult

Mace Consultaney (Peru) S.AC
Avenue Santo Toribio 143

San [sidro

Lima, Peru

Peru

Peru

100

Consult

Tenman Project Management Inc

Rooms 805-808, 8" Floor The One Executive QOffice
Building

5 West Avenue

Brgy Nayeng Kanluran

Quuezon City

Philippines

Philippines

Philippines

40

Cansult

Mace Polska Spolka zao
Al Jana Pawla [l 29
Q0-867 Warszawa
Poland

Paland

Paland

100

Cansult

Mace — Consultoria e Gestao de Projectos e
Construcao, Lda

Rua Nova Stelia Ne 7

2760 — 087, Caxias

Portugal

Paortugal

Portugal

100

Consult

Mace Management Services Limited
Umujyi wa Kigali

Gasabo, Kacyird

Rwanda

Rwanda

Rwanda

100

Consult

Mace Arabia for Engineering Consultancy LLC
The Business Gate, Unit A, Second Floor
Zone C, Building 4

0 Box 12185

Riyadh, 11473

Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabia

Consult
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34. List of subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Consult

Lompany

Country of registration/
incorporation

Tax Residency

Voting
rights

Nature of business

Mace Holdings Lirmited

Al Mousa Centre, Tawer 4
Unit 435, Olaya Street

PO Box 9817, Riyadh
12241

Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabia

85

Consult

Mace Asia Cansultancy Pte Ltd
80 Rabinson Roacd
Nao. 42-00
Singapore
068898

Singapore

Singapare

100

Consult

Mace Project Solutions (Pty) Limited
Bryanston Place Office Park

15t Floor Southview Building

194 Bryanston Drive

Bryanston

Gauteng 2120

South Africa

South Adrica

South Africa

48

Consult

Mace Management Services (Pty) Limited
Floor 2 Building 1 Waverey Office Park
15 Forest Road, Bramiey

Johannesburg

Gauteng 219%

South Africa

Sauth Africa

Sauth Africa

100

Consult

Mace Management Services S A
Pasea de fa Castellana

135 Edificio Cuzco It

Planta 3, 28046

Madrid

Spain

Spain

Spain

100

Consult

Management and Excellence Caonsultancy {(Qatar)
Limited

2nd Floar, Office 204

Building 63, Al Matar Street 310

Zone 27, Doha

Qatar

State of Qatar

State of Qatar

100

Consult

Mace GmbH

c/a Urs Schneebeli
Scheideggstrasse 119
8038

Zurich, Switzerand

Switzerland

Switzerdand

100

Consult

Mace Management Services AG
clo OBT AG

Steinengraben 42, 4051, Basel
Switzedand

Switzerfand

I
Switzerland

100

Consult

Mace Syria LLC
No registered office

Syria

Syria

100

Darmant

Mace Construction Management and Consultancy
Services Limited

Macgka Cad.Tuncer Building, No'29 D.13

Magka, Sigli

Istanbul, Turkey

Turkey

Turkey

100

Consult

YMR Parinership Uganda

Plot 24b Akibua Road, Nakasero
Erigson Building 3rd Floor
Kampala

Uganda

Uganda

Uganda

51

Consult

Mace {(New Zealand) Limited*

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

LConsuit

Mace (Russia) Limited*”

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

Consult

Mace (Slovakia) Limited*

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Consult

Mace Angola Special Projects Limited™

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

l 100

Consult

Mace Consult Limited*”

United Kingdom

United Kingdom 100

Consult

Mace Consultancy (Asia Pacific) Limited*

United Kirgdom

Unitedt Kingdom

100

Consuit

Mace Consultancy {Europe) Limitad*

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

160

Consult

Mace Consultancy (MENA) Limited*

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Consult
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34. List of subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Consult
Company Country of registration/ Tax Residency Voting Nature of business
incorporation rights
Mace Consultancy {Netherdands) Limited* United Kingdem United Kingdom 100 Consult
Mace Consultancy {Peru} Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Coensult
Mace Consultancy {Sub-Saharan Africa) Limited United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Consult
Mace Consultancy {The Americas) Limited® United Kingdam United Kingdom 100 Consult
Mace Cost Consultancy Limited® United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Consult
Mace Intematicnal (UK) Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdem 100 Consult
Mace Intemational Qverseas Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Consult
Mace Projects {(South Africa) Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Consult
Mace Sustain Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Dormant
Msecure Limited* United Kingdom Uinited Kingdom 100 Consuit
Mace North America Limited USA USA 100 Consult
3500 Lenox Road
Suite 1500
Atlanta GA 30326
United States of America
Mace Vietnam Company Limited Vietnam Vietnam 100 Consult
Floor 13, BIDV Tower, No. 184,
Tran Quang Khai Street
Ly Thai Te Ward
Hanoi City
Vietnam
Group services
Company Country of registration/ Tax Residency Voting Nature of husiness
incorporation rights
Clove Holdings Investments Limited**** Gibrattar Gibraltar N/A Holding company, of
employee benefit trust
Mace Group [.C.5 Limited Iretand Ireland 100 Domant
5th Floor
Beaux Lane House
Lower Mercer Street
Dubiin 2
Ireland
City Fringe Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Holding company
Frontier Finance Plc* {in liquidation) United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Public limited company
Mace Graup Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Construct, Consult and
Develep
Mace Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Construct, Consult and
Develop
Mace Living Solutions Limited United Kingdem United Kingdom 100 Living Solutions
Operate
Company Country of registration/ Tax Residency Voting Nature of business
incorporation rights
Mace Macro Brazil Consultoria Em Projetos E Brazil Brazil 100 Operate
Construcao Ltda
Alameda Santas 200, Conjunte 82, Sac Paulo,
01418-00, Brazil
Mace Macro Chile Spa Chile Chile 100 Operate
Padre Mariane No 272
Office 602
Providencia
Santiago
Chile
Mace (China) Limited China China 100 Cperate
Raom CO04, 17/F
2650 North Zhangshan Road
Putuo District
Shanghai
China
Mace Macro International Limited Cyprus Dubai 100 Operate
58-61 Acropaelis Avenue
3" ficor, Flat 301
Nicosia 2012
Cyprus
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Operate

Company

Country of registration/
incorporation

Tax Residency

Voting
rights

Nature of business

Mace Macro India (FM Selutians) Private Limited
18" Floor, Building 9, Tower A

Regus Pride Business Centres Private Limited
DLF Cybercity, Phase 3

Gurgacn, Haryana

122002 India

India

India

100

Operate

Mace Macro (Ireland) Limited
Joyce House

22/23 Holles Street

Dublin 2

Ireland

Ireland

ireland

100

Operate

Mace Macro International Investments Limited —
Jardan

720 Level 7

Waha Ammoun Building

Gardens Street, Amman, 45662

Jordan

Jordan

Jordan

100

Operate

Mace Macro Luxembourg S.arl.
45 rue des Scillas

L — 2529 Howald

Luxembourg

Luxembourg

Luxembourg

100

Operate

Mace Macro International Limited LLC ***
Office 201, 2™ Floor

Maktabi 1, Al Khuwair

PG Box 1119

Muscat , 111

Oman

Oman

Oman

70

Qperate

Mace Macro Pakistan (Pvt) Limited
4th Floor, Central Hatel Building
Civil Lines

Mereweather Road

Karachi

Pakistan

Pakistan

Pakistan

Qperate

Mace Macro Saudi Arabia Limited
P.0. Box 14048 Jeddah Kingdom Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabia

S0

QOperate

Macro Saudi Arabia Limited

PC Bex 1001, Amir Suitan Street
Jeddah 21424,

KSA

Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabia

75

Dormant

Macro Qatar LLC

Office No.3, 3rd Floor, Building No. 7
Al Hitmi Village

C Ring Road

Doha, P.O.BOX 31237

Qatar

State of Qatar

State of Qatar

49

Operate

Mace Macro International Investments Limited
Bin Shabib & Associates (BSA) LLC

DIFC Building 3, 6th flcor

P.O. Box 262, Dubai

United Arab Emirates

UAE

UAE

100

QOperate

Mace Macro Technical Services LLC
Warehouse 4, Plat 365-153

Al Qouz

Dubai

United Arab Emirates (sold 15 August 2022)

LUAE

UAE

100

Operate

FiA24 Limited*

United Kingdom

United Kingdam

100

Operate

Mace (Poland) Limited*

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Qperate

Mace Macro {Asia Pacific) Limited*

United Kingdom

United Kingdam

100

Operate

Mace Macro (The Americas) Limited™

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Operate

Mace Macro Africa Limitad*

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Operate

Mace Macro Eurape Limited”

United Kingdom

United Kingdem

100

Qperate

Mace Macro Limited®

United Kingdom

United Kingdorn

100

Operate

Mace Operate (MENA) Limited*

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Cperate

Mace Operate Limited*

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Qperate
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34. List of subsidiary undertakings {continued}

* Companles are registered at head otfice address in the UK: 155 Moorgate, London, EC2M 6XB
** The legal ownership of this entity is 65%
*** The legal ownership of this entity is 70%

W Clove Investments Holdings Limited is an indirect investment of the Company. It is a direct investment of the Mace Finance Limited Employee
Benefit Trust.

The Company has guaranteed the liabilities of the following subsidiaries exempt fram audit under section 479A of the
Companies Act 2006. The company names and registered numbers (CRN) are below:

Mace Group Limited
{CRN: 42287086 )

87



